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Message from the Chairman

The government’s policies emphasize strengthening the economy at the grassroots
level by increasing rural people’s access to financial services and encouraging people in
every community to add more value to local products. There has been good response and
rural people are experiencing increased incomes and decreased costs. The situation is
improving.

In 2003, the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives (BAAC) emphasized
additional services, going beyond loans, which is also a principal policy of the government.
BAAC has been improved its management and operational efficiency, providing the
necessary support for rural society to develop steadily and sustainability.

By embracing its new role as a rural development bank in particular, BAAC has
helped farmers in the government’s Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-
Scale Farmers Project to change their lifestyles - while at the same time discouraged them
from spending money on unhealthy vices. BAAC has also encouraged rural people to
expand their technical knowledge of their normal occupations and to further develop the
potential of their local area. Another important contribution of BAAC was its participation
in reducing the suffering of farmers caused by the natural disasters. At the end of 2003,
Thailand faced an outbreak of avian influenza and many people who had poultry farms or
related business were severely effected. BAAC together with other institutions, played a
major role in alleviating the problems.

Another important policy of the government has been to solve the problems of the
poor and the problems of poor people’s debt. This has been taken up as one of the important
missions of BAAC and the bank has shown its readiness to cooperate with others to support
the policy and to achieve its objectives rapidly.

In order to further improve the efficiency of its operations in 2004, BAAC has plans
ready to support its new mission as a rural development bank and to respond to its clients
through a revised BAAC Act. BAAC has improved many of its services: savings, credit and
others. For saving services, BAAC has created many saving promotions to give higher
returns to the clients’ savings. For credit services, BAAC in corporation with the Assets
Capitalization Bureau created the Assets Capitalization Project to achieve the Bureau’s
goals. As for other services, BAAC has further expanded its networks among rural people.
Moreover, BAAC has improved its technology, developing a new Core Banking System in
order to serve the clients more quickly. BAAC also developed staff competency increasing
skills and encouraging their quick and imaginative responses client need.

BAAC operations in 2003 have been satisfactory and everyone who got services from
BAAC was satisfied. I would like to thank the clients, the Board of Directors and the
shareholders for their ongoing support. Moreover, I thank BAAC management and staff for
their sincere effort to achieve the bank’s missions and to help solve the country’s problems.

(Mr. Varathep Ratanakorn)
Chairman.
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Message from the President

The year 2003 was the 37th anniversary of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural
Cooperatives (BAAC) in providing financial services to rural people. It also marked the end of
the Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project, one of the
government’s urgent policies since 2001.

As a part of the Government’s policy to use state enterprise financial institutions to
promote development, the vision of BAAC’s role in Thailand’s rural economy is changing. In
2003 BAAC assisted farmers in the Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-
Scale Farmers Project to develop their farms and to improve their income and savings. In a new
approach to its service delivery “More than just loans,” BAAC supported rural people to get
improved knowledge, to create their own networks and to work together in groups in order to
strengthen their groups either in the forms of microfinance intermediaries or community
enterprises. BAAC programs helped farmers decrease production costs and create connections
that linked production and marketing processes. This helped clients get more income from which
they could better pay their debts. Moreover, BAAC has had to plan their services according to
the needs of the local community. These participatory approaches required the bank to develop
new staff skills designed to respond to government policies and clients’ needs and, at the same
time, to increase BAAC’s effectiveness and efficiency.

Using these policies and processes, BAAC has emphasized helping farmers in the Debt
Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project by integrating bank
support with other local government and non-government organizations. The Taweesin Savings
Certificate Project and related campaigns were used to promote rural savings. Learning stages
were created to get people participating in community master plan exercises to strengthen the
local economy. BAAC in cooperation with the government and private sector also assisted
farmers with marketing. With this assistance, they were able to sell their produce both
domestically and overseas, for example, by exporting fruit to China thus improving their income.
In addition, BAAC created the Taweemitr Project to allow rural people to pay their bills easily
and conveniently using BAAC’s network which extends all over Thailand.

To implement these projects, BAAC has had to emphasize business strategies to improve
risk management and has set up the Risk Management Office to this end. The bank’s internal
audit system has also seen changes to improve efficiency and BAAC’s new Core Banking
System has speeded up client service. Improved staff competency has been a focus through new
courses like “Service Culture Plus” and “Competency Plus” for branch staff.

BAAC’s success depends on its ability to support rural people to increase their quality of
life and provide its clients with satisfactory services. The growth of the organization and
improved staff satisfaction are evidence of this success. In 2003, BAAC owes much of its
achievements to its Board of Directors, the Ministry of Finance and related government
departments such as the Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, the Ministry of Commerce
and the Ministry of Public Health together with the efforts of the private sector, NGOs, clients
and the general public. Behind all this, BAAC staff have worked hard and put their full effort
into their individual jobs. On this occasion, I would like to thank all those mentioned and wish

them continued happiness and growth.

(M. Pittayapol Nattaradol)
President
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Organizational Structure as at March 31, 2004

Chamnien Saranaga Institute of Agricultural
and Rural Development

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

PRESIDENT

Office of Inspector

POLICY AND PLANNING GROUP

POLICY AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

1. PROGRAM AND BUDGET DIVISION
2. MONITORING AND EVALUATION DIVISION
3. PUBLIC RELATIONS DIVISION

4. TECHNICAL SERVICE DIVISION

5. SECRETARIAT DIVISION

INTERNAL AUDIT GROUP
AUDIT AND INSPECTION DEPARTMENT

1. AUDIT AND INSPECTION DIVISION 1

2. AUDIT AND INSPECTION DIVISION 2

3. AUDIT AND INSPECTION DIVISION 3

4. AUDIT AND INSPECTION DIVISION 4

5. SYSTEM EVALUATION AND AUDIT PLANNING DIVISION
6. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AUDIT DIVISION

CUSTOMERS DEVELOPMENT AND FINANCIAL AND
BANKING SERVICES MANAGEMENT GROUP

BANKING DEPARTMENT TREASURY DEPARTMENT

1. BANKING DIVISION . FUND MANAGEMENT DIVISION
2. CASH OPERATION DIVISION FINANCIAL BUSINESS DIVISION
3. SAVINGS PROMOTION DIVISION 3. OFFICE OF RISK MANAGEMENT
4. OFFICE OF ISLAMIC BANK FUND

o -

GOVERNMENT SECURED LOAN LOAN DEPARTMENT

DEPARTMENT
1. GOVERNMENT SECURED LOAN 1. LOAN DIVISION 1 5. CREDIT
DIVISION 2. LOAN DIVISION 2 ADMINISTRATION
2. OFFICE OF LAND FUND 3. LOAN DIVISION 3 GROUP
3. OFFICE OF NATIONAL 4. LOAN DIVISION 4 6. SOCIAL SUPPORT
AGRICULTURAL CREDIT PROJECT

ADMINISTRATION BOARD
MARKETING PROMOTION
DEPARTMENT

MARKETING SUPPORT DIVISION
. FARMER INSTITUTION
PROMOTION DIVISION

LOAN QUALITY DEVELOPMENT
DEPARTMENT

. LOAN QUALITY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
OFFICE OF PRIVATE DEBT
ADMINISTRATION

. LEGAL AFFAIRS DIVISION

[
2

w

BRANCH ADMINISTRATION GROUP

Do W o —

BRANCH ADMINISTRATION GROUP

. BRANCH ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 1
. BRANCH ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 2
. BRANCH ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 3
. BRANCH ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 4
. BRANCH GENERAL ADMINISTRATION

DIVISION

SUPPORTING
GENERAL ADMINISTRATION
DEPARTMENT
B 1. GENERAL AFFAIRS DIVISION 1
OFFICE 2. PREMISES MANAGEMENT DIVISION 2.
3. GENERAL SERVICES DIVISION 3
O BRANCH

LEARNING PROMOTION
DEPARTMENT

OBJECTIVES DIVISION

[}

PATH DIVISION
. LEARNING ENHANCEMENT GROUP

w

. LEARNING PROMOTION FOR BUSINESS i,

. LEARNING PROMOTION FOR CAREER 2.

g B9

GROUP

HUMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

. HUMAN RESOURCE PLANNING DIVISION

PERSONNEL DIVISION

. WELFARE AND LABOUR RELATIONS

DIVISION

ACCOUNTING DEPARTMENT

SPECIAL AND ASSET ACCOUNTING
DIVISION

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING DIVISION
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING DIVISION
ACCOUNTING SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
GROUP

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT

COMPUTER SYSTEM DIVISION

= e B =

INFORMATION SYSTEM DIVISION

NETWORK DIVISION 5.

APPLICATION SOFTWARE DIVISION 6.

SYSTEM ANALYSIS AND
DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
SYSTEM INNOVATION SUPPORT GROUP
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Thai Economy in 2003

The Thai economy expanded 6.70 percent in 2003, up Total production in the agricultural sector grew 3.37
from 5.40 percent in the previous year. The global economic ~ percent last year compared with a 1.30 percent rise in 2002,
recovery, government policy measures to invigorate the using the cost of goods in 1988 as a base price. The increase
grassroots economy, promotion of exports and investment and ~ was due to more favourable climatic conditions for production
the low interest rate environment, which helped boost and the government’s efforts to encourage one-stop
expenditure and investment in the private sector, were all development of the agricultural sector to boost efficiency and

factors behind the increased growth in the economy. As well, ~ the quality of the output. This policy supports the

during the year, the prices of agricultural goods, farmers’ government’s plans to develop Thailand as “ the Kitchen of

income and industrial output all increased, indicating that the  the World.” Production in the industrial sector registered

whole picture of economic expansion in 2003 continued to be  growth of 10.30 percent in 2003, up from a rise of 6.80

underpinned by domestic demand. percent in 2002. The higher growth was in line with increased
domestic demand and exports, with production capacity
averaging 66.20 percent compared with 59.30 percent in the
previous year. Among the industries that posted higher
production were petrochemicals, electrical circuit boards and

ind cold rolled steel.
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In 2003, domestic investment grew 10.20 percent, down
from 19.90 percent in 2002. Specifically, public investment
decreased 9.90 percent as the government moved to sustain
economic stability and prevent a budget deficit while, on the
contrary, private investment grew at the high rate of 19
percent, aided by the low interest rate environment and
competition among financial institutions to grant loans. Also,
helping to boost private sector investment were steps taken by
the government to stimulate the property sector such as the
housing aid program and extending property tax cuts to the
end of 2003.

Private consumption expanded 6.20 percent in 2003,
higher than the increase of 4.70 percent recorded in the
previous year. A measure which increased minimum income
through income tax exemptions, higher prices for main crops,
para rubber and rice, as well as the low interest rate
environment and low inflation were all factors behind the
higher level.

The value of exports in baht terms climbed 14.40
percent in 2003 compared with an increase of 5.80 percent last
year. The increase was due to higher prices for agricultural
goods, para rubber, rice, cassava, shrimp and chickens and
government measures taken to support exports which included
promoting trade in emerging markets and reducing trade
obstacles by setting up frameworks for bilateral free trade area
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agreements.

The value of imports in baht terms grew as well in 2003,
increasing 13.40 percent compared with a 4.60 percent gain in
2002. The increase was in line with growth in domestic
demand and the hike in oil prices in the global market. Of
note, imported goods with increasing value were accessories
for motor cars.

In 2003, Thailand’s trade balance and current account
balance, was in a surplus of US$ 4.5 billion, wider than the
US$ 3.4 billion surplus recorded in 2002, due to the higher
growth in exports combined with a surplus in services and
increased revenues and money transfers. The current account
surplus widened to US$ 8.3 billion in 2003 from USS$ 7.6
billion in 2002 even though the government paid off its debt
owed to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in the middle
of the year.

Short term interest rates trended lower throughout 2003,
guided by the high amount of liquidity in the market and a
half of a percent cut in the 14-day repurchase rate at the end of
June to 1.25 percent per annum. The cut was made to maintain
a balance between market rates and market conditions.

Inflation rose by one and a half percent in 2003 to two
percent, led by higher domestic food and beverage prices and
the hike in global oil prices.
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Thai Agriculture in 2003

In 2003, total output of the Thai agriculture sector, using
the cost of goods in 1988 as a base price, grew 3.37 percent
from 2002. The expansion occurred despite several negative
effects, including the problem of chemical residue in chickens
and shrimp, various forms of non-tariff trade barriers imposed
by trade partners, a hike in oil prices, production factors and
the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) outbreak.
Looking at the sector as a whole, prices were generally higher

for major agricultural products, the climatic conditions during
the year were favourable for production and the one-stop
production and marketing programs were supported by several
governmental measures. These factors combined resulted in
high levels of production efficiency and competitiveness,
helping to propel higher growth in the agrlcultural sector over
the previous year.
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Production Sector

Crops grew in value by 3.52 percent from 2002. This
was due to higher prices, which prompted farmers to expand
production, coupled with favourable weather conditions for
production. Nevertheless, some areas of the country were hit
by floods, which damaged some agricultural goods.

Livestock output grew by 3.26 percent mainly due to
the expansion of chicken rearing in response to increased
demand from abroad after imports were cut from China due to
the SARS outbreak. However, the avian influenza epidemic,
which occurred last year and affected the whole country,
forced the government to cull a massive amount of chickens.
But as a whole, it had only a limited effect on the full year
production results.

Fishery output expanded by 2.65 percent, with more
shrimp farmers switching their production from black tiger
prawns to whiteleg shrimp after the producers of the former
encountered many problems including epidemic diseases, high
production costs and chemical residue. The change in
production led to an increase in the output for the sector as a
whole.

Forestry output decreased by 2.67 percent due to
government measures aimed at maintaining forest areas and a
reduced amount of wood production. The output fell in spite
of steps taken to promote forest planting.

Agricultural Services output grew by 0.04 percent in
line with the higher output rate for the agricultural sector as a

whole.

Simple Agricultural Processed Products grew in value
by 3.64 percent, helped by government measures and a policy
to support the making of value-added agricultural products.
Examples of some of the government programs are One
Tambon (Sub - district) One Product, Village Fund Support
and Promotion of Innovation produced from Local Wisdom.

Export Sector

Exports of most of Thailand’s agricultural products
increased both in volume and value in US dollar and Thai baht
terms. The export value in US dollar terms climbed 24.49
percent. This was due to several factors of which one was that
the quality of export commodities was standardized and
developed to suit hygienic needs in order to meet the
requirements of the international market. Also, helping to
boost exports was the fact that some rival countries were hit
by such events as a natural catastrophe or an epidemic.

Agricultural Commodity Prices

In general, the prices of products sold by farmers were
higher in 2003 compared with the previous year. Higher prices
were seen for all kinds of rice, livestock-feed maize, para
rubber, oil palm, soybean, garlic, rambutan and broilers while
prices of cassava, sugarcane, durians, logan, pigs and black
tiger prawns fell.
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Trends in Thai Economy in 2004

The IMF expects the global economy to grow 4.10 stage for its economy to grow 4.60 percent compared with
percent in 2004, up from the 3.20 percent increase recorded in ~ 3.10 percent in 2003. As for other key trading partners of
2003. Regarding developed countries, the United States is Thailand, the European Union is expected to grow two
expected to show gains on the back of the government’s percent, Japan 2.50 percent and China eight percent. All in all,
policy to stimulate domestic demand. Furthermore, the global economy and trading climate is projected to
investment in the private sector in the US has expanded and improve in 2004.
the current account deficit is expected to narrow, setting the
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The Office of National Economic and Social
Development Board (NESDB) projects that the Thai economy
will expand 6 - 7 percent in 2004 based on the upbeat
assessment for the global economy. In particular, it is likely to
be supported by its key trading partner, the US, which is
projected to experience growth in the private sector and
investment despite external risks of terrorism and higher oil
prices. Thailand’s trade with the US could be hurt from
charges that Thai shrimp has been dumped in the US, a
precursor to higher import duties. The Thai economy could be
hurt by internal risks including an outbreak of avian influenza
and violence in the three southernmost provinces.

Private sector investment and consumption is expected
to continue to move higher in 2004. Private investment is
expected to grow 19 percent, the same level recorded in 2003
while private consumption is projected to grow six percent,
down slightly from 6.20 percent reported in 2003. This is
more a reflection of economic stability.

As for trade in 2004, the value of exports in US dollar
terms is projected to expand 15 percent; up from growth of
14.40 percent in 2003 while the volume of exports is likely to
grow slightly. Meanwhile, the value of imports in US dollar
terms is expected to expand 18 percent, compared to a 13.40
percent rise in 2003. This is in line with expectations of better
economic conditions which in turn results in increased
imports of raw materials and commodities to support the
€conomic expansion.

The inflation rate is expected to be 2.20 percent in 2004
compared with inflation of two percent in 2003. The increase
is due to the higher costs of goods needed to support the
expanding economy, higher costs for raw materials and
increased wages and salaries.

The NESDB conducted a study on the avian influenza
outbreak and found that it would likely cut into economic
growth by 0.39 percent, hurt exports by 0.29 percent and
tourism by 0.08 percent. In spite of this expected minimal
effect on the economy, it is still an important issue and help
should be given to all participants in the industry that were
affected by the outbreak from the chicken farmers to the
operators of retail food stands.

In 2003, BAAC provided credit services to the
agricultural sector amounting to 48.85 percent of all loans to
the agricultural and rural sector. These credits were provided
by the commercial banking system, Government Savings
Bank, and BAAC. The BAAC extended loans to individual
raisers of poultry that amounted to 1.70 percent of the credit
for production. The effects of the avian influenza outbreak are
expected to result in a reduction in the amount of loans
disbursed to chicken raisers in 2004 by 0.50 percent.
However, this reduction should have no effect on the amount
of credit services extended by BAAC as a whole during the
year. The bank plans to provide credit services to more groups
of local people in 2004 in conjunction with its policy to assist
people with indebtedness problems.
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Trends in Thai Agriculture in 2004

Agricultural production is expected to grow higher in
2004 compared with the previous year. The value of the
output will grow by 4.17 percent, aided by higher agricultural
prices in 2003, which prompted farmers to expand production
and become more efficient. Furthermore, the government is
keen to support the agricultural sector by providing
production support, technology and information. The

government also has set specific strategies to improve
competitiveness and food hygiene as part of its goal to
develop Thailand’s image as “the Kitchen of the World.” In
addition, the state is working on developing infrastructure to
create value added in agricultural products. As a result,
production in every area of the agricultural sector except
forestry will expand.
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Exports are likely to increase in 2004 in line with
improved economic conditions globally. As well, the
government is undertaking an aggressive policy to promote
Thai exports to both developed and emerging markets by
negotiating for free trade zones at the bilateral level. It has set
a target for the export value of farm goods, food and
processed food to reach THB 837 billion.

Prices of commodities sold by farmers will rise in 2004
due to a global supply shortage following unfavourable
weather conditions in many countries. Specifically, the prices
of crops and livestock which are expected to rise include all
kinds of rice, para rubber, oil palm, coffee, broilers, pigs, and
black tiger prawns while the prices of cassava, sugarcane,
livestock-feed maize, and dairy cows are projected to fall.
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Highlights of the Year

In fiscal year (FY) 2003 (1 April 2003 - 31 March
2004), BAAC carried out its business activities to comply
with the government policies that stressed strengthening
economic development at the grassroots level. The bank
adjusted its role to be a financial institution for rural
development by stressing “its mission for rural development
to be more than just providing credit services” and it
increased the caliber and worked to make the management
and administration of the organization for efficient. Highlights
for BAAC’s operations for the FY 2003 are summarized as
follows:

1. Credit Operations under Government Policies

1.1 Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction
for Small-Scale Farmers Project

The cabinet at meetings held on 13 March, 20 March
and 1 May 2001, approved in principle the Debt Suspension
and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project,
which is in line with government policy and was to be handled
by BAAC. The project aimed to urgently solve debt problems
of farmers along with laying out a rehabilitation system and
aiding the one-stop production for a three-year period. The
farmers were supported in their efforts to improve production
efficiency in order to increase their income and be in a
position to pa.yhl‘)gcktﬁ_ir debts a project.
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BAAC implemented the project for three years, which
began on 1 April 2001 and ended on 31 March 2004. Results
and an assessment of the operations are as follows:

1.1.1 Operation Results of the Project as at the
Fiscal Year Ended 2003

1) There were 1,944,029 farmers still participating in
the project or 84.16 percent out of the 2,309,966 farmers who
had enrolled in it. The loans outstanding stood at THB 75.476
billion. Of the participants, 878,555 farmers chose the debt
suspension option, with loans outstanding totalling THB
41.006 billion and 1,065,474 farmers selected the debt burden
reduction option with loans outstanding worth THB 34.470
billion.

2) Operations to rehabilitate and develop farmers under
the debt suspension option

(1) The Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
transferred technologies to 901,117 farmers and rehabilitated
the livelihoods of 443,393 farmers. Each farmer received
THB 3,000 from the rehabilitated budget for the purchase of
production materials.

(2) BAAC conducted training courses and study
tours to rehabilitate and develop 658,415 farmers involved in
the debt suspension option with an aim to help them lower
expenses, increase income and become self-dependent.

(3) Farmers’ savings with BAAC amounted to THB
14.749 billion. Of that amount, THB 5.047 billion was from
farms under the debt suspension option and THB 9.702 billion
was from farmers under the debt burden reduction option.

1.1.2° Project Assessment

1) The National Statistical Office and the National
Economic and Social Development Board completed an
assessment of the project’s operational results and projected
that 87.60 and 90 percent of participant farmers will be able to
repay their loans, respectively.

2) BAAC employed the Consultant and Research
Institution of Thammasart University to assess the third and
final year (FY 2003) operational results of the project by using
the indices to measure the success of the farmers after their
enrolment in the project. The assessment was done before the
end of the project and some of the data was based on
estimates. A summary of the results is as follows:

(1) Income from production and other work
activities, 47.80 percent of the farmers thought that their
income under the present circumstances was better than it was
before they enrolled in the project, while another 34.70
percent thought the amount of their income from off-farm
activities increased.
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(2) Savings, 46.30 percent of the farmers said their
savings had increased, while another 41.90 percent said the
amount of their savings was the same.

(3) Ability to pay debts, the cash flow of farmers’
income was higher than their normal expenses. Their annual
average income level stood at THB 117,528 and average
normal household expenses (special expenses were not
included) was THB 104,224,

(4) At the end of the project, 86.30 percent of
participant farmers estimated that they would make debt
payments as agreed in the loan contract.

(5) Attitude of farmers to the project, in general,
participant farmers were very pleased to most satisfied when
asked their views on the project.

Additionally, of the farmers that had opted for debt

suspension processed by BAAC, as of December 2003, 89.06

percent of the 989,546 farmers who were called on by the
bank thought that they would be able to make their debt
payments.

1.1.3 Offshoot results from the Project Operations

1) Development of educated and capable trainers to
further transfer knowledge to other farmers;

2) Promoting farmers to engage in marketable activities
or grow crops that have market potential;

3) Occupational promotion by integrating farmers’
production processes;
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4) Promotion of farmers for the use of resources,
culture and rural wisdom in the production process;

5) Promotion of farmers of economical and savings
funds;

6) Activities aimed at cutting expenses and boosting
household income increased;

7) Farmers worked collectively after being trained in
various occupation-related courses. Examples are compost
group, biological fertilizer group, multi-purpose chemical
solution group, and crop processing for sale group.

1.2 Village Fund, the Future of the Rural Financial
Institution

This is a revolving fund available to villagers for
investment in job creation, occupational development,
income-generating projects, investment in areas that will
reduce expenses as well as for sudden emergencies. This is a
starting point for strengthening communities under the
government policy that aims to have village funds be used as a
financial institution for community learning. Members of the
community are to be administrators or managers of the village
funds and set for the their own construction and creative ideas,
problem solving plans, social and economic goals, all through
the use of local knowledge.

At the end of FY 2003, the number of village funds
under the responsibility of BAAC was 15,830. Results of
operations were as follows:

1.2.1 A total of 15,666 village funds or 98.96 percent
of the villages under BAAC’s responsibility were registered;

1.2.2 A total of 15,632 village funds, or 98.75 percent
of villages registered with BAAC each received an allotment
of THB one million; worth THB 15.632 billion.

1.2.3 An appropriation of THB 100,000 was
transferred to each of the 4,912 funds, worth THB 491
million;

1.2.4 Extension of credits to 1,882 village funds, worth
THB 888 million;

Khao Kram community, Maung District, Krabi
Province, serves as a model for BAAC with its steps to solve
problems through community involvement. Community
members were actively recruited to participate in the learning
process, starting from dealing with their own individual
problems. One process involved using the practices of the
local people to prepare the “Community Master Plan” for the
setting up of the management and rural development system.
The “Community Bank of Tambon Khao Kram” was the first
activity to be successfully implemented and through it, the
Khao Kram community was able to plan and solve its debt
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problems. The “Community Bank of Tambon Khao Kram” is
now held in high regard for being the first community bank at
the tambon level of Thailand.

The success of the Khao Kram community is a model
for BAAC’s plans to develop village funds as community
financial institutions that actively involve local people in the
administration to help them become self-dependent. To carry
this further, the bank prepared the BAAC Master Plan to
Support Village Fund. The plan’s vision intends to develop
village funds to be the community financial institution and
serve as an important network for BAAC. In FY 2004, BAAC
has set work plans and targets on the following matters:
extending credits to village funds worth THB two billion,
developing 40,000 village funds by a learning promotion
method and increasing the potential of 74 village funds to the
point that they can be upgraded to be community financial
institutions.

1.3 Asset Capitalization Project

The project is an important government policy. Its
objectives are to build economic stability and create
opportunities for people in general and particularly poor
members of society by providing them with a source of funds.
This should result in job creation, increased earnings and spur
the formation of new entrepreneurs. The main principle of the
assets capitalization project is the documenting that each type
of asset must be conditional and negotiable. Providing that
information on each type of asset must be accurate and up-to-
date. The five main assets available for change to capital are
1) land, 2) rent and hire purchase contracts, 3) licenses for use
of public land and other guarantee certificates, 4) intellectual
assets and 5) machines.

On 1 October 2003, BAAC in cooperation with
government agencies involved in the assets capitalization
project wrote up an agreement for the program. At the FY
ended 2003, the bank assisted 1,845 farmers to capitalize their
assets through the extension of credit in a total amount of
THB 156.79 million. Details are as follows:

1.3.1 Capitalized assets based on the agreement in
cooperation with the Agricultural Land Reform Office,

resulted in credits to 1,790 farmers, worth THB 151.43
million.

1.3.2 Capitalized assets based on the agreement in
cooperation with the Cooperatives Promotion Department,
resulted in credits to 20 farmers, worth THB 1.85 million.

1.3.3 Capitalized assets based on the agreement in
cooperation with the Department of Welfare and Social
Development, resulted in credits to 29 farmers, worth THB
3.14 million.
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1.3.4 Capitalized assets based on the agreement in
cooperation with the National Park, Wildlife and Plant
Conservation Department, resulted in credits to six farmers,
worth THB 0.37 million.

1.4 Assistance to Farmers Facing Losses from the
Avian Influenza Epidemic in Poultry

The avian influenza epidemic began in Thailand in
November 2003. Farmers had to cull approximately 33
million poultry (based on data taken by the Department of
Livestock Development on 9 April 2004), to prevent the
disease from spreading. The slaughter caused great economic
losses to many. It also adversely affected other related
industries such as livestock feed producers, maize plantations,
slaughterhouses and restaurants. To alleviate the damages, the
cabinet at meetings held on 27 January and 10 February 2004
approved assistance to afflicted farmers and set the following
guidelines:

1.4.1 Permitted farmers with loans outstanding to
banks to suspend their interest payments and extend the period
of principal repayment for six months. The government will
provide a compensation for a period of six months.

1.4.2 For farmers seeking to upgrade their farms to an
evaporative system from an open one, the government would
arrange for a low-interest rate loan.

1.4.3 Provided assistance in the form of livestock
breeding or an amount of cash based on the market price plus
compensation. For example for egg-laying hens, assistance in
breeding was provided at a rate equal to the cost of an 18-
week old animal at market price plus compensation of THB
40 per hen. For geese, the cash assistance was the price of a
two-month old animal plus compensation of THB 40 per
goose. For fattened ducks, the cash assistance was equivalent
to the price of a 45-day old animal plus THB 20 per duck. For
partridges, the cash assistance was equivalent to the price of a
45-day-old animal plus THB five per partridge. For ostriches,
the cash assistance was equivalent to THB 2,500 for an animal
plus an additional THB 100 per ostrich.

The assistance began on 19 November 2003.

By the end of FY 2003, a total of 2,882 farm households
faced losses from their poultry due to the avian influenza
outbreak and 7,119,641 animals died or were destroyed. The
BAAC assistance under measures specified by cabinet are
summarized as follows:

1) There would be no interest charges for loans
outstanding for the six-month period from 1 March - 31
August 2004. A total of 2,102 client farmers benefited from
this. The loan principal outstanding from the waived interest
payment amounted to THB 746 million.
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2) Credits for changing poultry raising systems were
provided to 25 farmers, worth THB 7 million. Credit is going
to be provided for rebuilding poultry raising enterprises and
upgrading the standards of the poultry slaughterhouses.

2. Strengthening of Farmer Communities

2.1 Building up Farm Communities through
Cooperative Movements and Marketing Support.

In FY 2003, BAAC supported efforts to strengthen
cooperatives so that they could be able to make collective
sales and purchases and continually link up marketing
businesses in both the domestic and international markets. As
a result, farmers were able to distribute goods from rural areas
to consumers and developed marketing bargaining power.
Furthermore, the income of community enterprises and farmer
institutions increased from the sales of agricultural crops or
products. Organizations that drove the sales were the
Agricultural Marketing Cooperatives of BAAC’s clients
(AMCs) and Agricultural Cooperatives. Results of the
operations are summarized as follows:

2.1.1 Building up Farm Communities through the
Cooperative Movement Project

1) Study tours of cooperatives both in Thailand and
abroad were conducted for AMC members, staff and
committee members. Domestically, tours were given at two
successfully functioning cooperatives, Wang Num Yen Dairy
Cow Cooperative Ltd., in Sa Kaeo Province, and Sung Nern
Agricultural Cooperative in Nakhon Ratchasima Province.
Overseas, a study tour was arranged at an agricultural
cooperative movement in Korea. Experiences from study
tours were used as a guideline for the planning of AMCs and
Thai Agri-business Co., Ltd. (TABCO)

2) AMCs were encouraged to prepare and follow a
master plan for development. In FY 2003, all 74 AMCs
completed a master plan. This gave them the precise direction
and targets of their operations and facilitated the integration of
amaster plan for the country as a whole, enabling a BAAC/
TABCO linkup. In addition, the joint making of the business
development plan of the AMCs and BAAC provincial offices
increase the ability and caliber of AMCs to operate efficiently
and earn more income.

3) The TABCO was encouraged to follow its master
plan to operate with a long-term focus in line with BAAC
policies and to provide efficient and transparent service to the
AMCs.
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2.1.2 Support of Channels for Sale of Produce to
Clients

1) The AMCs and TABCO were encouraged to
collectively sell farmers’ vegetables and fruit such as
pineapples, rambutans, mangosteens, longans, and toxic-free
vegetables. The amount totalled 4,183 tons, worth THB 105
million.

2) The AMCs were encouraged to collectively sell
plantation crops: livestock-feed maize, para rubber, cassava
and sugarcane, which totalled 457,928 tons and were worth
THB 687 million.

3) The AMCs were encouraged to implement the
Jasmine Paddy Collection Project in order to get maximum
sales benefits for the farmers who produced jasmine paddy
and were clients of BAAC and AMC members. In FY 2003,
BAAC set up pilot projects in 10 provinces: Khon Kaen,
Kalasin, Maha Sarakham, Roi Et, Yasothon, Amnat Charoen,
Ubol Ratchathani, Si Sa Ket, Surin, and Buri Ram. The bank
also conducted a training course on cooperative and paddy
marketing for 6,220 members who had enrolled in the project
of 10 AMCs.

As aresult, the AMCs collected a total of 59,080 tons of
paddy worth THB 499 million from 26,798 farmers. Members
sold paddy in an average amount of THB 7,689 per ton and
AMCs resold it for THB 8,043 per ton. The AMCs got more
income and farmer members invariably benefited in terms of
dividends.

4) Venues for sale of crops and products in the One
Tambon One Product Project were provided to increase
marketing channels for farmers, and support farmers in
learning sales and marketing techniques. A total of 105 mini
market fairs for the sale of goods, and 22 booths to display
goods were held at BAAC’s branches or suitable AMCs. Also,
BAAC helped sell products from farmer associations at 10 oil
service stations owned by PTT Public Co., Ltd. Additionally,
in conjunction with government agencies and private
companies, four mobile selling points were opened.

2.1.3 Linking of Production and Marketing

1) Collective purchases of production inputs from
AMCs through TABCO were promoted. This aimed to create
bargaining power for getting lower prices for AMCs. In FY
2003, 73 AMCs bought production inputs worth THB 1.55
billion through TABCO.

2) Collective buying of production inputs by AMCs
and agricultural cooperatives was promoted. This cooperation
helped give the cooperative movement bargaining power. The
operation enlisted seven AMCs from Khon Kaen, Loei, Nong
Khai, Sa Kaeo, Amnat Charoen, Saraburi, and Suphan Buri,
and 78 agricultural cooperatives. The total value of the trading

was THB 83 million.

3) The Chemical Fertilizer Bulk Blending Promotion
Project to reduce production costs in FY 2003 helped farmers
mix 5,000 tons of their own chemical fertilizers. Reduced
costs amounted to THB 1,000 - 1,500 per ton for chemical
fertilizers and THB 5,000 - 6,000 per ton for tobacco
fertilizers compared to the fertilizers bought on the open
market .

4) The Project of Clean Cassava Chip Marketing Link
among Farmer Institutions promoted farmers to process
cassava fresh roots to be clean cassava chip, which provided
added value. The produce was sold through AMC:s in eight
provinces: Kamphaeng Phet, Uthai Thani, Chaiyaphum,
Nakhon Ratchasima, Udon Thani, Sa Kaeo, Chachoengsao,
and Kanchanaburi. Products of the clean cassava chip
collected from farmers by AMCs, amounted to 6,351 tons,
worth THB 17 million. Of this amount, 3,015 tons were sold
by linking up with two consumers: the Muak Lek Dairy Cow
Cooperative Ltd., and Dairy Cow Cooperative in the land
reform areas of Lam Phaya Klang, Saraburi province. The
outstanding was sold to the users by AMCs in each province.

Value added of the clean cassava chip production,
received by farmers from the project, increased by an average
of 28 percent of selling price of fresh roots, or about THB
0.28 per kilogram. The output of 6,351 tons of clean cassava
chip was processed from 12,702 tons of fresh roots. This
resulted in THB 3.56 million worth of value added to the
output from the project.

5) The Cassava Chip Collection for Export Project
supported TABCO in the collection of cassava chip from
AMCs and members of cassava drying centers in the networks
of AMCs. This was done to link up with Yangchern Co., Ltd.,
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in the trading of cassava chip for exports to China. Total

exports were 10,158 tons, worth THB 29 million. The value
added to the output under the project was THB 0.40 million.

6) A linkup with the Tobacco Production and
Marketing Project supported the Sukhothai AMC, Ltd.,
Phetchabun AMC, Ltd., and Uttaradit AMC, Ltd., in operating
the Link of Burley Tobacco Production and Marketing Project
with the two export companies : the Siam Tobacco Export
Corporation Co., Ltd. and the Diamond Leaf (Thailand) Co.,
Ltd. having the Fore Direction Co., Ltd. as a buying agency. A
total of 4,320 tons was set up as a target for collection, which
began from 4 March 2004. At the end of FY 2003, a total of
1,025 tons of tobacco leaves was collected by the AMCs,
worth THB 39 million.

2.14 Electronic Commercial System Project
(e-Commerce)

BAAC set up the Electronic Commercial System Project
on a web site named poompanyathai.com. The web site is
intended to be a channel for selling AMCs’ goods. The
application of electronic networks via the internet is seen as
being useful for publicity purposes, the building up a
marketing system, the construction of networks for trade and
the exchange of goods among different parties. Additionally, it
has prompted farmers, community enterprises, farmer
institutions and AMCs to develop better quality products and
upgrade the standards of their goods.

The pilot project, initially implemented on 9 April 2003,
was set in two phases. The first phase dealt with the selling
goods from 10 AMCs located in the provinces, which cover
all four regions of Thailand. They are as follows:

- North: Uthai Thani, Phitsanulok, and Lampang
Province;

- Northeast: Sakon Nakhon, Kalasin, Loei, and Surin
Province;

- Central: Chachoengsao Province;
- South: Phatthalung and Surat Thani Province.

The second phase, started on 1 October 2003, added
another five AMCs from the following provinces into the
project: Chiang Mai, Ubol Ratchathani, Chanthaburi, Samut
Sakhon, and Samut Songkram Province.

Results of the operations as a whole showed that sales
of goods through this web site rose continuously. Each AMC
began to learn and understand trading. Presentation of
members’ goods on the internet resulted in more precise
trading activities, prompt delivery of goods and adherence to
the conditions specified. In the future, BAAC plans to expand
sales channels for all AMCs.

2.1.5 The Thai Tambon Products Fairs the Pride of
the Land

On the occasion of BAAC’s 37th anniversary and
Kasetsart University’s (KU) 60th anniversary, the two
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institutions jointly held the third “ Thai Tambon Products, the
Pride of the Land, a Technology Celebration of KU’s 60th
Anniversary - Thai Rural Development of BAAC’s 37th
Anniversary Fair” on 29 October - 2 November 2003, at
Muang Thong Tha Ni Impact Exhibition and Convention
Center, Pak Kret District, Nonthaburi Province. Dr.Somkid
Jatusripitak, the vice premier, chaired the event and was
honored at the opening ceremony in which insignias of
product quality certified under the KU - BAAC cooperation
project were presented.

Activities at the fair included highlighting the work
performances of the following four groups: 1) Work results
toward quality development of farmers’ products as
demonstrated by KU-BAAC; 2) BAAC’s mission of rural
development; 3) Work results of community enterprise groups
and farmers in the Debt Suspension and Debt Burden
Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project; 4) The display of
the handmade Kratong (basket of offerings such as candle,
candlesticks, flowers etc.) made from KU Green, a substance
produced from cassava starch and plant fibers. KU Green is a
biodegradable, foam-like substance that naturally dissolves.

Technical activities conducted in the fair included:
discussion on “ KU-BAAC’s assistance in helping to bring
Thai Tambon products to the world market”; display and
demonstration of work results of farmers, community
enterprise groups and farmers in the Debt Suspension and
Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project in
four regions; demonstration of the community learning
process; production of community goods, showcasing various
exhibitions about technology set up in conjunction with KU’s
60th anniversary which included the presentation of 104
research findings on handmade items and technologies; ICT
exhibition; clinic to provide consultation on credits from
BAAC,; technical clinic of KU; short training courses for 24
occupations per day; playing of music and displaying of art;
and a fashion show of Thai clothes for teenagers.

The fair, spur a lot of interest in farmers’ product each
year. This year, 639 farmers sold products with a total value of
THB 41 million. Thaweesin Savings Certificates worth THB
242 million were also sold.

In addition, special activities were conducted in the area
of sports for health at the Ministry of Public Health,
Nonthaburi province. The activities included five and 10
kilometer mini marathons, a 2.5 kilometer walk-run for health
and an aerobic dance contest. A total of 2,842 people
participated in the competitions.

About 160,000 people attended the fair over the five-
day period. Consequently, the fair was considered another
activity that enables farmers throughout the country to
successfully display their technical skills and quality products.
As well, farmers achieved value added for the products and
developed new marketing channels. This was in line with the
BAAC's role as the Rural Development Bank.

2.2 Organic Agriculture Rice Farmer School

Rice production in Thailand has been facing problems
of high costs, particularly due to the use of chemical fertilizers
and the diseases and insects control chemicals which need to
be imported. The low price of rice and grave problem of soil
and water deterioration has greatly affected rice output,
resulting in losses and indebtedness for farmers.

During the period of the Debt Suspension and Debt
Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project, year
2001-2003, most farmers were trained in the Truthful
Principles of Life Project under the support of Chamnien
Saranaga Institute of Agricultural and Rural Development
(CIARD) and BAAC. This helped farmers become more
aware of problems related to agricultural production, better
understand the environment and the need to use biological
fertilizers and led to a project to encourage the use of
“Organic Agriculture”.

The CIARD is supporting the Organic Agriculture Rice
Farmer Project for three years from 2003 to 2005. The
objective of the project is to reduce production costs, increase
the value of rice output, teach farmers how to use technology
appropriate for organic agriculture, develop collective groups
of farmers and provide on- the- job study programs and
research in the rice field conducted by farmers themselves,
known as the Farmer’s Field School. In the Organic
Agriculture Rice Farmer School, the classroom is a rice field
of about 1-2 rai and the learning process involves working in
the rice field at least once a month. Farmers learn to do
activities pertaining to rice farming and other things of interest
to them. Farmers meet with each other on a weekly basis or
every 2-3 weeks throughout the production season. BAAC
officers facilitate the learning process and farmers become
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specialists in rice planting capable of doing their own research
on organic rice. Technical advisers support the learning
process in special topics in which the farmers have limited
experience.

In the FY 2003, the Organic Agriculture Rice Farmer
School had an enrolment of 5,704 farmers in 251 schools, or
on average 22 farmers per school. Of the 251 schools, 240
dealt with rice production, seven with production of oranges
and one each with the production of sugar apples, chillies,
soybean and shrimp. The operation classified by region was as
follows:

Organic Agriculture Rice Farmer School

Region No. of schools ~ No. of farmers
North 18 289
Northeast 209 5,059
Central and East 12 199
South and West 12 157
Total 251 5,704

The school was a very successful operation. Farmers
were satisfied with their monthly participation in the school
activities. Among their projects included making biological
compost, charcoal and wood vinegar, multipurpose chemical
solutions and fresh plant fertilizers as well as reviving the
custom of cooperating with neighbours to get work done,
creating collective groups dedicated to organic agriculture
activities and planting of toxic-free vegetables. In the first
year of organic rice production, costs fell considerably while
output trended higher. As well, it must be pointed out that in
terms of the environment, the soil became more fertile and
water became cleaner. This is beneficial to the health of both
farmers and consumers and very useful to society in general.
In FY 2004, the CIARD and BAAC will continue to support
organic farming activities at the agriculture rice farmer school.
A policy of One Amphoe (District) One School will be
implemented as proposed by farmers and BAAC’s staff who
had participated in the project.

2.3 Farmer Packing and Product Development
Project under Memorandum of Understanding between
KU-BAAC

In support of the government policy of One Tambon
One Product (OTOP), BAAC and KU signed a memorandum
of understanding on 23 September 2002 to help improve the
quality of Thai farmers’ Tambon products by providing

technical support and relevant work knowledge to
entrepreneurs. KU will provide technical advice and work
support while BAAC will act as a coordinator to help farmers
obtain information about improving the quality of their
products.

2.3.1 Operational Procedure

1) The project operated under two joint working groups
consisted of the following representatives:

(1) Working group of KU comprised of
representatives from the Institute of Food Research and
Product Development, Institute of Research and
Development, Kasetsart Agricultural and Agro-Industrial
Product Improvement, Faculty of Agriculture, Faculty of
Agro-Industry, Faculty of Science, Faculty of Architecture,
Faculty of Forestry, Faculty of Engineering and Food Quality
Assurance Center.

(2) Working group of BAAC was comprised of
representatives from the Policy and Planning Department,
Loan Department, the Marketing Support Department, the
Branch Administration Department, and the Learning
Promotion Department.

2) Operational Guidelines

(1) To find out the problems and needs of farmers
and seek out products produced by major farmers which have
the potential to be improved upon and developed further. In
FY 2003, a total of 13 products were selected and the
following 16 pilot subprojects were set up:

- Food Projects dedicated to improving the quality
of chilli paste, salted eggs, crispy rice cakes, butter-baked
banana chips, rolled-baked banana, wine and cashew nut
products;

- Non-Food Projects worked with developing the
production of brooms, silk cloth, cotton cloth, herbal
shampoo, mulberry bark paper and rush knitted mats;

- Product Certification and Support Project was
dedicated to improving packing techniques, setting up
standard and quality guarantees, as well as helping to develop
machine that will bring food processing up to standard.

(2) Groups of research instructors in each project
initially surveyed the situation to determine the problems and
needs of farmers and visited farmer- related enterprises to
collect in-depth information for further research in the area of
problem solving.

(3) To plan and transfer knowledge to farmers.
Groups of research instructors gave training in two areas, in
the form of job workshops in a prototype production factory at
KU, and directly at clients’ production facilities.
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(4) To visit, inspect, recommend and collect product
samples for quality assessments based on standards specified
by the project.

(5) To consider the handing out of insignias that
denotes a KU-BAAC quality guarantee to products that meet a
specified criterion.

2.3.2 Operational Period and Budget

The project’s operational period is three years (FY
2003-2005). In FY 2003, knowledge was transferred to every
subproject completed by March 2004. BAAC and KU shared
responsibility for the project’s operations with budget
expenses split evenly.

2.3.3 Results of Operations

The project became officially operational after the
signing of the KU-BAAC memorandum of understanding on
23 September 2002. In a little over one year, the project was
able to assist 500 farmers either individually and in a group.
In the project related to the packing and quality of 13 different
products, the farmers acquired knowledge from training and
recommendations from instructors/specialists from KU who
aimed to improve and develop methods and steps of
production under the right technical principles. As a result, the
products were standardized, of good quality good for health
and not dangerous to consumers. Insignias denoting KU-
BAAC quality guarantees were awarded to ten farmers and
farmer institutions for twelve products of wine or home-made
whisky. They are meant to inspire consumers’ confidence and
help the farmers expand the market for their products.

2.4 Training of Farmers by Using Long Distance
Media through Satellite Project

In accordance with the changing of the role of BAAC to
a Rural Development Bank, BAAC worked with KU to set up
a distance-training program via a satellite for farmers and
other people involved in the industry. The objective of the
project was to increase the capabilities of farmers and
community enterprises in developing Thai Tambon products.
It specifically aimed to boost production potential, processing,
packaging, and marketing in order to compete in both the
local and international markets. A group of research
instructors that were trainers in the project publicized the
results of a research study on the development of Thai
Tambon products. The publication was the basis for a long
distance media program offered via satellite for 367 learning
centres located at BAAC branches nationwide entitled
“BAAC-KU adds more wisdom to farmers””

In FY 2003, BAAC gave training to farmers via long
distance media through satellite in line with the project. The
training was conducted four times, once a quarter, and had a

total of 7,529 participants. It is summarized as follows:

No.1 conducted on 14 May 2003, on making Three -
Flavoured Mangoes and fruit ice cream, number of trainees
1,070;

No.2 conducted on 27 September 2003, on fruit juice,
herbal juice and wine making, number of trainees 1,433;

No. 3 conducted on 26 November 2003, on sweets that
symbolize good luck (candy, nine-colored jelly, and rose
layered sweets), number of trainees 2,483;

No. 4 conducted on 11 March 2004, on making of
herbal shampoo, number of trainees 2,543.

An assessment based on a survey of 379 trainees from
the training sessions No. 1-3 showed that information passed
on at the training sessions was used by 48.30 percent of the
respondents while 44.10 percent did not use the information
and 7.60 percent did not respond to the questionnaires. Of
those who used the information, 32.70 percent used it to
improve the quality, flavour, colouring and odour, followed by
25.30, 16.90, and 25.10 percent, which used it to pass on to
members of its local group, for applying, designing and
developing new products and for other reasons, respectively.

Of those who had not yet used the information, 38
percent did not have the time or had a shortage of workers
while 31.90, 21.60, and 8.50 percent did not gain enough to
implement information, had no market available, lacked
capital land and other reasons, respectively. In summation, the
operation achieved its objective and benefited farmers at a
satisfactory level as more than half of the farmers who
attended the training session were able to apply the
information provided to them to improve the production of
their goods at the community enterprise level and then
increase investments and sales.

3. BAAC Organization Services Efficiency
Development

3.1 Increase of Fee-Based Income (FBI)

In FY 2003, BAAC continued with its policy set in the
previous fiscal year to emphasize generating FBI from
banking and other services. This included the expansion of
services to accommodate a new target group of clients under
the revised BAAC Act. Additionally, BAAC showed good
management and administration skills as the income was risk-
free. The use of available resources was applied more
efficiently. Farmers were given an opportunity to make a one-
stop choice of diversified products to be used at an
appropriate price. This also set forth the promotional process
of developing a better quality of life through the security of
stability, health and increase asset held by farmers and their
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households. Business opportunities opened up due to the
establishment of more alliance networks. Knowledge was
exchanged, leading to product development and the potential
to earn more income from service fees increased, particularly
from banking transactions. Also of note, service quality
improved and it now more widely meets international
standards.

3.1.1 Guidelines to Offer More Fee-Based Services
and Generate More Income

In FY 2003, BAAC accelerated the launching of
products to aggressively expand market segmentation and
one-stop services at BAAC counters. More precise procedures
were set forth, sales manuals were written up, and product
history was recorded. In addition, outside services at venues
such as festivals to boost sales in cooperation with partners
were continuously provided. Promotion of marketing
operations in both local and international markets was
supported. These factors helped boost BAAC’s income from
services and fees.

3.1.2 Operational Results; BAAC’s operational
results for the end of 2003 are as follows:

1) atotal of 69 products with potential to generate
service and fee income were offered. They are classified by
six groups of services as follows: (1) fee and service charges
from banking services (2) bill payment (3) direct debit (4)

insurance and car tax payment (5) refilled phone card services
(6) credit cards applications

2) atotal of 27 networks of business alliances were
established;

3) Four pilot service counters (at the BAAC provincials
branches of Chiang Mai, Ubol Ratchathani, Samut Sakhon
and Saraburi) were opened.

3.1.3 Marketing Promotion activities were as follows:

1) Trainers for the projects of BAAC provincial offices
were provided;

2) Training was provided to fund management staff
responsible for FBI,

3) BAAC provincial branches with the outstanding FBI
for the year were chosen;

4) FBI public relations was conducted in cooperation
with other organizations.

3.1.5 Atthe end of FY 2003, BAAC’s FBI amounted
to THB 505 million, up THB 186 million or 58.31 percent
over the preceding year, and up THB 155 million or 44.29
percent over the set target. The income is divided up in the
following four areas: 1) THB 293 million was FBI earned on
deposits, 2) THB 119 million was FBI earned on loans, 3)
THB 29 million was FBI from direct debit, and 4) THB 64
million was income from supplement services.
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3.2 ISO versus Services for Clients

In FY 1999, BAAC set up the Front Office Services
Pilot Project of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Management System,
at its Nanglerng and Nonthaburi branches. The objective of
the project was to develop the bank’s operations on a
sustainable basis and provide maximum benefits to its clients.
The two branches were certified for their [SO 9001:2000
Quality Management System by the ISO Standard
Certification Institution on 13 July 2001.

In FY 2001, BAAC expanded the operations of ISO
9001:2000 Quality Management System for financial and
banking services to 14 additional locations in Nakhon Sawan,
Uthai Thani, Nong Khai, Udon Thani, Ang Thong, Sing Buri,
Bang Yai, Bang Bua Thong, Sa Kaeo, Huay Sa Thon,
Songkhla, Hat Yai, Sadao, and Satun. All 14 branches were
certified for their ISO 9001:2000 Quality Management
System from the US on 25 April 2003. In FY 2003, the
operations of this Quality Management System under the
same standard of the branches certified from the US were
expanded to cover the rest of the BAAC branches nationwide.

The establishment of BAAC’s Quality Management
System has greatly increased the work ethic of the bank’s staff
in terms of quality of services and the work system. The work
system was improved and developed to be more effective. As
aresult, clients became confident in the quality of the bank’s
products and its services are now efficient, convenient and
quickly executed in line with international standards and meet
the expectations of clients. This is shown in a survey taken in
FY 2003 to assess client satisfaction with the ISO 9001:2000
Quality Management System on financial and banking
services at the 14 BAAC branches. In terms of client
satisfaction, the BAAC Monitoring and Evaluation Division
questioned service users on three aspects, speed of the
branch’s services, quality of the staffs’ services and location
where the services are provided. The response showed that in
general, clients found the branches’ levels of service very
satisfactory.

In addition to improving finance and banking services,
the bank has set out to improve the quality of its credit
services and credit work system. In FY 2002, the ISO
9001:2000 Quality Management System on credit services
operated at branches in Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya, Nakhon
Nayok, and Kanchanaburi. The operation was satisfactory to
clients of credits and finance and banking. In FY 2003, BAAC
expanded ISO 9001:2000 Quality Management System on
credit services operation to another three branches located in
Dok Kham Tai, Udon Thani, and Krabi. This was done to
apply the system to typical branches covering all areas of
Thailand before a request would be made for certification
from the US, and before the operation of the said ISO would

be expanded to the branches countrywide similar to the [SO
9001:2000 Quality Management System on financial and
banking services.

3.3 BAAC Information Communications
Technology (ICT) System

BAAC aggressively worked on developing the ICT
system to set up a new model for financial and banking
services that would be more convenient and provide quicker
services to farmers and people in general.

In FY 2003, the bank procured the Core Banking
System (CBS) which is comprised of package software
including computers and accessories. The system will be
installed at BAAC branches countrywide to serve clients. The
installation period is about 24 months from the day the
purchase contract was signed in May 2004. The system is
comprised of the following:

3.3.1 A database of clients is linked up and processed
with real-time computer systems that update information at
the same rate the data is received. This enables direct links
with the related work system of BAAC;

3.3.2 Credit Work System for individual farmers,
groups or organizations, and government secured loans;

3.3.3 Deposit Work System including check and
current account system;

3.3.4 Management and Automation Branch System
covering the work functions of tellers at the bank’s counters;

3.3.5 Financial Management System comprised of
management of cash and risks of investments in bonds and
shares.

3.3.6 Information and management reports systems;

3.3.7 Links with work systems included Electronic
Cheque Clearing System, Electronic Fund Transfer System,
BAAC’s Account System of System Application and Products
in Data Processing (SAP R3), and Automatic Teller Machine,
(ATM).

In addition, BAAC expanded its financial and banking
services to farmers by using Pocket PC to provide them with
the convenience of banking from their homes or farms. In FY
2003, the services were available in the following 10
provinces: Nakhon Pathom, Sukhothai, Chiang Mai, Udon
Thani, Surin, Sakon Nakhon, Saraburi, Rayong, Prachuap
Khiri Khan, and Songkhla. Work systems developed by
BAAC for use with the Pocket PC were comprised of Client
Visit Work System and Loan Model Package System. Not
only farmers benefited from access to the convenient and fast
services from BAAC but also these work systems that

45



46

uieiuguus il 5.0, . fuhuesdnsmstui ashomdoe
uaz My yumsuudneassia: muunYAss dedlsuded
aaeAnA 5.0, . 1t Balanced Scorecard : BSC cmnhmaﬂmi
wmsiamsh wrldidusedlomedumsiamslumsionen
3wl i nagnd ae mAlfoa el s 9 13
mLummtﬂu"lﬂ“luwﬁwmmu waz wnsarmuaidmned
aARABAMY mmmwamsmLuum"lﬂamal,ﬂuﬁﬂﬁsm Tneend
vanmaUszidiuna 4 an laun Mumsidu muanm au
Aszuumsmely uae muaaﬂnma IbTELITY A A
nstiningsz W i e wa uwum‘lﬂ DARABY
Fafuasi

s %Nﬁaaﬂf]ﬁﬁmﬁ 5.0, . (BAAC Operation Room)
wa™ muaamnmﬁmm BSC mmnymutﬂuwmﬂimw
aammmwammm “lvweaiusmsmeluasdng 5.0, . lavorde
ﬂlauamnm%mwamimLumm (Key Performance Indicators :
KPIs) uazi ua‘luiﬂuww mmnml,ﬁu“lﬂ‘luﬂmmmnu i
1 maﬂ“luﬁﬂsuaaﬂmmm asnl 2anan wiowierin (Gauge) Tn
mﬂmmmﬂumﬂ?ﬂumw el smnuazidilade Iﬂﬂmﬁﬂ
amuanives 3 ¥ila 1uA “uaa vneie diaviu asmams
suiumilia viemniuthvaneinn “wies mnede fiavnd
maaa‘lui dushaidhmnodndo souuld uas de) mnoda
fiavil mwamimmuamaa”lummmaLﬂullﬂmmﬂmmﬂ 30 4
atuthvng 4 mauamt aEENITIIMIA  THN30N wmﬂmmm

uwuﬁﬁmmﬂu"lﬂimma MuATmManYeY BSC Iﬂﬂﬁuauamwm
il yssged Tuusazmueantiaios

Tunsiies 5.0, . Wniiaias 3 1w Bur miviuiiin
HaMAMLTLYR83ANS (KPT Wall) i ianams
auiuumsuulssRuRamsaLiuaY 5.0. . (TRIS” Wall)
uas Computer Wall “wsumu Computer Wall I iflumsn ag
KPI udaz m 1 W50191280 (Drill Down) aluneazid Laﬂmwaﬂ
ﬂmmmﬂmu MIARYIS WN30ATI9 BLAAAMMIALL
Thsamsi WieAensuIIgAIIH 13990989003 LWEﬂ‘HN‘Ui‘Hﬁ

WN30AA u“lﬂma‘luwmﬂgmmi 5.0. . othaltsz maaw uas
wnsaudfpmiuiiioesesdng ssmamsaiadom viso
oy °1ﬁtgﬁamztﬁﬂ%u‘luamﬂﬂ"lﬁ

35 50, . 0IANIUHIMIITEN]

5. . assmindemusnhilumsidiian wsaves
aafnsiiioldt wnsasasiufy mwumaumaﬁsﬂwLﬂaﬂuuﬂm"lﬂ
sdanndlulaalu 3 Samuamsioi mml,wam ‘mluaaing
Lmqnmﬁﬂuﬁem“wﬂwwumm nmnLﬁau’s’"lﬂwumﬂmﬂaauuﬂm
ﬂ;]nmm"lﬂammﬂi“ a5 ina Aol 2543
WHudun 5.0, ."I,ﬂmLuumswmmﬂmiﬂugmamﬂniammmﬁm
Taun meviennIngnsysza wau MInszaEEIIMTIAY]
wiinallgann wau maiangusunstens iduuoumae
ﬂsmmuwa“lwwumm mﬁnLaﬂmiau%"lﬂmummnuﬂ uas
AN £ANTRIAAZLARD mmmammntﬂaﬂutwui ms W 5u
msmuamnmﬂuwu msdatingsams a Sumstond ms
IHOUTA) mnmnmmmmms uas ms‘lﬂmmmmnmﬁmi
Liﬂuimﬂﬂutaumnma g Lwaiwwumm mﬁmﬁﬂu'"lﬂam
dotilas Wil 2546 5. "lﬂml,uumimmmumt 3159
BanIuHINTIGEL] il

351 maviaenglss waumsiaenninensyug
bz Teitlszing 5.0, "lmﬂamumﬂgmmﬂumﬂﬁ
mmimmm‘lfﬂmsnmJumﬂﬂ‘lumswmmmwmnmuwﬂﬂ“lm
s “mauadmneimuinhduniameinem ok
wnmaasFmssamusn i o el
sz mamsianminensieiliza o wsadiiums
wianndann nnsaveswinauly wanlAedaisy mEam
ABAY U SHTIEMAMIGeNS luudas wnumy

"'TRIS : Thai Rating and Information Services Co., Ltd.



interacted with overdue debt management, debt quality
control, management of off-farm and community enterprise
credit services of the bank. BAAC provided bar code readers
for tellers” services at branches in order to make it more
convenient and faster for clients to pay public utilities bills, as
well as bills for goods, services and credit cards, insurance
premiums, and tuition fees.

In accordance as directed by the prime minister to
establish operation centers at government agencies with an
aim to use information more efficiently, the bank set up the
Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives Operation
Center (BAACOC). The Information Communications
Technology was applied as a tool to pick-up and collect
information on the bank’s operational results, operational
results under government policies or main projects and
information and messages pertaining to the bank’s operations
from both inside and outside the bank. The centers’
information is intended to be accurate, complete and up-to-
date in order to be used for analysis, summations, follow-ups
and assessments, and is in accordance with government
policies.

3.4 BAAC Operation Room

In this era of rapidly changing economic conditions and
fierce competition, BAAC, as a financial organization, which
provides financial assistance and support to farmers and
farmer institutions, must constantly readjust itself. The bank
put to use the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) which is centered
mainly on principles of management and administration as a
managerial tool to put its vision, mission, and strategy into
practice. This is meant to help departments operate in the
same direction and set up harmonious targets and substantially
measure their operational results by relying on four
assessment principles, finance, clients, internal process,
organization and learning. Objectives, indicators, targets and
the work plans of each principle must conform to each other.

The BAAC operation room was established where the
BSC is located which was set up as a meeting room designed
to help BAAC executives set bank policy through the use of
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Presentations had to be in
pictures that could be seen at the same time, which was shown
in forms of bars and pie chart or gauges. For convenience and
easy understanding, the targets were shown on a comparative
basis depending on three different colors. Red denoted figures
showing operational results that was not good or much lower
than the target. Yellow denoted normal figures or figures
slightly lowered than the target, which were acceptable. Green
denoted figures showing operation results that were good or
higher than the specified target. The presented data was able
to be linked with each other on the basis of Balanced
Scorecard and placed on the room’s walls.

At BAAC, the three walls were used to display results.
One was dedicated to showing Key Performance Indicators of
the organization (KPI Wall), one indicated operational results
under the assessment system of BAAC set up by Thai Rating
and Information Services Co., Ltd. (TRIS Wall), and one, the
computer wall, gave the results of each KPI that was able to
assess deep into the information to determine emerging
problems. This tool enables executives to inspect and follow
up work plans of projects important for the organization,
make efficient decisions in the BAAC operation room, solve
real problems in the organization and seek out opportunities
and discover problems that might emerge in the future.

3.5 BAAC, the Learning Organization

BAAC realized the need to upgrade the caliber of the
organization in order to stay on top of the rapidly changing
business environment. The bank, consequently, specified as a
main mission, the need to set up a training organization for its
staff to enable it to keep up with changes and work more
effectively and efficiently. Since FY 2000, BAAC has
continually developed organization training programs
pertaining to the following issues: development of trainers of
work units; decentralization of power to develop staff to be
able to work in every unit; development of training programs
in multi-channel forms to allow the staff to choose its learning
arrangement based on convenience; arrangement of learning
exchanges; promotion of learning together as a team;
exhibitions to promote education; publication of messages
concerning sources of knowledge; and provision for self-
learning methods to enable ongoing training for the staff. In
FY 2003, BAAC’s operation under the work plan to promote
more training is summarized as follows:

3.5.1 Development of Human Resource Facilitators
for work units nationwide BAAC had conducted on-the-job
training to provide knowledge and understanding in the
following areas: development of human resources in the new
era; survey and analysis of needs of staff development; and
guidelines and planning methods to develop staff and work
units. This enabled work unit facilitators of human resource
development to efficiently develop high caliber staff in their
work units, and also promote the learning atmosphere in each
work unit.

3.5.2 Exhibition of “Wonderful Days of Learning”
In order to promote a learning atmosphere in organization, the
following activities were conducted as exhibitions: discussion
platform to exchange learning guidelines for self development
involving the bank’s top executives and successful people in
their occupations; experience exchanges of work units and
branches in solving work problems successfully and
acceptably; boards displaying information; needs and work
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plans for creating the bank’s learning organization; display of
technologies for learning support; and booths for sales of
books of various publishers. These activities aimed to
stimulate the bank’s staff to realize the importance of
education on a continual basis. A higher caliber organization
will consequently result and the target of being a learning
organization will be achieved.

3.5.3 Making of an Information Knowledge
Directory was to provide work units the manuals to search for
organizational information and construct channels for every
work unit to share and exchange information widely. The
information of every work unit had been surveyed, collected,
and arranged into groups and sections and made into a
directory.

3.54 Web Site Improvement of Learning Promotion
Department History information of BAAC’s trainers was
completed. Useful information, lists of language teaching
institutions and project work plans were summarized.
Learning in training rooms and through satellite was
promoted. This enabled every work unit to have planning
information for developing its staff, and for its staff to have
channels for self-development.

3.5.5 Branch/Work Unit Learning Promotion Trial
Project was promoted by BAAC for work units and branches
to obtain access to information on how to create a learning
atmosphere at their own work units/branches. A total of eight
work units were enrolled in the pilot project. Of that number,
the following four were work units from the head office: the
Learning Promotion Department, Human Resource
Management Department, Branch Administration Department
and Information Technology Department. The other four were
from BAAC provincial offices in Nakhon Pathom,
Chachoengsao, Phitsanulok, and Amnat Charoen.

3.6 Performance Management System (PMS), a
New Dimensional Approach to Universal Operations

In this fast-moving dynamic period, it is crucial that
changes within and outside the organization be harmonized.
Making the staff aware of this has been set out as a main
mission of the organization including working on business
plans, frameworks for coordination within every region and
unit of the bank and management of the work achievements. A
main challenge at all levels was how to make the work units’
missions successful both qualitatively and sustainably to be up
on par with generally accepted standards. BAAC,
consequently, tried out PMS in a pilot project in 2001.

PMS is a system that measures the success of individual
staff member’s assigned tasks. Their work performance
reflects on the bank’s success in achieving targets under good

governance and in line with the Office of the Auditor
General’s Rules on Internal Control Standard Specification
being used to audit management of government agencies. The
four main components of PMS are target specification,
follow-up and supervision, working assessment, and
development of the competency of staff.

Target specification

Development of
competency

% &

04 ;
" ang feedhack W

s

Working
assessment

In FY 2003, BAAC extended the PMS program to all
work units in both the head office and at provincial offices. To
enable PMS to achieve its objectives as planned, BAAC set up
the following operational strategies:

3.6.1 Strategies for setting up and realizing the
importance of PMS

(1) Introducing PMS as a main human resource policy
of the bank;

(2) Applying operating results of PMS in assessments
of management of executives;

(3) Directing work units to present operational results
of their PMS together with problems, obstacles and setting
guidelines to management once a quarter;

(4) Directing audit and inspection lines under the
control of the Audit and Inspection Department to put
operational steps of PMS into topics for inspections and
dialogues with executives and working officers;

(5) Application of PMS in the agenda for meeting of
executives and officers;

(6) Specifying that PMS be a topic in the primary
orientation course of newly appointed staff members at all
levels and positions;

(7) Specifying that PMS be a topic in training courses
given to work unit chiefs at all levels before their
appointment;
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(8) Setting up ongoing courses for heads of work units
to increase effectiveness of management;

(9) Maintaining a work unit team to oversee the PMS;

(10) Directing that general managerial staff of
provincial officers and facilitators of personnel development
be the main person responsible for PMS;

(11) Setting up a technical team to give consultation;

(12) Instructing teams of the Branch Administration
Department, Audit and Inspection Department, and Office of
Inspector to demonstrate the PMS on visits to branches as way
to promote the use of the operation and apply the results for
system development;

3.6.2 Strategy to make the PMS sustainable

(1) Directing that PMS be used as a factor when
considering a staff promotion;

(2) Adjusting the model for evaluating operational
results to be harmonious throughout the organization;

(3) Allowing staff members or related personnel to be
able to inspect the system results and present rapid
assessments thought various channels in terms of
convenience;

(4) Communicating public relations on an ongoing
basis, thoroughly and diversely.

o1

The application of the PMS has led to positive results in
the work performance of the bank’s staff. This was because
the targets and objectives of the bank and responsibilities of
every staff member were linked together. Staff member took
their job responsibilities more seriously upon realizing that
their work performance was and important part of the bank’s
success. Additionally, assessments that are exact, right and fair
improves the spirit and morale of the staff and spurs everyone
to work together to achieve the same targets. The PMS was a
key factor in making staff members clearly understand their
role in the organization in relation to their colleagues. As a
result, the corporate strategies were successful, and the
mission and vision of the organization were achieved.

3.7 Gender Policy at BAAC

The BAAC gender policy follows the National Policy
and Long-Term Perspective Plan B.E.2535-2554 (1992-2011)
set by the Thai National Commission on Women'’s Affairs that
emphasizes equal opportunities for all genders in terms of
participation, responsibilities and access to development
benefits.

3.7.1 The BAAC Gender Policy promotes equal
opportunities for men and women to gain access to the bank’s
services and products. The policy also aims to provide
opportunities for male and female staff members to build up
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their capabilities and maximize their skills in the workplace,
especially in line with BAAC’s move towards its new role as
a rural development bank.

3.7.2 The BAAC Gender Policy aims to:

(1) Ensure that men’s and women’s needs are met on
equal terms within the existing resources and responsibilities.

(2) Ensure that both women’s and men’s contribution
to economic and social development in Thailand are
recognized.

3.7.3 Strategies to implement the BAAC Gender
Policy include:

(I) Increasing the proportion of BAAC clients who are
women.

(2) Ensuring women are appropriately represented as
participants and decision-makers in microfinance
intermediaries (MFIs), community enterprises and other
groups.

(3) Ensuring that at least one in three MFI’s
concentrates on income-generating activities for women.

(4) Collecting a data base which classifies information
of client services used based on sex.

(5) Analyzing the database, which classifies
information of client services, used based on sex at the branch
or provincial level to identify any opportunities for improving
BAAC services to women (or men) clients.

(6) Developing methods to increase satisfaction with
financial service provisions for all clients men or women and
monitoring client satisfaction with the BAAC in an
appropriate manner.

(7) Striving to ensure that the existing ratios of female
to male BAAC staff in management positions is gradually
improved.

(8) Encouraging female BAAC staff members to work
with clients at the village level (based on socio-cultural
context and the needs of the area/branches).

(9) Building gender-sensitive training sessions into
management and administrative- related capacity building
activities in the bank.

3.7.4 Actions carried out under the BAAC Gender
Policy include:

(1) Establishing a Gender Working Group (GWG) as
an internal mechanism to guide policy change regarding equal
opportunities for all genders.

(2) Developing training manuals and methods on
Gender Sensitivity with the aim to raise awareness among
BAAC staff members and clients.

(3) Providing Gender Sensitivity Training to male and
female staff member in 25 pilot branches under the Social
Support Project (SSP) supported by the European Union
(EU). This training scheme is being replicated in 287 other
branches nationwide.

(4) Adopting the gender training approach and methods
by incorporating it into the bank’s regular training program for
staff.

(5) Pushing for policy change (in process) through the
GWG to create opportunities for female staff members who
are ready and capable to change their job line to service male
and female clients in the out-station environment or at the
community level.

(6) Focusing on women as clients is one of the strategies
for turning BAAC into Rural Development Bank. The bank
can provide services that support Community Enterprise (CE)
groups which are made up predominately by women.

(7) All data collected at the staff and group levels is
classified according to sex, providing the bank with data
useful for planning to promote equal participation among men
and women.
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Summary of BAAC Operations in Fiscal Year 2003

~ InFY 2003 BAAC took on the role as the Financial 1. Operating Areas, Number of Clients, and
Institution for Rural Development by providing financial Number of Branches
services to farmers, farmer institutions and community
enterprises. One of the functions of this role was to extend
loans to Village funds, which was a direct response to the
government’s policy to revitalize the grassroots economy.
Other functions included providing support for plans to link
output with marketing networks and rural education progrars. expands its operating base with an objective to cover as much
The ob]ectlves. of ese prograﬂm;v_v;re to increase the of the rural areas o the country as possible.
_pot ntial of th ipa aswella o 1r ncome toan F' by :
quate ﬂj for da -t0 daxhv

The main mission of BAAC is to provide financial
services to farmers and farmer institutions nationwide, the
policy of the bank since its inception. On a yearly basis, the
bank increases its number of newly registered clients and

mon
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In FY 2003, BAAC went through a reorganization to
make its operations more suitable and increase the efficiency

Farm Households Serviced by BAAC,
Fiscal Years 1999-2003

B Farmers
[ Members of cooperatives

[ Members of farmer associations Households

4,000,000
3,000,000
2,000,000

1,000,000

Fiscal year 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

of its services by making them more convenient and
responsive for farmers, farmer institutions and depositors. By
the end of the fiscal year, BAAC had 74 provincial offices,
which supervised a total of 593 district branches located
throughout the country. Of these branches, 441 were classified
as district branches, 54 as small branches equivalent to district
branches and 98 as small branches (special) and as mini
branches (under the supervision of the district branches). In
addition, the bank had 45 service units which were able to
provide deposit services, and 899 district units scattered
around the local areas of districts, which served as places of
contact for its client farmers countrywide.

By the end of 2003, a total of 5.37 million farm
families, or 92.75 percent of all farm families countrywide
(based on the agricultural consensus of the National Statistical
Office which indicated that there were 5.79 million farm
families in 2003) had accessed credit services from the bank.
Of this total, 3.74 million farm families were individual
farmers that received credit directly from the bank, 1.62
million farm families were members of agricultural
cooperatives and 0.01 million farm families were member of
farmer associations. The total increase of clients during the
year was 95,081 farm families or a gain of 1.80 percent from
the preceding year. (Table 3)
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2. Deposit Services

Deposi' 'rom 'he General Public' ‘ BAAC attempted to .iI‘an‘O\{e and eXten‘d its depOSit
Fiscal years 1999-2003 services to be more diversified with the offering of new
deposit products as saving alternatives with the goal to fully
satisfy its clients. The bank improved its tax-free long-term
deposit services in which the depositor must make a monthly
payment in equal sums for 24 months. The amounts must be
at least THB 1,000 and cannot exceed THB 25,000. Interest of
THB million this type of deposit is an additional one percent to the interest
360000 paid for a 12 month deposit. When the 24 months period is
320000 reached, a bonus of two percent on the first month deposit will
280,000 be paid to the depositor. In addition, both the interest and the
e bonus on the deposit are exempted from income tax.

200000 The Thaweesin Savings Certificates were highly popular
deposit products offered by BAAC among the general public
being that they are deposits with cash prizes. As well as
receiving interest, depositors in the project participate in a
prize drawing held every 3 months. The first prize is THB 10

160,000
120,000
80,000

40,000 million paid in cash. Other prizes are also given out. In FY
0 2003, BAAC issued the Thaweesin Savings Certificates
deposit product in three lots. Each lot was worth THB five
il B2 Al Al gl A billion amounting to total deposits of THB 15 billion under

the project.
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Another popular deposit product among the general
public was the Thaweechoke Savings Accounts Deposits,
which included non-monetary prizes. Besides receiving
interest, depositors have the opportunity to win such prizes as
an automobile, a refrigerator, a television or a water pump.
BAAC holds drawings for the prizes every six months. The
prize drawings for the deposits made during July-December
2003 was held in January 19, 2004 countrywide. The event
was televised live from Ubol Ratchathani provincial office of
BAAC through television station of Thailand, channel 11. Mr.
Varathep Ratanakorn, deputy minister of finance, and acting
chairman of the BAAC Board of Directors chaired the
drawing.

At the end of FY 2003, BAAC had total outstanding

deposits of THB 321.52 billion, an increase of THB 37.835
billion or 13.34 percent over the preceding year.

3. Credit Services

At the end of FY 2003, BAAC’s outstanding credits
(loan principal outstanding) stood at THB 322 billion. Of this
amount, THB 258.137 billion was credit lent to farmers, THB
14.389 billion to agricultural cooperatives, THB 72 million to
farmer associations, THB 19.814 billion to government
secured loan projects, and THB 29.588 billion to other types
of credits, or 80.17, 4.47,0.02, 6.15, and 9.19 percent of the
outstanding credits, respectively, as shown in detail below:

Lending Operation (All Categories),
Fiscal Years 1999-2003

B Farmers
[ Farmer institutions

B Government Secured Loans project
B Loans to Village Fund

B Others THB million

360,000
320,000
280,000
240,000
200,000
160,000
120,000
80,000

40,000

Fiscal year 1999 2000

2001

2002

3.1 Credit Services for Farmers (including credits
for community enterprises and special projects)

In FY 2003, BAAC disbursed loans to individual
farmers worth THB 115.465 billion, up THB 21.851 billion or
an increase of 23.34 percent from the preceding year. During
the year, repayments made to the bank amounted to THB
102.131 billion or 85.76 percent of the matured principal and
by the end of FY 2003, the principal outstanding was THB
258.137 billion. (Table 4)

These figures included credit services for community
enterprises, which were classified as 2,645 groups and
190,182 individuals. In this area, the bank disbursed a total of
THB 15.571 billion in loans, up THB 4.145 billion or 36.28
percent from the previous year. During the year, repayments
made to the bank in this area amounted to THB 9.495 billion
or 96.95 percent of the matured principal and by the end of
FY 2003, the principal outstanding was THB 20.227 billion.

Credit services for special projects are made up of
projects which support credit for investment and expenses of
agricultural operations. BAAC extends credit under these
projects in cooperation with the government and private
sector. However, to participate in each project, the BAAC
Board of Directors had to approve the operations and relax the
criteria for normal loan lending. By the end of FY 2003,
BAAC had carried out the following: 1) implemented 132
special projects that operated before FY 2003 and still had
outstanding repayment periods. These projects disbursed a
total of THB 3.74 billion in loans to serve 56,689 farmers
operating on 591,495 rai of the project areas and raise a total
of 190,686 livestock; 2) disbursed a total of THB 888 million
in credit service to 1,882 village funds.

o1
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3.2 Credit Services for Agricultural Cooperatives

In FY 2003, BAAC extended credit services to
agricultural cooperatives worth THB 24.649 billion, down
THB 2.325 billion or 8.62 percent from the previous year.
During the year, repayments made to BAAC amounted to
THB 24.416 billion or 97.71 percent of the matured principal
and by the end of the fiscal year, the principal outstanding was
THB 14.389 billion. (Table 4)

3.3 Credit Services for Farmer Associations

In FY 2003, BAAC extended credit services to farmer
associations worth THB 25 million, down THB 9 million or
26.47 percent from the previous year. During the year,
repayments made to BAAC amounted to THB 32 million or
80 percent of the matured principal and by the end of the
fiscal year, the principal outstanding was THB 72 million.
(Table 4)

3.4 Credit Services for Government Secured Loan
Projects

The government secured loan projects are set up by the
government in response to cabinet resolutions or policy that
calls for the extension of credits for occupational promotion
and development and a better standard of living for farmers as
well as to assist farmers facing occupational problems.
Examples are damages from disasters or natural calamities
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which affect the output or quality of a farmer’s products or
falling prices. Government assistance may include a provision
of loans through BAAC with eased conditions including a low
rate of interest or some other forms of interest compensation.
Most of these credits have been for production or marketing.
Two examples are the Loans for Postponement of the Sale of
Farm Produce Project and the Revolving Fund to Help
Heavily Indebted Government Teachers Project.

By the end of FY 2003, BAAC extended credit services
under the government secured loan projects to more than three
million farm families. At the end of the fiscal year, the
principal outstanding amounted to THB 19.814 billion in
which THB 18.677 billion was classified as outstanding
principal owed by farmers, THB 228 million was owed by
farmer institutions and THB 909 million owed by the general
public.

3.5 Credit Services of Other Types

Besides the credit services mentioned above, BAAC
provided credit services worth THB 29.588 billion. These
credits were comprised of 1) Credit services to support the
sugar and sugarcane industry, amounting to THB 16.584
billion, 2) Loans to National Village and Urban Community
Fund amounting to THB one million per village. A total of
THB 10.958 billion in loans was transferred to the Village
Funds under the responsibility of BAAC in accordance with
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the government policy, 3) Loans secured by deposits worth
THB 1.603 billion 4) Housing loans worth THB 278 million,
5) Credit services under Non - Farm Micro Credit worth THB
85 million. Of this amount, THB 10 million was from the
revolving fund of Deutsche Gesellschaft Fuer Technische
Zusammenarbeit (GTZ), and THB 75 million from the
revolving fund of the European Union (EU), and 6) Financial
services under Islamic principles in the forms of sale on
credit, payment by installment and hire purchase totaled THB
80 million.

4. Loans in Arrears

At the end of 2003 BAAC loans in arrears were THB
23.973 billion or 7.45 percent of principal outstanding.
Summarized details are as follows:

4.1 Farmers

BAAC’s overdue loans from farmers amounted to THB
16.961 billion down THB 2.056 billion or 10.81 percent from
the previous year. Of this amount THB 6.526 billion or 38.48
percent was overdue for 0 - 1 year, THB 3.822 billion or 22.53
percent for 1 - 2 years and THB 6.613 billion or 38.99 percent
for more than 2 years. (Table 11)

At the end of 2003, the value of the loans in arrears was
6.57 percent of the loan principal outstanding, down from 7.87
percent recorded in the previous year.

4.2 Agricultural Cooperatives

BAAC’s overdue loans to agricultural cooperatives
amounted to THB 572 million down THB 1.016 billion or
63.98 percent from the previous year. At the end of 2003, the
value of the loans in arrears was 3.98 percent of the principal
outstanding, down from 11.21 percent noted in the preceding
year.

4.3 Farmer Associations

BAAC’s overdue loans to farmer associations amounted
to THB eight million, down THB one million or 11.11 percent
from the preceding year. At the end of 2003, the value of the
loans in arrears was 11.11 percent, up from 9.68 percent
recorded in the previous year.

Of note, BAAC changed its accounting policies on
acknowledgement of income and estimation of doubtful
accounts in FY 2003 to suit debtor conditions and make the
bank more stable. (Notes to Financial Statements No. 3)

4.4 Government Secured Loan Projects

BAAC’s overdue loans from government secured loan
projects amounted to THB 6.429 billion, up THB 298 million
or 4.86 percent over the previous year. At the end of 2003, the
value of the loans in arrears was 32.45 percent, up from 25.58
percent recorded in the previous year.

4.5 Credits of Other Types

BAAC’s overdue loans from other types of credits
amounted to THB 2.56 million, up from THB 2.46 million
noted in the preceding year.
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BAAC Operating Funa

At the end of FY 2003, the BAAC operating fund 1. Deposits
years (FYs 1999 - 2003), the bank’s operating fund grew atan  Tpig made up 83.04 percent of the total operating fund, up
average annual rate of 8.77 percent. The major sources of the  from 79,85 percent in the previous year.
operating fund have been deposits and borrowings. (Table 12)

Changes in the BAAC operating fund as at the end of
FY 2003 classified by source are as follows:
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2. Borrowings

Borrowings from local and overseas sources amounted
to THB 17.870 billion. Of this amount, THB 1.573 billion was
from local sources and THB 16.297 billion was from
overseas, (including loan adjustments at the end of FY 2003
for exchange rate fluctuations on overseas borrowings). This
was down THB 10.127 billion or 36.17 percent from the
previous year. Borrowings accounted for 4.61 percent of the
total operating fund, down from 7.88 percent recorded the
previous year.

During the FY 2003, BAAC repaid THB 6.394 billion
for loans that matured. Loan adjustments at the end of FY
2003 for exchange rate fluctuations on overseas borrowings
decreased the amount of principal outstanding by THB 3.733
billion.

3. Other Liabilities

BAAC’s other liabilities amounted to THB 15.168
billion, down THB 742 million or 4.66 percent from the
previous year. This amount was 3.92 percent of the total
operating fund, close to the 4.48 percent figure recorded in the
previous year.

4.  Shareholders Equity

Shareholders equity amounted to THB 32.644 billion,
up THB 4.953 billion or 17.89 percent over the previous year.
This accounted for 8.43 percent of the total operating fund,
close to the 7.79 percent figure recorded in the preceding year.
Transactions made to increase shareholders equity included
THB 2.390 billion from the Ministry of Finance classified as
THB 390 million paid from dividends to the Ministry of
Finance and THB two billion from the Ministry of Finance,
THB 11 million from agricultural cooperatives and
individuals, THB 1.586 billion from non-appropriated
retained earnings classified as THB 355 million from net
profit, THB 200 million from reserves, THB 997 million from
surplus from donations and THB 34 million from an increase
in capital from the Ministry of Finance and decrease of
deferred losses of THB 2.002 billion on exchange rate
fluctuations in the previous year. (Table 13)
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Operating Fund Classified by Source,
Fiscal Years 1999-2003

Il Deposits from the general public

B Borrowings

M Bonds

I Other liabilities

I Shsreholders THB million
400,000
360,000
320,000
280,000
240,000
200,000
160,000
120,000
80,000
40,000

Fiscal year 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Operating Fund Classified by Source,
Fiscal Year 2003

Deposits from the general public
321,520 THB million
(83.04%)

Borrowings
Shareholders 17,870 THB million
32,644 THB million (4.61%)
(8.43%)

Other Liabilities
15,168 THB million
(3.92%)
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Revenues, Expenses and Net Profit

In FY 2003, BAAC had a profit of THB 961 million. Its
total revenues was THB 19.227 billion and total expenses
amounted to THB 18.266 billion. The main points concerning
revenues, expenses and profit are summarized as follows:

1. Revenues

Income amounted to THB 19.227 billion, down THB
3.239 billion or 14.42 percent from the previous year. Most of
the income was from interest earned on loans which totaled
THB 15.078 billion or 78.42 percent of total income, a
decrease of THB 3.876 billion or 20.45 percent from the
previous year. The decrease can be attributed to a change in
accounting policies which set new criteria for the
acknowledgement of interest revenues. Effectively, it
cancelled out of the account the accrued interest receivable
entered as income in the previous year and the adjustment to
the cut in interest rates by 0.50 percent per annum effective
since 1 September 2003. Other income sources included
interest earned on deposits with other banks, interest earned
on government bonds, bills of financial institutions and the
bank fees. This other income totaled THB 4.149 billion or
21.58 percent of the bank’s total income, up THB 637 million
or 18.14 percent over the preceding year.

2. Expenses

The expenses amounted to THB 18.266 billion, down
THB 3.54 billion or 16.23 percent from the previous year.

Total expenses are classified into two main categories: costs
of funds and operating expenses. The costs of funds amounted
to THB 5.492 billion or 30.07 percent of total expenses, a
decrease of THB 907 million or 14.17 percent from the
preceding year. The decrease was due to the interest rate cut
made in conjunction with other financial institutions. The
operating expenses amounted to THB 12.774 billion or 69.93
percent of total expenses, a decrease of THB 2.633 billion or
17.09 percent from the previous year. The decrease was due to
the bank’s adjustments on the estimation of the full amount of
interest from doubtful accounts as set in the new criteria of the
policies concerning the acknowledgement of interest income.
The accrued interest receivable entered as income in the
previous year was removed from the account. There is no
longer an estimation of accrued interest receivable from
doubtful accounts in the bank’s statement. This procedure led
to a decrease of THB 3.418 billion in expenses of interest in
doubtful accounts in the fiscal year.

3. Net Profit

The net profit amounted to THB 961 million, up THB
301 million or 45.61 percent over the previous year. It
accounted for 2.94 percent of shareholders equity or 0.25
percent of the bank’s total operating fund. This net profit also
accounted for 0.31 percent of the average value of loan

principal, up from the 0.23 percent recorded in the preceding
year. (Table 14)
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
469 Nakhonsawan Road, Bangkok 10300, Thailand
Tel. 02280 0180,0 2281 7355 Fax : (662) 280 0442 Website : www.baac.or.th

No. 1050/12597 April 30, 2004
Subject: Audit certificate for the year ending March 31, 2004
To : Auditor General

This statement has been given to you in accordance with the Audit of the Financial Statements of the Bank for Agriculture
and Agricultural Cooperatives for the year ending March 31, 2004 in order to express our opinion whether or not the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural
Cooperatives as of March 31, 2004, and the results of the operation and the cash flow statements for the year that ended March
31,2004, are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

We and the bank’s executives are responsible for accuracy and completion of information in the financial statements you
have audited, which have been made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Thailand.

We would like to certify the details involving the financial statements you have audited, as we and other executives and
staff members of the bank deemed them to be:

1. There is no abnormal item involving acts of the executives or staff members whose main functions deal with
accounting and internal controls or no abnormal items that substantially affected the financial statements.

2. All account records and supporting documents and evidences of accounts including all meeting minutes of
shareholders and the bank’s Board of Directors (including summaries of the past meetings), have been presented for your audit.

3. The financial statements do not present information opposed to material facts that would affect present items and
information.

4. The bank has followed the conditions of all contracts, and the regulations of supervising organizations, otherwise these
may materially affect the financial statements.

5. In case the bank has the following items or information, we have noted or revealed them suitably and appropriately in
the financial statements.

5.1 Loss from commitment involving sale and purchase;

5.2 Assets used as security;

5.3 Other agreements not related to normal operation of the bank;

5.4 The bank has no agreement and right of redemption to purchase sold assets;

5.5 The bank has no oral agreements made in the names of its directors, staff or a third person.

6. We have precisely noted or revealed in the financial statements details concerning the preferred shares of the bank
available for staff members and others to buy. The bank has items involving rights and agreements to permit other people to buy
its ordinary shares. However, the bank has no items involving the warrants , no items of the ordinary shares reserved for claimed
rights under warrants and no transformation of shares or other conditions.

7. We would like to certify that we have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the value or arrangement of
types of assets and liabilities shown in the financial statements. However, this does not include the Debt Suspension and Debt
Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Projects set from April 2001 onwards in which the bank has to follow government
policy. The Project has to follow conditions specified by government.
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8. We would like to confirm that the bank has legal ownership of its all assets without any commitments or binds in assets
of the bank except ones that are revealed in the notes of the financial statements.

9. We have appropriately noted or revealed all liability items of the bank both which exist and may exist in the future. For
the issue concerning securities the bank has given to the third persons, the information is revealed in the notes of the financial
statements.

10. We would like to certify that there is no item concerning any person or activity involved.

11. There is no event happening during the date of the financial statements and the date of this note, which makes it
necessary to make adjustment of the financial statements or needs to set in the notes of the financial statements.

P N ) S Nele

(M. Pittayapol Nattaradol) (Mrs. Sringam Natao)
President Senior Vice President, Accounting Department
Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
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Auditors’ Report

To the shareholder of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives as of 31
March 2004 and 2003, and the related statements of profit and loss, retained earnings and cash flow for the years then ended.
These financial statements are under the responsibility of the management of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural
Cooperatives. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the
overall statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

According to the notes to financial statements No. 4.21.1, the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
acknowledges the full amount of deferred losses carried forward, resulting from exchange rate fluctuations plus the losses
resulting from the exchange rate as at the end of 31 March 2001, amounted to THB 2,002.67 million, as the deferred expenses to
be amortized over five years. These procedures comply with the criteria set forth by the Ministry of Finance but do not comply
with International Standards of Auditing. By following such procedures, the net profit as at the end of 31 March 2004 and 2003
were lower by THB 2,002.67 million for both years, and retained earnings as at the end of 31 March 2004 and 2003 were lower
by the same amounts, respectively.

According to the notes to financial statements No. 4.21.2, as at the end of 31 March 2004 and 2003, the Bank for
Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives fully repaid three and five foreign loan contracts in the respective years and
acknowledged losses resulting from exchange rate fluctuations of such contracts of THB 678.39 million and THB 638.87
million as the deferred expenses. This does not comply with International Standards on Auditing. By following such procedures,
the amount of net profits were higher by THB 678.39 million and THB 638.87 million and the deferred losses resulting from the
exchange rate fluctuations were higher by the same amount, respectively.

We regard the effects of the procedures aforementioned in the third and fourth paragraphs as a very important material
issue. Due to these effects, the profit and loss and the retained earnings statements of the bank, as at the years ended 31 March
2004 and 2003, do not present correctly and reasonably the performance and accumulated performance results in all material
respects, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Office of the Auditor General
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Excluding the viewpoints aforementioned in the fifth paragraph, in our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives, as of 31 March 2004 and
2003, the changes in the shareholders equity and the cash flows statements for the years then ended 31 March 2004 and 2003, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Without considering the view expressed on the financial statements, taking in account the notes to financial statements No.
3, the changes of accounting policies concerning acknowledgement of loan interest and estimation of doubtful account, in our
opinion, by following such changes, the amount of interest on loan principal was lower by THB 3,642.34 million, and the
amount of doubtful account of loan principle and doubtful account of loan interest were higher by THB 3,338.39 million and
lower by THB 3,417.79 million.

Watcharee Siriprasert
(Mrs. Watcharee Siriprasert)
Director of Audit Office

Vilai Lamlertluksanachai
(Miss Vilai Lamlertluksanachai)
Auditor 8
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
Balance Sheet
As of 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit: THB
Notes 2004 2003
Assets

Cash 2,786,890,257 2,223,339,991
Inter - bank accounts 4.1 1,763,605,937 1,316,523,470
Securities purchased with the right of redemption 4.2 52,391,000,000 43,865,000,000
Investment in securities 2443 3,672,819,688 6,757,466,003

Loans and accrued interest receivable
Loans 44 321,999,604,326 289,096,264,307
Accrued interest receivable 4.5 4,132,109,936 8,986,448,502
Total 326,131,714,262 298,082,712,809
Less doubtful debt reserves 4.6 55,243,107,007 48,091,273,501
Net loans and accrued interest receivable 270,888,607,255 249,991,439,308
Payment receivable account - government secured loan projects 49 48,796,981,855 43,396,081,078
Assets foreclosed 4.10 20,904,092 31,831,319
Net land, buildings and equipment 411 4,942,180,782 4,752,899,859
Other assets 412 1,939,224,806 2,948,464,473
Total assets 387,202,214,672 355,283,045,501

Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives

Balance Sheet

As of 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit: THB
Notes 2004 2003
Liabilities and shareholders equity
Deposits 413 321,519,564,190 283,685,404,823
Borrowings - one year due 1,006,920,096 9,671,710,776
- long term 16,863,203,772 18,324,937,982
Total borrowing 2.64.14 17,870,123,868 27,996,648,758
Accrued interest payable 1,085,921,588 1,126,660,747
Government scheme creditors 4.15 9,737,674,003 10,055,470,421
Retirement fund 4.16 222922905 201,701,970
Other liabilities 417 4,121,734,765 4,525,659,058
Total liabilities 354,557,941,319 327,591,545,777
Shareholders equity
Share capital
Authorized share capital
300,000,000 ordinary shares of THB 100 per share 30,000,000,000 30,000,000,000
15,000,000 preference shares of THB 100 per share 1,500,000,000 1,500,000,000
Issued and paid-up share capital 4.18
284,070,402 ordinary shares in 2004 and 260,063,111 in 2003 28,407,040,200 26,006,311,100
40,920 preference shares in 2004 and 82,758 in 2003 4,092,000 8,275,800
Increase in capital from the Ministry of Finance 4.19 34,000,000
Surplus from donation 4.20 - 997,375,333
Deferred losses due to exchange rate fluctuations 211421 (2,002,669,913) (4,005,339,826)
Retained earnings
Appropriated
Reserve 1,302,206,000 1,102,206,000
Non-appropriated retained earnings 4,933,605,066 3,548,671,317
Total shareholders equity 32,644,273,353 27,691,499,724
Total liabilities and shareholders equity 387,202,214,672 355,283,045,501
Items outside balance sheet - total commitments 422
Loan guarantee 1,262,500,000 3,789,500,000
Other commitments 481,744,999 448,030,435

Notes to Financial Statements are integral part of these statements

Office of the Auditor General
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives

Profit and Loss Statement

For the years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit: THB
Notes 2004 2003
Revenues from interests and dividends
Interest earned on loans 423 14,305,268,680  18,220,918,496
Income earned on cost of fund compensation-government secured loan projects 1,822,687,100 1,755,348,125
Income earned on inter-bank accounts 1,486,150 1,759,658
Interest earned on government bonds and bills of financial institutions 616,072,522 788,200,623
Income earned on investment 152,049 1,374,945
Income earned on bill discount purchases 718,953,172 674,076,287
Interest earned on deposits-secured loans 43,139,984 41,341,482
Interest earned on housing loans 10,678,648 17,563,501
Total revenues from interests and dividends 17,518,438,305  21,500,583,117
Interest Expenses
Interest paid on deposits 3,197,641,323 3,469,849,475
Interest paid on borrowings and promissory notes 916,324,665 1,543,367,777
Loan-related expenses - 221,498,910
Total interest expense 4,113,965,988 5,234,716,162
Net interest income and dividend 13,404,472,317 16,265,866,955
Bad and doubtfut accounts 23 425  4,966,157,946 8,029,628,539
Net interest income less bad and doubtful debts 8,438,314,371 8,236,238,416
Non-interest revenues
Fee and service income 467,341,301 310,955,869
Service compensation-government secured loan projects 879,401,617 536,305,163
Other income 4.24 362,485,634 118,299,452
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives

Changes of Shareholders Statement
for the years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit: THB
Issued and Increase in Surplus from Deferred losses Retained Total
paid - up capital from donations due to exchange earnings
share capital the Ministry rate fluctuations
of Finance
Balance as of 1 April 2003 25,699,855,700 34,000,000 999,139,101 (6,008,009,739)  4,299,410,777  25,024,395,339
Deferred losses due to exchange 2,002,669,913 2,002,669,913
rate fluctuations
Surplus from donations (1,763,768) (1,763,768)
Net profit 660,013,465 660,013,465
Dividends paid
Preference shares (248,274) (248,274)
Ordinary shares - (308,298,651)  (308,298,651)
Ordinary shares 314,731,200 314,731,200
Balances as of 31 March 2003 26,014,586,900 34,000,000 997,375,333 (4,005,339,826) 4,650,877,317  27,691,499,724
Balance as of 1 April 2003 26,014,586,900 34,000,000 997,375,333 (4,005,339,826)  4,650877,317  27,691,499,724
Adjustments increase (decrease)
Surplus from warchouse construction (34,000,000) 34,000,000
Surplus from EU donations (957,111,266) 957,111,266
Surplus from Belgium donations (23,136,206) 23,136,206
Surplus from assets donations (17,127,861) (17,127,861)
Balance as of 1 April 2003 26,014,586,900 (4,005,339,826)  5,605,124,789  27,674,371,863
after adjustments
Deferred losses due to exchange 2,002,669,913 2,002,669,913
rate fluctuations
Net profit 961,008,528 961,008,528
Dividend paid
Preference shares (227,585) (227,585)
Ordinary shares (390,094,666)  (390,094,666)
Ordinary shares 2,400,729,100 2,400,729,100
Preference shares (4,183,800) (4,183,800)
Balance as of 31 March 2004 28,411,132,200 - (2,002,669,913) 6,235,811,006  32,644,273,353

Notes to Financial Statements are integral part of these statements
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
Statement of Retained Earnings and Profit Appropriation

for the years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit : THB
2004 2003
Appropriated retained earnings
Reserves
Reserves brought forward 1,102,206,000 947,906,000
Increase during the year 200,000,000 154,300,000
Total appropriated retained earnings 1,302,206,000 1,102,206,000
Non-appropriated retained earnings
Retained earnings brought forward adjustments 3,548,671,317 3,351,504,777
Surplus from warehouse construction 34,000,000
Surplus from EU donations 957,111,266
Surplus from Belgium donations 23,136,206
Retained earnings brought forward after adjustments 4,562,918,789 3,351,504,777
Net profit of the period 961,008,528 660,013,465
Less : Reserves 200,000,000 154,300,000
Dividends 390,322,251 308,546,925
Total non - appropriated retained earning 4,933,605,066 3,548,671,317
Total retained earnings 6,235,811,066 4,650,877,317

Notes to Financial Statements are integral part of these statements
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
Cash Flow Statement
for the years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003

Unit: THB
2004 2003
Cash flow from operations
Net profit 961,008,528 660,013,465
Adjustment against net profit balance to compute cash
received (paid) from operations
Depreciation of assets and leasehold amortization 502,678,590 503,193,250
Bad and doubtful accounts 4,966,157,946 8,002,702,802
(Profits) from sales of assets (55,099,295) (19,307,781
Losses due to exchange rate fluctuations 1,377,820,466 1,164,208,042
Stock devaluation reserve - 192,000
retransferred as income (18,460,000) -
Decrease of accrued interest receivable 4,853,975,556 1,422,237,740
Profit form operation before changes in operation assets and liabilities 12,588,081,791 11,733,239,518
Operation assets (increase) decrease
Loans (30,715,001,641) (4,035,409,693)
Properties foreclosed 10,927,227 731,341
Other assets (4,434,482,465) (20,610,176,348)
Operation liabilities increase (decrease)
Deposits 37,834,159,366 21,262,210,093
Other liabilities (741,238,935) 764,737.211
Net cash received from operation activities 14,542,445,343 9,115,332,122
Cash flow from investment activities
Decrease (increase) of investment in purchased securities (8,526,000,000) 3,764,000,000
with the right of redemption
Decrease (increase) of investment in securities 3,103,106,316 (1,599,049,071)
Cash paid for purchased of land, building and equipment (657,805,301 ) (285,728,090)
Cash received from sales of land, building and equipment 44,338,769 28,474,599
Net cash from investment activities (6,036,360,216) 1,907,697,438
Cash flow from fund procurement activities
Cash paid for long term loans repayment (9,501,675,443) (10,992,857,003)
Cash received from increase in capital from ordinary shares 2,400,729,100 314,731,200
Cash paid for redemption of preference shares (4,183,800) -
Decrease of surplus from donations - (1,763,768 )
Dividends paid (390,322,251) (308,546,925)
Net cash from fund procurement activities (7,495,452,394) (10,988,436,496)
Net increase of cash and cash equivalent 1,010,632,733 34,593,064
Cash and cash equivalent accounts as of 1 April 2003 3,539,863,461 3,505,270,397
Cash and cash equivalent accounts As of 31 March 2004 4,550,496,194 3,539,863,461

Notes to Financial Statements are integral part of these statements
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Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003

1.  Criteria of Financial Statement Presentation

Financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2004 and 2003 are in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Thailand

2. Summary of Key Accounting Policies
2.1 Accounting period is from 1 April to 31 March the following year.
2.2 Acknowledgement of income and expenses are generally applied on the criteria of an overdue basis:

2.2.1 Loan Interest of Farmers: Acknowledgement is based on the time span by determining the real return of
assets, which was acknowledged from normal principles, up to the date of loan maturity specified by the contract. In case the
debtor is unable to make interest payment as promised, the acknowledgement of income will be cancelled. The accrued interest
receivable recorded as income will be cancelled out of the account at the end of the next fiscal year Onward from fiscal year
2005, the accrued interest receivable recorded as income will be cancelled out of the account within six months from the date of
loan maturity. Payment of interest overdue will be acknowledged as income when actually paid.

2.2.2 Loan Interest of Farmer Institutions: Acknowledgement is based on the time span by determining the real
term of return of assets, which was acknowledged from normal principles, up to the fiscal year end of the farmer institution. In
case the debtor is unable to make loan repayment, the interest of the first period will be compounded to the loan principle. In the
next period, in case the debtor is still unable to make loan repayment, the acknowledgement of income will be cancelled.
Payment of interest overdue will be acknowledged as income when actually paid.

2.2.3. Interest from restructured loans including combined principal and interest of debtors of the Debt
Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project originated from overdue debts is acknowledged
as income when actually paid.

2.24 Dividends are acknowledged when a shareholder has the right to receive the dividend payment.

2.3 Doubtful Accounts: The accounts are estimated as a percentage of total liabilities by analyzing past experiences and
debts classified as overdue. The estimate is based on the following criteria:

2.3.1 Farmer accounts: Doubtful account are estimated based on the overdue period of the loan principal at 40
percent of loan principal for 0-1 year, 70 percent for 1-2 years and 100 percent for more than two years. The doubtful accounts
will gradually be written off in full as specified by the mentioned criteria, within the fiscal year 2005.

2.3.2 Farmer institutional accounts: Doubtful accounts are estimated based on the overdue period of the loan
principal at 40 percent of the loan principal overdue for 0 - 1 year, 70 percent for 1 - 2 years, and 100 percent for more than 2
years.

2.3.3 Litigation accounts: Doubtful accounts are estimated at full amount of indebtedness.

2.3.4 Natural disaster victims and collectively unsure debt accounts of restructured loans and loans in the
Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project: The doubtful accounts are estimated from
the balance of the loan based on principal balance as a percentage of losses unable to be fully paid.
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2.4 Investment in securities
- Debts instruments are held until expiry and losses are written off then;

- Funds for long-term investments in general are recorded at cost and incurred losses are acknowledged in the profit
and loss statement.

2.5 Land, building and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. The depreciation is computed
by the following straight line methods:

Buildings: five percent per year;
Vehicle and equipment: 15-27 percent per year.

Leasehold: In case of land, amortization is made in accordance with the terms of the lease. In the case of buildings mostly
constructed on crown property land, amortization is made at five percent per year.

2.6 Foreign borrowings: A record is made in baht in accordance with the foreign exchange selling rate of commercial
banks on the date of transaction. An adjustment of overdue borrowings will be made on the last date of the accounting period in
accordance with the selling rate of commercial banks on that day. The different at the year ended 31 March 2001 was
acknowledged as a gain or loss from exchange rate fluctuations to be amortized as deferred expenses on a five-year average, as
approved by the Ministry of Finance. From 1 April 2001 the difference would be acknowledged in full as a gain or loss from
exchange rate fluctuations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

2.7 Income Pending for Acknowledgement is a financial assistance grant or donation, which may be received in cash
or as an asset. The income supports the achievement of operational objectives. It is shown as a liability as income pending
acknowledgement, which is gradually written off as income in accordance with systematic criteria by matching income with
related expenses.

2.8 Deferred losses from the application of the managed float exchange system were announced by the government
to change the original “basket of currencies” to the “ managed float” exchange system on 2 July 1997. At the year ended 31
March 2001, BAAC acknowledged the losses incurred from the application of the managed float exchange system as deferred
expenses to be amortized by a five-year average as approved by the Ministry of Finance.

2.9 Borrowings under a special exchange rate agreement are loans borrowed from the government of Japan after 31
October 1978 which were later sold to the Bank of Thailand (BOT) with a special agreement on the right of redemption. For the
year ending 31 March 2002, a different rate of exchange on the date of receipt and sale of the loans was acknowledged in full as
a gain or loss from sales of the whole amount. For the year ending 31 March 2001, the difference was acknowledged as a
deferred loss to be amortized as expenses on a five-year average as approved by the Ministry of Finance.

Another condition of the special agreement on the sale of the loans with the right of redemption of the Bank of Thailand
was that if the central bank deemed it necessary to convert Japanese yen into other currencies and later if the funds are converted
back to yen at a loss, BAAC shall bear the risk.

2.10 Adjustment of principal outstanding to conform with the exchange risk pooling system (ERPS): Under the
agreed conditions of the loans borrowed from the World Bank and the Asian Development Bank, which were based on the
exchange risk pooling system, the ERPS requires the borrower to accept a gain or loss resulting from the system, at an amount
informed by the creditors. BAAC acknowledges gains or losses recorded in the active exchange reserve (shown in the
borrowing issues) coupled with the account of deferred loss resulting from the adjustment of the loan outstanding, which is
gradually written off. For the year ending 31 March 2001, the loss was amortized as an expense over a five-year average as
approved by the Ministry of Finance. The loan principals were fully paid in FY 2000.

2.11 Deferred gains (losses) from exchange rate fluctuations and amortization as shown in No. 2.6 and 2.8 - 2.10
were included in the deferred profits (losses) from exchange rate fluctuations as an amount subtracted from the shareholders
equity in the balance sheet.
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2.12 Basic net profit per share was computed from net profit less dividends paid on preferred shares at an interest rate
equal to that of the 12-month fixed deposit rate, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

2.13 Cash and Cash Equivalent in the cash flow statements included cash and deposits at banks with the withdrawal
period not exceeding 3 months.

3. Changes of Accounting Policies

In the year under review, BAAC changed its accounting policies on acknowledgement of interest income and
estimation of doubtful accounts of both farmers and farmer institutions to fit with the present debtor conditions. At the fiscal
year ended 31 March 2003, BAAC acknowledged interest income and estimated doubtful accounts as follows:

Acknowledgement of loan interest income is based on the time span, determining the real return of assets, by
acknowledging loan interest earned from farmers as income from normal debtors for interest from loans both paid on time and
overdue for less than one year. Payments of interest overdue for more than one year and interest of litigation debtors will be
acknowledged as income when actually paid.

Doubtful Accounts are estimated as a percentage of total liabilities by analyzing past experiences and the amount of
time the debts are overdue, which is used to classify clients. The estimate is based on the following criteria:

Farmer Accounts:

- Loan Principal Overdue, doubtful accounts are estimated at 10 percent and increased by 10 percent each year the
loan principal is overdue for one year or more but not exceeding two years. But the overdue principal from a restructured loan is
recorded in full as a doubtful account;

- Interest Due, uncollected interest due which is entered as income in the previous fiscal year account, is recorded
in full as a doubtful account.

Farmer Institution Accounts

- Agricultural Cooperatives, doubtful accounts are estimated from loan principal and interest balances at four,
five, and 10 percent, for the first, second and third class cooperatives, respectively.

- Farmer Associations, doubtful accounts for active farmer associations are recorded at 10 percent of the combined
loan principal and interest outstanding, for defunct farmer associations the full amount is recorded.

From 1 April 2003, in accordance with the new policies, BAAC acknowledged income and interest and estimated doubtful
accounts as follows:

3.1 Acknowledgement of Loan Interest is based on the time span by determining the real return of assets as shown
below:

3.1.1 Farmer Loan Interest is acknowledged from normal loan principal up to the date of its maturity. In case the
debtor is unable to make interest payments as promised, the acknowledgement of income will be cancelled from the accounts in
the last day of the following fiscal year. From FY 2005, accrued interest receivable entered as income will be cancelled out of
the accounts within six months from the date of the maturity of the loan principal. The loan interest overdue is acknowledged
when actually paid.

3.1.2 Farmer Institution Loan Interest is acknowledged from normal loan principal up to the fiscal year end of
the farmer institution. In case the debtor is unable to make loan repayment, interest of the first period will be compounded with
the principal. In the next period, in case the debtor is still unable to make a loan repayment, the acknowledgement of income
will be cancelled. Payment of overdue interest is acknowledged as income when actually paid.

3.2 Doubtful Accounts are estimated as a percentage of total liability by analyzing past experiences and the
classification of the clients, which is based on the overdue time period. The estimate is based on the following criteria:
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3.2.1 Farmer Accounts: Doubtful accounts are based on the mature loan principal and the overdue time period with
40 percent of the loan principal classified as overdue for 0 - 1 year, 70 percent for 1 - 2 years, and 100 percent for more than two
years. The doubtful accounts will be gradually written off as specified by the mentioned criteria within the fiscal year 2005.

3.2.2 Farmer Institution Accounts: Doubtful accounts are based on the mature loan principal and the overdue time
period with 40 percent classified as overdue for 0 - 1 year, 70 percent for 1 - 2 years, and 100 percent for more than two years.

By implementing these changes in the accounting policies, the amount of interest earned from loan principal was
lower by THB 3,642.34 million, and the amount of doubtful accounts of the loan principal was higher by THB 3,338.39 million.
By following the new criteria on acknowledgement of interest income, the amount of THB 3,417.79 million of the accrued
interest receivable entered as income in the previous fiscal year was cancelled out of the account, and the amount of doubtful
accounts of interest was lower by the same amount.

By comparison, the BAAC’s financial statements for the fiscal year end 31 March 2003 had not been adjusted to
follow the new accounting policies on acknowledgement of loan interest as the bank was unable to compute interest income
under the new criteria from the base of accounts which was moving and changing at all times.

4., Additional Information
4.1 Inter - bank accounts
Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
On Demand On Demand

Bank of Thailand 513.00 414.00
Commercial banks 994.88 719.46
Others 255.73 183.06
Total 1,763.61 1,316.52

Inter-bank accounts - others at the years ending on 31 March 2004 and 2003 amounted to THB 225.73 million and
THB 183.06 million. This included THB 53.08 million and THB 51.87 million of deposits of the Housing Fund.

4.2 Securities purchased with the right of redemption: BAAC purchased with the right of redemption to sell back
government bonds worth THB 52.391 billion yielding interest worth THB 513.33 million by 31 March 2003. The resale market
was at the Bank of Thailand.
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4.3 Investment in securities comprised of the following:
4.3.1 Temporary investments are debt instruments with maturity up to one year. They are:
Unit: THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

BOT bonds 600.00 -
Promissory notes 2,000.00 5,700.00
Total 2,600.00 5,700.00

4.3.2 Long term investment
1) Debt instruments held to maturity comprised of:
Unit: THB million

Maturity Maturity 31 March 2004 31 March 2003

within 2-5 years  within 6-10 years Total Total

Government bonds 512.68 97.80 610.48 614.25
State enterprise bonds 300.00 50.02 350.02 349.36
Total 812.68 147.82 960.50 963.61

2) Investment in other securities
These securities are the ordinary shares of the following companies:
Unit: THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Shares of the National Fertilizer (Public), Co.,Ltd. 3.20 3.20
Shares of the Thai Agri-business Co., Ltd. 12.00 12.00
Shares of Thai-Denmark Dairy Co., Ltd. 10.00 10.00
Share of Thai Agro Exchange Co., Ltd. 100.00 100.00
Total 125.20 125.20
Less stock devaluation accounts 12.88 31.34
Net investment in other securities 112.32 93.86
Total investment in securities 3,072.82 0,757.47

In this period BAAC received THB 0.15 million of paid dividends from the Thai Agri - Business Co., Ltd.
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4.4  Loans comprised of the following:
4.4.1 Loans to farmers, farmer institutions, government secured loans projects and other loans.
Unit: THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Loans to farmers and farmer institutions

Farmers 258,137.20 241,715.33
Agricultural cooperatives 14,389.43 14,170.01
Farmer associations 71.53 92.90
Total lending to farmers and farmer institutions 272,598.16 255,978.24
Loans to government secured loan projects

Farmers 18,677.82 22.754.67
People in general 907.71 846.70
Agricultural cooperatives 222.19 367.30
Farmer associations 571 0.42

Total loan to government secured

loans projects 19,813.49 23,969.09
Total loan to farmers, farmer institutions
and government secured loans projects 292,411.65 279,947.33
4.4.2 GTZ revolving fund accounts 9.64 10.70
4.4.3 EU revolving fund accounts 75.06 31.72
4.4.4 Village fund accounts 10,958.22
4.4.5 Other loans
Discounted bills 16,584.21 7,665.69
Housing fund accounts 278.36 339.13
Deposit-guaranteed accounts 1,602.31 1,087.10
Islamic accounts: Sales on credit,
installments, and hire purchase 80.15 14.59
Total other loans 18,545.03 9,106.51
Grand total 321,999.60 289,096.26

Loans to government secured loan projects are those BAAC extended to farmers, farmer institutions and the general
public (school teachers). The bank received the funds from government agencies and provided its own funds to extend to the
government secured loan projects. In return, BAAC received service charges and compensation for costs of fund.
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Analysis of loans to farmers and farmer institutions is as follows:

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
Principal Doubtful % Principal Doubtful %

account account
Loans 265,781.76 25,174.13 947  250499.36  14,281.97 570
Overdue loans 23,876.13 12,290.18 5147 26,731.66  14,836.90 55.50
Litigated loans 1,846.05 1,790.63 97.00 1,869.62 1,815.29 97.09
Total 291,503.94 39,254.94 1347  279,100.64  30,934.16 11.08

4.5 Net accrued interest receivable comprised of the following:

Farmers

Agricultural cooperatives

Farmer associations

Accrued interest receivable of deposit-guaranteed loans
Accrued interest receivable of village funds

Total

Unit; THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
4,045.45 8,928.00

5.54 31.24

0.14 1.61

19.75 19.60

61.23 -

4,132.11 8,986.45

The accrued interest receivable for farmers, agricultural cooperatives and farmer associations less doubtful accounts
amounted to THB 4,051.13 million. Of this amount, THB 3,246.61 million was interest due and THB 804.52 million was

overdue interest.
4.6  Doubtful accounts comprised of:

Doubtful accounts - principal

Doubtful accounts - farmer interest accounts restructured
Doubtful accounts - interests

Total

Office of the Auditor General

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
39,257.01 30,934.21
15,986.10 13,739.27

3417.79
55,243.11 48,091.27
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4.7 Restructuring of delinquent accounts

BAAC restructured the delinquent accounts to ease the repayment requirements for clients, help keep clients
operating and raise the caliber of the clients’ debt payments. Concurrently, the restructuring helped improve and develop the
bank’s debt quality and the bank did not incur any losses. . This debt restructuring was not booked as a loss to the bank. It
involved drawing up two new contracts from several contracts made for the original obligations. The first contract, bearing
interest at the normal rate, included only the originally combined principals of all contracts. The second one, bearing no interest,
included only the combined interests of all contracts. The new period of the payments do not exceed 20 years. At the same time,
the bank extended loans for occupational rehabilitation to clients who were in real need. The criteria, operating steps and method
of the debt restructuring were approved by BAAC’s Board of Director and the Bank of Thailand.

As at 31 March 2004, outstanding restructured loans were comprised of :
No. of Contracts THB million
Loan accounts restructured

- combined principal 190,772 37,690.82
- combined interest 245,946 15,797.84
- occupational rehabilitation 0,725 434.44
Total 443,443 53,923.10

The amount accounted for 20.89 percent of the total loans of farmer accounts.
4.8 Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project

BAAC operated the projects for small-scale farmers in accordance with the government policy for a three-year
period, 1 April 2001- 31 March 2004. Farmers were initially allowed to enroll in the projects during 1 April 2001 - 30 June
2001. The time period was later extended to 31 March 2002. The projects helped small-scale farmers who faced debt repayment
problems. In case of debt suspension, the involved farmers were permitted to suspend repayment of loan principal, free of
interest, for three years. In case of debt burden reduction, the involved farmers who pay loan principal and interest as usual
received interest compensation at a rate of three percent per annum from the government. The government appropriated in its
budget about THB six billion per annum for compensation paid to BAAC. The compensation was equal to the amount of unpaid
interest by farmers and debt burden reduction for farmers. In this fiscal year, BAAC received THB 4,719.47 million as
compensation from the government and reimbursed the debt suspension and debt burden reduction projects THB 4,637.99
million.

Results of operations of the Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small - Scale Farmers Projects from 1
April 2001 - 31 March 2004, are summarized as follows:

No. of Farmers THB million

Clients eligible to enroll in the projects 2,397,780 97,807.83
Clients who enrolled in debt suspension option 878,555 41,006.28
Clients who enrolled in debt burden reduction option 1,065,474 34,470.39
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4.9 Payment receivable accounts - government secured loan projects, comprised of:

Unit; THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
Payment receivable accounts:
- the Public Warehouse Organization and Farmers Marketing Organization 47,743.45 42,326.07
- the Farmer Assistance Measure and Policy Committee 417.08 190.07
Compensation receivable accounts:
- Flood Project in 1995 0.52 0.64
- Dong Theparat Model Village Project 4.19
- Ayutthaya Abandoned Rice Field Project 0.48
- Farmers Facing Flowering Sweet Bamboo Problem 10.20 29.42
- Flood Project in 2002 596.58 845.21
- Cooperatives’ Cotton Insect and Disease Control Project 26.45
- Avian Influenza Project 2.70
Total payment receivable accounts
- government secured loan projects 48,796.98 43,396.08

4.10 Assets foreclosed were properties obtained from debt repayments, comprised of land and buildings. At 31 March
2004 and 2003, the cost outstanding of assets foreclosed amounted to THB 20.90 million and THB 31.83 million, respectively.

4.11 Land, buildings and equipment comprised of the following:

Unit: THB million

31 March 2003 31 March 2004
Cost Up Down Balance
Land, buildings and equipment
Land 2,318.80 10.35 - 2,329.15
Buildings 2,748.55 51.37 0.02 2,805.90
Building improvement and supplementary construction ~ 289.75 - 0.39 289.36
Furniture and equipment 3,362.47 374.99 151.16 3,586.30
Vehicles 1,213.41 335.59 143.13 1,405.87
Assets during transition 305.19 153.94 274.44 184.69
Total 10,238.17 932.24 569.14 10,601.27
Accumulated depreciation buildings 1,498.13 126.45 1,624.58
Building improvement and
supplementary construction 206.23 12.43 0.29 218.37
Furniture and equipment 2,81741 228.64 150.47 2,895.58
Vehicles 963.50 97.08 140.02 920.56
Total 5,485.27 464.60 290.78 5,659.09
Land, buildings and equipment 4,752.90 4,942.18
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Assets depreciation, leasehold written off

Depreciation

Building improvement and supplementary construction written off
Leaseholds written off

Total

4.12 Other assets comprised of the following:

Accrued interest receivable
- deposits at bank

Accrued interest receivable
- investment fund

Pledged money

Advance payments

Other accounts

Treasury supplies

Accrued income receivable

Deferred expenses written off

Fuel oil

Leasehold

Total other assets

4.13 Deposits comprised of:

Payment on demand

Savings deposit

Payment at maturity
- Not exceeding 6 months
- Exceeding 6 months up to one year
- Exceeding one year

Thaweesin Savings Certificates

Total deposits

Office of the Auditor General

Unit: THB million

31 March 2003 31 March 2004
464.94 462.04

29.94 31.86

8.31 8.78

503.19 502.68

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
0.05 0.12
26.01 31.37
1.93 10.36
9.67 10.46
167.18 221.59
4.21 5.54
1,515.99 2,460.69
186.54 173.25
0.15 0.19
21.43 28.89
1,939.22 2,948.46

Unit: THB million

31 March2004 31 March 2003
908.74 880.10
227,484.55 192,655.38
30,166.72 38,972.41
2,571.60 5,272.85
31,036.13 26,066.27
29,351.82 19,838.39
321,519.56 283,685.40
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4.14  Borrowings comprised of the following:
Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
Repayment ~ Repayment Total ~ Repayment  Repayment Total
within exceeding within ~ exceeding
one year one year one year one year
Local borrowings 605.42 967.12 1,572.54 605.42 1,574.68  2,180.10
Overseas borrowings :
Loans from government of
Japan (JBIC) 401.50 4,767.95 5,169.45 4,769.29 517418 9,943.47
Loans from commercial
banks (SWAP) - 1,000.33 1,000.33 4,297.00 956.50  5,253.50
Loans from company - 2,886.39 2,886.39 - 2,759.94  2,759.94
Loans from Ministry of
Finance - Yankee bonds - 7,241.41 7,241.41 - 7,859.64  7,859.64
Total borrowings 1,006.92 16,863.20  17,870.12 9,671.71  18,324.94 27,996.65

Loan from company was under contract AIG - FP No. 1, and was fully repaid in FY 2000. In FY 2003 the deferred
expense outstanding brought forward was THB 4.25 million. Of this amount, THB 2.12 million was acknowledged as an
expense of the year under review, the outstanding THB 2.13 million was recorded as a deferred expense to be amortized over
one year.

Loans from the World Bank and ADB under two contracts No.ADB787-THA and IBRD2310-TH were subject to
the Exchange Risk Pooling System. In FY 2000, BAAC fully repaid both of the loan contracts. In FY 2003, the deferred expense
outstanding brought forward was THB 223.36 million. Of this amount THB, 111.68 million was acknowledged as expense of
the year under review, the outstanding THB 111.68 million was recorded as a deferred expense to be amortized over one year.

Loans from German government (KFW) under three contracts No. 1 - 3. All contracts were fully repaid in FY
2000. In FY 2003, the deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 68.14 million. Of this amount, THB 34.07
million was acknowledged as expense of the year under review. The outstanding THB 34.07 million was recorded as a deferred
expense to be amortized over one year.

Loans from the government of Japan, (JBIC) were sold with the right of redemption to the BOT (for loans under
contracts No. 1-5 only). In FY 1983, BAAC’s estimated loss from exchange rate was THB 171.87 million, of which THB
139.36 million, the accumulated loan paid by average installment each year, was amortized in FY 2002 and THB 4.72 million
was acknowledged as income in the fiscal year under review. The outstanding THB 34.07 million was included in the loans from
the government of Japan.

In FY 2001, the loan under contract No. 16 was fully repaid by BAAC. In FY 2003, its deferred expense outstanding
brought forward was THB 8.64 million, of which THB 4.32 million was acknowledged as expense of the fiscal year under
review. The outstanding THB 4.32 million was recorded as a deferred expense to be amortized over one year.

In the fiscal year under review, the loans under contracts No. 14 and 15 were fully repaid by BAAC. In FY 2003, the
deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 782.89 million. Of this amount, THB 391.45 million was
acknowledged as an expense in the year. The outstanding THB 391.44 million was recorded as deferred expense to be amortized
over one year.
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Loans from the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) In FY 2002, the loans were fully paid
by BAAC. In 2003, their deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 28.36 million. Of this amount, THB 14.18
million was acknowledged as an expense in the year. The outstanding THB 14.18 million was recorded as a deferred expense to
be amortized over one year.

Loans from the Asian Development Bank (ADB) under two contracts No. 1423-THA and 1540-THA, were fully
paid by the bank in FY 2002. In FY 2003, their deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 591.64 million. Of this
amount, THB 295.82 million was acknowledged as an expense in the year. The outstanding THB 295.82 million was recorded
as a deferred expense to be amortized over one year.

Loans from the US government (AID) under two contracts No.AID141/1976 and AID154/1977 were fully paid by
BAAC. In FY 2003, their deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 18.88 million. Of this amount, THB 9.44
million was acknowledged as expense in this fiscal year. The outstanding THB 9.44 million was recorded as a deferred expense
to be amortized over one year.

Loans from Commercial Bank under contract with the Bangkok Bank Co., Ltd. were fully paid by the bank in the
year under review. In 2003, the deferred expense outstanding brought forward was THB 573.90 million. Of this amount, THB
286.95 million was acknowledged as an expense in the year. The outstanding THB 286.95 million was recorded as a deferred
expense to be amortized over one year.

4.15 Government-Project Creditors

BAAC obtained funds from government agencies for extending credit to farmers, farmer institutions and the general
public (school teachers) under government policy. On account of credit lending to special projects, BAAC was required to repay
the funds to the government agencies when the farmers, farmer institutions and the general public repaid their loans. The
government- project creditors are as follows:

Unit: THB million

Creditor 31 March 2004 31 March 2003
Fertilizers of Ministry of Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives 1.76 2.31
Agricultural Restructuring Plan 8.35 9.42
Economic Perennial Tree Planting for Cassava Control Project 2.70 2.90
Cassava Planted Area Control Pilot Project 28.93 29.88
Field Level Water Source Development project 0.25 0.31
Agricultural Rehabilitation Plan 1,707.38 1.,855.37
Agricultural Production System Restructuring Plan 4,434.90 4,610.00
Land Fund 1,368.45 1,368.12
Revolving Fund of School Teachers 907.70 846.69
Fund for Loaning to Farmers and Poor People 1,277.25 1,330.47
Total government project 9,737.67 10,055.47
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4.16 Retirement Fund

to retired employees. Changes of the retirement fund are summarized as follows:

4.17 Other Liabilities comprised of:

This fund is held in accordance with the retirement fund regulations. Its objective is to keep the money for payment

Retirement fund brought forward

Added to retirement fund during the year

Pension paid and transferred to the provident fund

Year end outstanding committed for payment to retired employees

Interest received in advance
Cashier and gift checks
[nsurance money

Accrued expense payable
Insurance fund reserve

Other creditors

Total other liabilities

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
201.70 182.17

23,51 23.12

(2.29) (3.59)

22292 201.70

Unit; THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
141.86 73.99

296.93 304.54

12.92 579

1,694.63 1,494.04

71.65 71.66

1,903.74 2,575.64
4,121.73 4,525.66

In a breakdown of other creditor accounts, which amounted to THB 1,903.74 million, THB 307.47 million was liability
repayable to government agencies, THB 797.67 million to clients and people outside the bank and THB 798.67 million to

others.
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4.18 Share Capital comprised of:
Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Number of shares Value Number of shares Value
Ordinary shares
Ministry of Finance 283,548,059  28,354.8059 259,653,260  25,965.3260
Agricultural institutions 460,304 46.0304 375,104 37.5104
Private individuals 62,039 6.2039 34,747 3.4747
Total 284,070,402  28,407.0402 260,003,111 26,006.3111
Preference shares
Farmer institutions 4512 0.4512 4512 0.4512
Private individuals 36,408 3.6408 78,246 7.8246
Total 40,920 4.0920 82,758 8.2758
Total share capital 284,111,322 28,411.1322 260,145,869  26,014.5869

Ordinary shares: In this period, the Ministry of Finance purchased an additional 23,894,799 shares. Of this amount,
3,894,799 shares were purchased with dividend payments made by BAAC to the Ministry of Finance, and 20 million shares
were purchased with funds from the annual expense budget. Another 85,200 shares were purchased by farmer institutions and
27,292 shares were purchased by private individuals. As a result, the value of issued and paid-up share capital increased to
284,070,402 shares worth THB 28,407.0402 million (The Ministry of Finance holds 99.82 percent of total share capital).

Preference shares: The shares are valued at THB 100 each and have a five-year maturity from the date of issue. The
shares are redeemed on the due date. Dividends are accumulated for three years calculated in reference to the 12-month fixed
deposit rate. In this period, private individuals redeemed on maturity their 41,838 shares worth THB 4,183,800.

4.19 Increase in Capital from Government

The cabinet resolution on 30 September 1986 permitted the appropriation of THB 34 million from the annual
expense budget for the Economic Growth Recovery Acceleration Project. The funds were taken by BAAC as increase in capital
for the construction of a large paddy warehouse that was finished in 1990. In the year under review, the fund was fully
transferred to the retained earnings account to conform to generally accepted accounting principles.

4.20 Surplus from Donations comprised of:
Unit: THB million

31 March2004 31 March 2003

Surplus from EU donations - 957.11
Surplus from asset donations - 17.13
Surplus from Belgian government donations - 23.14
Total surplus from donations - 997.38

In the year under review, BAAC transferred the surplus from the donation account to retained earnings and income
pending for acknowledgement account to comply with generally accepted accounting principles.
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Surplus from European Union donations: The EU granted assistance in-kind of fertilizer donations to BAAC
during 1984-1988. The project ended in FY 1988. In this period, the donations were fully transferred to the retained earnings
account.

Surplus from donations from the Belgium government: The Belgium government granted free donations to
BAAC to cover the operating expenses of the Northeastern Integrated Agriculture Promotion Project. The project ended and in
this period, the donations were fully transferred to the retained earnings account.

Surplus from Asset Donations: In this period the donations were transferred to income pending for
acknowledgement account presenting in the liabilities issues.

4.21 Deferred losses from exchange rate fluctuations comprised the following:
Unit: THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Deferred losses from the adjustment of exchange rate to a managed float basis 787.46 1,574.92
Deferred losses from exchange rate fluctuations in FY 2000 620.01 1,240.03
Deferred losses from the sale of borrowings with the right of redemption 534.56 1,069.12
Deferred losses from the adjustment of principal outstanding 60.64 121.27
Total deferred losses from exchange rate fluctuations 2,002.67 4,005.34

BAAC applied the accounting policy that acknowledged a loss from exchange rate fluctuations as a deferred expense
to be equally amortized over five years. Accordingly in FY 2000, a combined THB 6,918.06 million of deferred losses due to
exchange rate fluctuations were brought forward at the beginning of FY 2000, and the losses of THB 3,097.64 million from
exchange rate adjustment actually incurred in FY 2000, totaled THB 10,015.70 million. Of this amount, THB 2,003.14 million
was amortized as expenses in FY 2000, the outstanding stood at THB 8,012.56 million. After deducting the THB 1.88 million
surplus from KFW donations, the losses from exchange rate fluctuations totaled THB 8,010.68 million. Of this amount, each
THB 2,002.67 million was amortized as expenses in FY 2001, 2002, and 2003. The outstanding THB 2,002.67 million was
recorded as a deferred loss to be amortized over one year.

The losses from exchange rate fluctuations this year are summarized as follows:
Unit : THB million

Deferred losses from exchange rate fluctuations (to be amortized over five years) 2,002.67
Less profit from the exchange rate incurred from value adjustment at the year end 616.95
Less profits from loan repayment during the year 7.90
Total loss from exchange rate fluctuations as shown in the profit and loss statement 1,377.82

BAAC applied the criteria that acknowledged a loss from exchange rate fluctuations as a deferred expense for five
years from the years ended 31 March 2001 - 31 March 2003, the effects of the criteria were as follows:

4.21.1 At the year ended 31 March 2001, BAAC acknowledged in full all deferred losses from exchange rate
fluctuations brought forward from the beginning FY 2000 plus a loss from exchange rate fluctuations incurred in FY 2000 as
deferred expenses to be amortized over five years at equal amounts of THB 2,002.67 million annually. These procedures comply
with the criteria set forth by the Ministry of Finance, but do not comply with the International Standard on Auditing. By so
doing the amounts of net profits as at 31 March 2004 and 2003 were lower by THB 2,002.67 million and THB 2,002.67 million
and retained earnings as at 31 March 2004 and 2003 were lower by the same amounts, respectively.
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4.21.2 At the end of the fiscal year under review, the deferred loss from exchange rate fluctuations brought forward
from the previous year from the three loan contracts worth THB 1,356.79 million was fully paid, as presented in the Notes to
Financial Statement, No.4.14. BAAC has already acknowledged losses from exchange rate fluctuations of the three loan
contracts as deferred expenses. This was not in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. Had BAAC followed
the International Standard on Auditing the full amount of losses from exchange rate fluctuations of such contracts, brought
forward from the previous year, would have been acknowledged as expenses this year. BAAC acknowledged an amount of only
THB 678.40 million as an expense, bringing the deferred expense of THB 678.39 million to be amortized the following next
year. By following such procedures, the amount of net profit was higher by THB 678.39 million and the deferred loss from
exchange rate fluctuations was higher by the same amount.

At the fiscal year that ended 31 March 2003, deferred losses from the exchange rate fluctuation of the fully repaid
five loan contracts were THB 958.31 million. BAAC acknowledged an amount of only THB 319.44 million as an expense,
bringing the outstanding THB 638.87 million as a deferred expense for next year. By following such procedures the amount of
net profit was higher by THB 638.87 million and the deferred losses from exchange rate fluctuations were higher by the same
amount. The deferred losses may be summarized as follows:

Unit: THB million
1 April 2003 Amortized 31 March 31March
Brought in the year 2004 2003

forward underreview  Outstanding  Outstanding

Loan from International Fund for

Agricultural Development (IFAD), one contract - - - 28.36
Loans from the Asian Development Bank (ADB), two contracts - - - 591.63
Loans from the US government (AID), two contracts - - 18.88
JBIC loans, two contracts no. 14 and 15 782.89 391.95 391.44
Loans from commercial bank, one contract with

Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited 573.90 286.95 286.95 -
Total 1,356.79 678.40 678.39 638.87

4.22 Total commitments
4.22.1 Loan guarantee
BAAC issued the following loan guarantee bonds:
Unit; THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Loans from Bank of Ayudhya Public Company Limited

and AIG - FP Co., Ltd. 1,262.50 1,262.50
Loans from Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited - 2,527.00
Total loan guarantee 1,262.50 3,789.50
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4.22.2 Other commitments

BAAC issued the following guarantees to the general public and various activities:

Loan borrowing guarantees

Working guarantees

Employment contract guarantees
Electric, water use guarantees

Sales and purchase contract guarantees
Haj service guarantees

Total other commitments

Total commitments

4.23 Interest earned on loans comprised of:

Interest earned on loans to farmers

Interest earned on loans to farmer Institutions

Interest earned on loans - government secured loan projects
Income earned from compensation debt suspension option
Income earned from compensation debt burden reduction option
Income earned from compensation flood 2002

Interest earned on EU revolving fund accounts

Interest earned on village funds

Total interest earned on loans

Unit: THB Million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
14.34 13.38

11.03 13.62

360.74 339.71

48.36 45.24

4487 3242

2.40 3.10

481.74 448.03
1,744.24 4,237.53

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003
8,223.00 10,319.39
803.87 921.32

83.00 1,088.32

3,369.95 3,942.53
1,002.47 1,102.92
599.56 845.21

8.38 1.23

215.04 -
14,305.27 18,220.92

The value of interest earned on loans fell by THB 3,915.65 million from the previous year. This was due to using the new
criteria of acknowledging income that cancelled out the recording as income in the previous fiscal year funds in the account of
accrued interest receivable recorded as income in the previous fiscal year. Consequently, the amount of interest earned on loans

was lower by THB 3,642.34 million.
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4.24 Other income comprised of the following:
Unit: THB million
31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Income earned from central markets and

rice warehouses 12.94 13.76
Income earned from building rents 9.43 9.15
Income earned from fees 11.20 12.24
Income earned from hire purchase payment by installment, and sale on credit 94.66 17.69
Income earned from sale of assets 56.38 20.84
Miscellaneous income 177.88 44.62
Total other income 362.49 118.30

The value of miscellaneous income rose by THB 177.88 million over the previous year. This was due to the amount of
THB 99.06 million of the welfare fund for the provision of agricultural inputs which was transferred to the miscellaneous
income account in compliance with resolutions from the BAAC Board of Directors that acted in accordance with the resolutions
of the Office of Auditor General Committee.

4.25 Bad and doubtful accounts were comprised of the followings:
Unit: THB million

Reserves for doubtful accounts Doubtful accounts
31 March 2004 31 March 2003 31 March 2004 31 March 2003
Expense Expense
Principal
Farmers 10,706.86 6,590.15 4,116.71 584.05
Agricultural cooperatives 557.73 890.57 (332.84) (17.52)
Farmer associations 55.79 68.25 (12.46) (11.71)
Southern storms 1989 1,299.70 1,501.10 (201.40) (124.46)
Floods 1995 364.08 13347 (369.39) (198.26)
Floods 1996 97.00 274.02 (177.02) (78.33)
Floods 2001 191.00 454.95 (263.95) (2.90)
Floods 2002 4,.8602.11 2,927.09 1,935.02 2,927.09
Floods 2003 876.01 - 876.01 -
Avian influenza 2003 200.23 - 200.23 -
1st special medium-term loans 331.17 320.51 10.66 (74.72)
Debt suspension option 11,483.27 9,855.41 1,627.86 2,831.82
Paddy pledging (Warehouse) 833.55 957.99 (124.44) 755.11
Debt restructuring (included loan principal) 7,396.45 0,360.65 1,035.80 1,222.52
Debt restructuring (includes loan interest) 15,986.10 13,739.27 - -
Total 55,241.05 44,673.43 8,320.79 7,812.69
Interest
Farmers - 3413.13 (3413.13) 190.57
Agricultural cooperatives - 3.20 (3.20) 1.67
Farmer associations - 1.46 (1.46) (2.28)
Total - 341779 (3,417.79) 189.96
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Unit: THB million

Reserves for doubtful accounts Doubtful accounts

31 March 2004 31 March 2003 31 March 2004 31 March 2003

Expense Expense

EU revolving fund accounts 1.56 0.04 1.52 0.04
Overdue hire purchase and sales Islamic accounts 0.50 0.01 0.49 0.01
Grand total 55,243.11 48,091.27 4,905.01 8,002.70
Doubtful accounts and other accounts 2.30 -
Doubtful accounts written off 58.85 26.93
Total bad and doubtful accounts 4,966.16 8,029.63

The total amount in bad and doubtful accounts fell by THB 3,063.47 million from the previous year. The fall was
due to the estimate to decrease the full value of doubtful account reserves, and the new criteria of interest income
acknowledgement, which cancelled out of the account the accrued interest receivable recorded as income in the preceding year
and no longer allotted for an estimation of doubtful debt reserves for the accrued interest receivable. By following such
procedures, in this period, the amount of doubtful interest expense was lower by THB 3,417.49 million, the amounts in bad and
doubtful accounts fell from THB 8,383.95 million and the outstanding was only THB 4,966.16 million.

4.26 Results of operations: As at the year ended 31 March 2004, BAAC net profit amounted to THB 961.01 million, up
THB 301.00 million or 45.61 percent from the preceding year. BAAC consolidated results of operations compared to the
preceding year are summarized as follows:

Unit: THB million

31 March 2004 31 March 2003 Up (Down)

Value Value Value %
Income
Interest 17,518 .44 21,500.58 (3,982.14) (18.52)
Non-interest 1,709.23 965.56 743.67 71.02
Total income 19,227.67 22,466.14 (3,238.47) (14.41)
Less expenses:
Interest 4,113.97 5234.72 (1,120.75) (21.41)
Non-interest 9,186.53 8,541.78 644.75 7.55
Bad and doubtful accounts 4,966.16 8,029.63 (3,063.47) (38.15)
Total expenses 18,266.66 21,806.13 (3,539.47) (16.23)
Net profit 961.01 660.01 301.00 45.61

4.27 New types of account arrangement

In this period, BAAC set up some new types of accounts and adjusted the financial statements for the year end, 31
March 2003 for the benefit of comparison, free of effect to shareholders equity and net profit.

4.28 Obligations that might be incurred

In the year under review BAAC is a defendant in a civil case on breach of contract based on an amount of THB
49.41 million. The legal action was taken against the bank by a consultant company for damages and compensation worth THB
55.12 million, the contract amount plus interest at the rate of 7.5 percent per annum from 30, April 1999. The bank has counter
sued the consultant company based on nonconformity to the contract. It has asked for compensation of THB 21.32 million plus
interest of 7.5 percent per annum from 31 July 2001, the day the suit was filed.

Office of the Auditor General
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Report of Audit Committee
Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives

The BAAC Board of Directors appointed to the Audit Committee (AC) the following three new members:
1. Mr. Boonmee Jantaravong ~ Representing the Cooperatives Promotion Department Chairman

2. Mr. Krirk Wanigkul Representing the Bank of Thailand Member

3. Mr. Wichet Tantiwanich Expert Member

In FY 2003 (1 April 2003 - 31 March 2004) the AC implemented its works as specified in the Charter of Audit Committee.
The main points are summarized as follows:

1. Review of Financial Statements

The AC reviewed the financial statements of every quarter and of the fiscal year which ended 31 March 2004. In their
opinion, the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. The financial statements are in agreement with the information that the AC had placed with the office of the Auditor
General and the Audit Department of BAAC. During the year, accounting policies had been changed on the matter of
acknowledgement of income and estimation of doubtful account to more detailed measures. The change of criteria was made on
the advice of the Bank of Thailand and approved by the Ministry of Finance.

2. Review of Internal Control

The BAAC’s internal controls were thorough and complied with the Internal Control Standard Specification Year 2001
from the Office of the Auditor General. The bank set forth Regulations No. 48 on the procedures concerning internal control
standards for practices of all departments.

3. Review of Transactions Concerning Conflicts of Interest

Transparency of purchase/employment with the general public and related parties was reviewed. Recommendations were
made to set specifications and a framework of purchase/employment so that there would be no added benefits to the bank’s
executives and Board of Directors.

4. Self Assessment of Work Results

The AC did a self-evaluation of its work results through a group discussion. In brief, the assessment results were very
good and the process was considered to be transparent and unbiased.

ﬁrmnuﬁw M

(Mr. Boonmee Jantaravong)
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Good Governance

Independence of BAAC’s Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Bank for Agriculture and Agricultural Cooperatives (BAAC) must be independent, neutral
and fair, and not benefit directly or indirectly from the bank. It must practice discretion when carrying out its duties and
responsibilities. In addition, the board’s directors must be persons who have knowledge, capability and experience and the
ability to fulfill their duties, give viewpoints and report results on their assigned duties. The directors must be able to devote
enough time to carry out their duties. Close relatives of the bank’s executives or major shareholders (the Ministry of Finance
holds over 99 percent of the total share capital) are not permitted to serve on the board. Also restricted from the board are
political civil servants, persons of political positions, members of the municipal congress, political consultants, executive
members or staff of political parties, excluding the chairman as under BAAC’s Act B.E. 2509 which specifies that the minister
of finance shall be the chairman of BAAC ex-officio.

BAAC’s Board of Directors

Section 14 of the BAAC Act B.E. 2509, as revised by the BAAC Act B.E. 2525 (Edition 3) and B.E. 2542 (Edition 5),
regulates that there shall be a BAAC Board of Directors, comprising the minister of finance as chairman, a vice chairman, and
not exceeding 12 other directors. The cabinet appointed and specified BAAC’s president the member and secretary of the board
of directors.

The directors appointed by the cabinet have a representative from the following government agencies: Office of the Prime
Minister, Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Cooperatives Promotion Department, Agricultural
Land Reform Office, the Bank of Thailand and Shareholder Agricultural Cooperatives.

The vice chairman and directors appointed by cabinet shall be appointed for a 3-year term. At the end of the term, they
may be reappointed.

When a vice chairman or director retires before the end of their term, the cabinet may appoint another person to act in their
position. The acting person will be in the position for the remainder of the term.

The board of directors appointed the following committee and subcommittees to function on specific matters:

1) Appeal Committee
2) Subcommittee of Change Management Support and Follow up
3) Subcommittee of Policy and Plan Preparation, Fiscal Year 2004
4) Audit Committee

)

5) BAAC Employee Relations Committee
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Name and Frequency of Meeting Attendance of Committee
BAAC Board of Directors Conducted Total of 12 Meetings

Frequency of

Name Position Attendance
1. Mr. Varathep Ratanakorn Deputy Minister of Finance Acting Minister Chairman 12
of Finance
2. Mr. Petipong Pungbun Na Ayudhya| Representative of the Ministry of Agriculture Vice Chairman
and Cooperatives
(Resigned on 1 May 2003) 2
Mr. Banphot Hongthong (Appointed on 7 October 2003) Vice Chairman 5
3. Mr. Wattana Kanchana-Akradej Representative of the Office of the Prime Minister Member
(Retired on 30 September 2003)
Mr. Thawat Kongdecha (Appointed on 9 December 2003) Member 4
4. Miss Sudhiporn Duangto Representative of the Ministry of Finance Member 12
5. Mr. Boonmee Jantaravong Representative of the Cooperatives Promotion Member 8
Department
6. Mr. Adisak Sresunpagit Representative of the Agricultural Land Reform Office | Member 9
7. Mrs. Swangchit Chaiyawat Representative of the Bank of Thailand Member 5
(Resigned on 1 October 2003)
Mr. Krirk Vanikkul (Appointed on 9 December 2003) Member 2
8. Mr. Sukson Tomjun Representative of Shareholder Agricultural Cooperatives| Member 10
(Completed the term on 5 February 2004)
Mr. Amnuay Thongkok (Appointed on 17 February 2004) Member 2
9. Mr. Achaporn Charuchinda Expert Member Il
10. Mr. Montri Congtrakultien Expert Member I
11. Mr. Virat Sakjirapapong Expert Member 12
12. Mr. Viroch Impithuksa Expert Member 8
13. Police Caption Nitipoom Navaratna| Expert Member 3
(Resigned on 30 September 2003)
Mr. Vichate Tantiwanich (Appointed on 17 February 2004) Member 2
14. Mr. Pittayapol Nattaradol BAAC President Member and 12
Secretary

1. Mr. Paiboon Wattanasiritham
2. Mr. Vichit Nuntasuwan
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Appeal Committee Conducted a Total of 9 Meetings

Frequency of
Name Position ey Note
Attendance
1. Mr. Virat Sakjirapapong Chairman 9
2. Mr. Achaporn Charuchinda Member 8
3. Mr. Supachai Phudpong Member 9
4. Mrs. Subhavadee Vejasilpa Member 9
5. Mr. Amphon Dulamnuay Member 8
Independent Board Members Committee Conducted a Total of 3 Meetings
s Frequency of
Name Position uency Note
Attendance
1. Mr. Virat Sakjirapapong Chairman 2
2. Mr. Montri Congtrakultien Member 3
3. Mr. Achaporn Charuchinda Member
4. Mr. Viroch Impithuksa Member
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Subcommittee of Change Management Support and Follow up

Conducted a Total of 9 Meetings

Frequency of

Name Position Note
Attendance
1. Mr. Paiboon Wattanasiritham Chairman 9
2. Mrs. Swangchit Chaiyawat Member 1 Resigned on 1 October 2003
3. Mr. Virat Sakjirapapong Member 7
4. Mr. Sukson Tomjun Member 7 Completed the term on 5 February 2004
5. Mr. Pittayapol Nattaradol Member 5
6. Mr. Ennoo Suesuwan Member and 6
Secretary
7. Mr. Luck Wajananawat Member and )
Secretary Assistant
8. Mr. Suparb Sriyotha .
Member and 3 Retired on 30 September 2003

Secretary Assistant

Subcommittee of Policy and Plan Preparation, Fiscal Year 2004,

Conducted a Total of 18 Meetings

Frequency of

Name Position Note
Attendance
1. Mr. Virat Sakjirapapong Chairman 18
2. Mr. Sukson Tomjun Member 1l Completed the term on 5 February 2004
3. Mr. Montri Congtrakultien Member 6
4. Mr. Pittayapol Nattaradol Member and Secretary 6
5. Mr. Ennoo Suesuwan Member and Secretary 7

Assistant
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BAAC Employee Relations Committee Conducted a Total of 10 meetings

Frequency of

Name Position Note
Attendance

1. Mr. Viroch Impithuksa Chairman 7 Appointed on 4 July 2003

2. Mr. Ennoo Suesuwan Member 3

3. Mr. Luck Wajananawat Member 9

4. Mr. Pairoj Chanthai Member 5

5. Mr. Sommanus Suwanmena Member 9

6. Mr. Prasert Inkaeo Member 5

7. Mr. Pairoj Sangkhasap Member 1

8. M. Prayong Tenbee Member 9

9. Mr Suwit Triratsirkul Member 10

10. Mr. Sawad Jarujitiphan Member 2 Completed the term on 3 July 2003
Mr. Boonthai Kaewkhuntee Member 8 Appointed on 4 July 2003

1. Mr. Thaweesak Wattanakul Member 10

12. Mr. Aphichart Janrunguthai Member 10

13. Mr. Mongkol Wisetsuk Member 9

14. Mr. Youngyuth Krapong Member 9

15. Mr. Suchart Sarutikanchang Member 8 Completed the term on 11 February 2004
Mr. Boonsri Yingyongchai Member 2 Appointed on 12 February 2004

16. Mr. Prayuth Mangmee Member 8 Completed the term on 11 February 2004
Mr. Chinnarose Witayagan Member 2 Appointed on 12 February 2004

17. Mr. Amon Na Suwan Member 7 Completed the term on 11 February 2004
Mr. Prasit Pahome Member 2 Appointed on 12 February 2004

18. Mr. Watchara Wanlee Member 5 Completed the term on 11 February 2004
Mr. Vanchai Prathampanic Member 2 Appointed on 12 February 2004

19. Thamrong Uthaiphan Member 6 Completed the term on 11 February 2004
Mr. Damrongdej Tesamart Member 2 Appointed on 12 February 2004
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Audit Committee Conducted a Total of 11 Meetings

Name Position Frequency of Note
Attendance
1. Mr. Boonmee Jantaravong Chairman 1l
2. Mrs. Swangchit Chaiyawat Member 5 Resigned on 1 October 2003
Mr. Krirk Yanikkul Member 1 Appointed on 17 March 2004
3. Miss Sudhiporn Duangto Member 4 Completed the term on 5 February 2004
Mr. Vichate Tantiwanich Member 1 Appointed on 17 March 2004

Remuneration for BAAC’s Board of Directors

Meeting Allowances. The cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 28 November 1989 permitted a member of BAAC’s
Board of Directors to receive an allowances of THB 5,500 for each monthly meeting.

The cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 19 September 2000 permitted a member of other committees, screening
committee, or subcommittee and working group appointed by state enterprise to function on a specific matter, to receive an
allowances of not exceeding THB 1,000 for each meeting.

Bonus. The cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 31 January 1978 allowed a member of BAAC’s Board of Directors to
receive a bonus of THB 60,000 annually

The cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 5 February 1991 permitted a member of Board of Directors of state enterprise
to receive a bonus in proportion of net profit of each state enterprise. Nonetheless the cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 15
July 1975 allowed the Chairman and Vice Chairman to receive a meeting allowances and bonus at a higher rate than that of the
members by 2.5 and 12.5 percent respectively. Providing the member of BAAC’s Board of Directors had to pay his/her income
tax. Additionally the cabinet’s resolution of the meeting on 20 June 1995 allowed a member of the Board of Directors to receive
a bonus according to the performance assessment system of the state enterprise.

At 31 March 2004, the BAAC’s Board of Directors received its remuneration at a total of THB 3,331,167. Of this total
THB 961,125 was meeting allowances and THB 2,370,042 was bonuses.
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Financial and Management Report

1. BAAC Status and Prospects Assessment

In FY 2003, the Thai economy was well supported by increased consumption in both the public and the private sector
including both business and personal consumption. The value of total exports grew 14.40 percent, with high growth notable in
agricultural and agricultural-related industrial goods. As a result, the GDP of the country grew 6.70 percent, which was one of
the highest levels among Asian countries. The agricultural sector expanded 6.80 percent from the previous year despite concerns
over the rising debt rate among rural household and the possible side effects.

BAAC's status and operational results may be summarized as follows:

Assets grew a remarkable 8.98 percent compared to the preceding year. The growth was in line with the expansion of the
Thai economy. The increase of the bank’s assets came mainly from the following: credit services provided to farmers to support
their operations and marketing activities, credit support for sugar and sugarcane production and credit services provided to
village funds and rural communities under government policy.

Liabilities and Equities An adjustment of the balance of deposits was made to follow the credit needs of the bank and to
be in accordance its operation policy to focus on low-cost fund procurement to cut expenses. In addition, during the year, an
increase in capital from shares sold to the Ministry of Finance amounted to THB two billion. This transaction was aimed to
strengthen the bank’s financial status and as a result the bank’s Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) rose to 10.82 percent, higher than
the generally accepted present standard.

At the end of FY 2003, BAAC’s operational profits had increased compared with the previous year. This can be attributed
to the bank’s policy to cut operation costs, a move that reduced BAAC’s foreign debt burden and helped cut expenses
extensively, an acceleration of increase income from service-related businesses and a lower amount of losses to farmers from
natural disasters compared with the previous year. This led to an improvement of BAAC’s operation results. Consequently, the
bank’s rate of return on total assets (ROA) was (.25 percent, up 31.60 percent from the previous year.

Direction and Trends of Operations in FY 2004 (1 April 2004 - 31 March 2005), In 2004, the Thai economy is expected
to grow seven percent in spite of the risk factor of higher global oil prices which is expected to vary in degree based on the time
of the year. Government sector is intent on sticking with its policies to stimulate and promote the expansion of the economy.
BAAC has proposed that the BAAC Act be revised in order to enable the bank to become a complete Rural Development Bank.
The bank plans has set directions and to provide wider financial and banking services through the basis of group lending and
through financial organizations of the grassroots communities. This includes support to marketing and processing activities to
comply with the development policies and needs of rural communities, coupled with the strong intention and the acceleration of
the expansion of business services during the course of the year.

In addition under government policy guidelines aimed to combat and eradicate poverty, the government through the
Ministry of Finance has assigned BAAC to participate in and be the main organization to accelerate a drive to overcome debt
problems among the general public, especially agricultural-related debts involves nearly 900,000 farmers. By the end of FY
2004, BAAC’s assets as well as its operational profits will have grown by at least 10 percent compared with FY 2003.
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2. Risk Management

Operations of banking businesses continually face risks. The risks may be derived from natural calamity, economic
change, competition, technology, official ordinance and rule or work procedure. To achieve the bank’s planned targets, risk
management is needed to control risks within an acceptable level. In the past, BAAC trained its staff to realize the importance of
risk and to manage it along side business operations. In addition, to allow for a sufficient risk management operation, the bank
initially appointed a working group to oversee risks and reporting directly to the area affected by the risk. A follow-up system
and the reporting of risk management results is forwarded to the Assets & Liability Management Committee (ALCO) and the
Board of Director were then set up. Operations of guidelines and types of risk management under the framework of the BOT
may be summarized as follows:

2.1 Strategy Risk

BAAC is a state bank set up to assist farmers and the rural population in achieving a sustainable and higher standard of
living. The bank understands the importance of developing a system of financial products that gives the rural population wider
access to financial services. As well, the bank supports and operates government projects concerning agricultural sector.

Major risks of the above operations come from external factors including more intensive competition in provisions for
rural credit services, rapid changes of technology in provisions of credit and other services, effects on clients when natural
calamities or disease epidemics take place and the effects of free trade. Strategic plans must be made to cope with the possible
losses.

BAAC’s Board of Directors and management have realized the importance of the above mentioned situations and have set
forth procedures to study and deal with them. Staff members were allowed to participate in the setting up of strategies and work
plans. Personnel with skills and long-term experience in financial services in the rural sector, diversified and financial products,
development of technologies for more efficient services to clients, and sustained growth of economy in the rural sector, all were
factors that reduced the strategy risks to an acceptable level.

2.2 Credit Risk

Agricultural credit businesses are important to BAAC. Despite the bank’s present role and function to extend credit
services to the non-agricultural sector, plans are in the works to revise the BAAC Act to be more in line with the credit services
need of the rural population, wider and more diversified. BAAC emphasizes the extension of qualitative credits to prevent a rise
of non-performing loans (NPLs), a policy the bank has maintained all along.

Nevertheless, by nature, agricultural credit often runs into problems of natural risks, uncertainty of quantity and variations
of crop prices and the continual high price of agricultural inputs. As a result, failure of payment, especially in terms of NPLs, for
these types of credits is higher than others. In addition, BAAC has to provide credit under government projects with relaxed
conditions. Consequently, the loan conditions and interest rates on some of these credits do not reflect the real risks.

Factors that have reduced the bank’s credit risks were: higher economic growth in the rural sector, more highly skilled
personnel providing individual credits, system and procedures for strict supervision of credits, a review of the adequate and
strict provision of credits and assessment of securities, procedures to promote education as way to strengthen client groups and
farmer institutions, and promotion and support of marketing for clients.
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2.3 Marketing Risk

The bank has a policy not to buy and sell securities for investment purposes and therefore has no risk in pertaining to the
market value of securities. It does, however, have interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks. BAAC has tried to structures its
assets and liabilities to accommodate the trend for interest rates to remain low. As a result, changes in interest rates have had
almost no effect on the bank’s operations.

To deal with exchange rate risks, BAAC has set a policy not to add more foreign currency debt. The bank tries to applied
financial tools to prevent risks from foreign loans to a minimal level. At present, the bank’s foreign currency debts are only
about 4.27 percent of the operating fund, of which most of it is in US dollars. The value of the baht against the US dollar is
expected to rise and this should cut the bank’s foreign exchange rate risk.

24 Liquidity Risk

BAAC’s liquidity assets were maintained in accordance with a criteria specified by the BOT for stability and confidence
of depositors and stakeholders. Being a government bank, it should maintain the image of being very financially sound. In
addition, factors that has kept the bank’s liquidity risks at a low level were: the regular analysis of cash flow, liquidity gap or

difference between cash inflow and cash outflow, sources of reserved funds for payment in emergency and the high volume of
surplus liquidity in the country system.

2.5 Operation Risk

BAAC’s policy requires that its departments make self-assessments of risks and continuously work to amend error made.
The bank intends for its management and administration work on principles based on good governance for acceptance from
clients and stakeholders or shareholders and in order to make the operations more efficient. Factors that helped put the bank’s
working risks at a controllable level were as follows: arrangement of structures that did checks and balances of each other;
internal control of precise and written procedures, departments set up to do work inspection and independent reviews, staff with
work experience, honesty and the spirit to assist farmers with less opportunities to advance in society. In addition, the use of the
quality management system (ISO 9001 : 2000) to develop service standards for clients is being set up as way to assess and
control working risks under guidelines set by the BOT.
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Vision, Mission, Policies and Operating Work Plan, FY 2004
(1 April 2004 - 31 March 2005)

In FY 2004, BAAC has set forth policies, work plans, and a budget to correspond with its mission as a rural development
bank and to meet its specified goals. They were as follow:

1. Vision of Organization

BAAC will be the leading rural development bank in the Asia-Pacific Region by pushing for higher living standards for
farmers and the rural population and setting policies which promote sustainable use of natural resources and a sustainable
environment.

2. Mission
2.1 To maintain the role as a Development Bank;

2.2 To offer one-stop financial services by aiming to improve production efficiency and support community enterprises
to create value added of goods and rural services;

2.3 To promote the linking of networks of production and marketing for the benefit of farmers and people lacking
opportunities in the grassroots of economic system;

2.4 To support the rural learning process as a means to strengthen the communities.

3. Policies

3.1 To promote education programs geared for strengthening its clients and communities, support collective occupation
groups, strengthen the agricultural marketing cooperatives of BAAC’s clients, farmer institutions, and Thai Agri-business Co.
Ltd., including developing crop quality and promoting cooperation between production sources and marketers of the products.

3.2 To widely support the extension of credit to farmers, farmer institutions, village funds, occupational groups, and
communities, in conjunction with the aim for sustainable use of natural resources and a sustainable environment. Also, to
accelerate the efficient and successful management of debt quality.

3.3 To promote thoroughly the savings and financial management level of rural individuals and households, create a
sense that the bank belongs to the farmer groups and rural population and put forward steps to generate more income from
service fees, and efficiently expand business unit networks in several channels.

34 To increase the quality and efficiency of the organization’s management and administration, be an organization that
provides educational training, maintain good governance, have a working support system, as well as efficient technology, and to
continually develop a high caliber of executives and staff in several areas.

3.5 To support government policies that aim to assist the rural population.
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Operating Work Plans

BAAC has set forth a 14 work plans to support its policies. The plans are as follows:

4.1
4.2
43
44
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9

Promote educational programs to strengthen clients and communities;

Support the occupational collective groups and community enterprises;

Strengthen the Agricultural Marketing Cooperatives, Farmer Institutions, and TABCO;

Develop crop quality and link the production and marketing of the products;

Support credit services to farmers, farmer institutions, village funds, occupational groups, and communities;
Efficiently manage and develop debt quality;

Promote savings and financial management to rural individuals and households;

Raise funds and the increase share ownership among the general public;

Accelerate steps to generate more income from fees and services;

4.10 Manage and administer the organization efficiently and qualitatively on the basis of good governance;

4.11 Develop competition potential and offer educational training inside the organization;

4.12 Efficiently develop working support systems and technology;

4.13 Foster good relationships between staff members, clients, community organizations and networks;

4.14 Rehabilitate client farmers to be at sustainable working levels after the end of the Debt Suspension and Debt Burden
Reduction for Small-Scale Farmers Project.
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Table 1

Main Economic Crops and Livestock: Cultivated Area, Production and Prices,

Production Year 2003/2004 - 2004/2005

Cultivated areas Production Export year 2003 Price sold by
Crop/Livestock (million rai) (million tons) volume/value farmers

20032004 20042005" 20032004  20042005"  million tons THB million unit 2003 2004

Rice 00.13 XXX 26.63 XXX 734 76,678.10 XXX XXX XXX
(121) (2.19) (0.14) 9.53)

First crop 57.67 57171 2091 2129 XXX xxx  kwian” 5,080 Up
(134) 007 (652 (182) (4.96)

-Second crop 9.53 8.46 6.43 5712 XXX xxx  kwian” 4,693 Up
(1042) (1123 (8.07) (-11.04) (4.59)

Para Rubber 1262 2847 286 2937 311 11582270 kg. 4162 Up
(0.74) (174 (870) (2.45) (1158)  (55.25) (1051)

Sugarcane for refinery 743 7307 7756 7540 639  40,391.80 ton 426 Stable
(13.08) (175 (24.39) (-2.78) (1860)  (26.05) (0.00)

Cassava 6.42 6.39 1957 20.89 537 2703830 kg. 087  Down
A7) (041 (9.94) (6.75) 2681)  (19.14) (-16.35)

Oil palm 1.80 1.87 4.90 5.28 0.005 32.20 kg. 235 Up
(3.92) (3.89)  (25.64) (7.76) (-553) (092 Q.17)

Coffee 041 0.42 0.05 0.06 0.007 163.20 kg. 3161 Stable
(-191) Q44 (0.00) (20.00) 436) (3341 (16.00)

Livestock-feed maize 7.03 7.08 4.12 4.17 0.19 978.50 kg. 440 Down
(-4.74) 07)  (2.14) (121) (29.69)  (37.35) (7.58)

Soybean L13 L4 0270 02727 0.0006 12.15 kg. 1035 Down
(0.38) 085 (237) (0.74) (3141) (1643 (2.88)

Pineapple 051 0437 190 1807 0045 10,757.00 ke. 400  Stable
282)  (1569) (1515 (-5.26) (2541)  (23.54) (-4.76)

Black tiger prawns 047 047 0.18 0.20 0.08  24201.40 k. 24546  Stable
(20.51) 0.00)  (-37.93) (1L.11) 561)  (-1442) (-18.99)

Broiler (million) 136" mY 1,083 11067 0.50  40,692.70 ke. 2698  Down
8.34)  (1838)  (8.30) (2.12) (15200 (12.69) (2.86)

Pigs (million) 706" 7247 10167 10427 0.009 601.10 ke. 33.12 Up
(2.62) 255  (283) (2.56) (-1740) (3182 (-12.59)

Dairy cows (million) 0397 041" 0697 075" 0.12 3,690 kg. 1140 Stable
(4.24) G3) (9.59) (7.14) (478) (4357 (0.26)

Source : Office of Agricultural Economics, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives (MOAC)

71/ Estimated by Office of Agricultural Economics, MOAC

¥ Estimated by Technical Service Division, BAAC
Denotes No.of livestock brought forward, excluded No.of dairy cows in millions as at the end of the year
Denotes No. of livestock production in million during the year, excluded dairy cows that produced raw milk in million tons,
in case of oil palm and coffee, land areas means lands that yields crops

() Parenthesized figures denotes rate of change compared to the previous year.

71 Kwian = 1 ton = 1,000 kg.
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Table 2

Statistical Highlights as at the End of
Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

1869

Average 5 Years  Increase/

Particular 1994-1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003  Average  Decrease

Growth  from FY
Rate (%) 2002 (%)

. Net profit (THB million) " 1,049 208 536 554 660 9% 3867 4561

2. Number of provincial offices/branches © 544 659 659 660 664 667 0.32 045

3. Number of district units 866 887 887 888 889 899 0.29 L12

4. Number of districts the branches 834 877 877 877 926 926 1.64
served directly to farmers

5. Number of officers at branches 11,291 11,570 11,273 11,492 11,621 11,760 0.63 1.20
and field offices

6. Number of officers at head office 1,535 1512 1481 1,463 1,509 1,507 0.12 0.13

7. Number of farmers registered 3,327,766 3,502,051 3,548,626 3,637,739 3,688,673 3,733,784 1.68 122
as branch clients (households)

8. Loans extended to farmers 102,086 124,097 130,365 86,413 93614 115465 -4.64 23.34
(THB million)

9. Number of agricultural cooperatives 871 894 897 969 969 841 045 -1321

10. Membership of agricultural 1,326,152 1483,058 1547221 1,567,601 1,567,601 1,622,708 1.95 3.52
cooperatives (households)

11. Loans extended to agricultural 17,406 22,100 23,859 21,334 26,974 24,649 347 -8.62
cooperatives (THB million)

12. Number of farmer associations 304 258 253 234 234 153 -10.62 -34.62

13. Membership of farmer associations 40,443 21,562 18,489 13,709 13,709 8,572 -19.30 -3747

14. Loans extended to farmer 44 70 120 30 34 25 -28.26 2647
associations (THB million)

15. Total Loan outstanding Y 159,843 254953 291924 282469 289,096 322,000 4.68 1138
15.1 Farmers 212797 237990 228,065 241,715 258,137 4.10 6.79
15.2 Agricultural cooperatives 15,473 16,053 14,076 14,170 14,389 -2.66 1.55
15.3 Farmer associations 183 166 96 93 7 -21.69 -22.58
15.4 Government secured loan projects 21216 29,395 31475 23,969 19814 -341 -17.33
15.5 Credit services of other types * 504 8320 8757 9149 29,588 4281 22340

Footnotes : ' Net profit after less bonuses paid to Board of Directors and employees, since FY 1998
“Tncluded provincial offices/branches/small branches/small branches (special) / and sub - branches

¥ Loan outstanding at the end of fiscal year

¥ Credits services of other types were GTZ and EU revolving fund accounts, national village and urban community fund accounts, and other loan lending
(discount bills, housing fund accounts, deposit-guaranteed accounts, and Islamic bank fund accounts).
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Table 3

Client Farmers and Farmer Institutions Served by BAAC,

Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

161

BAAC Agricultural Farmer Grand
Fiscal Year client farmers cooperatives served associations served Total
Number of Membership Number of Membership

(households) cooperatives (households) association (households) (households)
1999 3,502,051 894 1,483,058 258 21,562 5,006,671
2000 3,548,626 897 1,547,221 253 18,489 5,114,336
2001 3,637,739 969 1,567,601 234 13,709 5,219,049
2002 3,688,673 969 1,567,601 234 13,709 5,269,983
2003 3,733,784 841" 1,622,708 1537 8,572 5,365,064
Five-year average
growth rate
(%) 1.68 -0.45 1.95 -10.62 -19.30 1.70
Increase (Decrease)
FY2002/2003
(%) 1.22 -13.21 352 -34.62 -3747 1.80

" Decrease of agricultural cooperative clients was due to the high liquidity in cooperatives, particularly savings cooperatives. Their excess funds were used to provide
loans to agricultural cooperatives. Furthermore, the financial stability of agricultural cooperatives strengthened due to an increase in their reserve funds combined with
an upgrade in their debtor classification by BAAC. In cases where agricultural cooperatives were able to attract large sums of deposits, they were classified as good

clients. This encouraged them to collect more deposits and consequently many of them obtained sufficient amount of funds to run their operations.

¥ Decrease of farmer associations was due to their accessibility to other sources of funds such as village funds. In addition, some members of farmer associations were
also clients of BAAC and members of agricultural cooperatives, etc.
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Table 4

Summary of Farmers and Farmer Institutions Lending Operation,
Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

Fiscal Loan Principal  Disbursement Repayment Principal
year categories outstanding Amount % of repayment outstanding
classified by at the beginning repaid to principal  at the end
fiscal year of the year matured  of the year
(THB million)  (THB million) (THB million) (THB million)
1999 Farmers 192,823 124,097 104,775 75.06 212,797
Agricultural cooperatives 16,354 22,100 22,981 - 15473
Farmer associations 173 70 60 - 183
Total 209,350 146,267 127,816 - 228,453
2000 Farmers 212,797 130,365 110,203 78.22 237,990
Agricultural cooperatives 15473 23,859 23,279 - 16,053
Farmer associations 183 120 137 - 166
Total 228,453 154,344 133,619 - 254,209
2001 Farmers 214464 " 86,413 72812 83.60 228,065
Agricultural cooperatives 15487 ! 21,334 22,745 - 14,076
Farmer associations 154" 30 88 = 96
Total 230,105 107,777 95,645 - 242,237
2002 Farmers 228,065 93,614 79,964 80.79 241,715
Agricultural cooperatives 14,076 26,974 26,880 - 14,170
Farmer associations 96 34 37 - 93
Total 242,237 120,622 106,381 - 255,978
2003 Farmers 241,715 115,465 102,131 85.76 258,137 7
Agricultural cooperatives 14,170 24,649 24,416 - 14389 7
Farmer associations 93 25 32 - 7Y
Total 255,978 140,139 126,579 - 272,598

Five-years average growth rate (%)
Increase (decrease)
FY 200212003 (%)

Farmers 5.35 -4.64 -3.65 4.10
(5.99) (23.34) (21.72) (6.79)
Agricultural cooperatives -3.74 347 2.68 -2.66
(0.67) (-8.62) (-9.17) (L.55)
Farmer associations -17.19 -28.25 -22.63 21.69
(-3.13) (-26.47) (-13.51) (-22.58)
Total 471 -3.27 -2.40 3.67
(5.67) (16.18) (18.43) (6.49)

Footnotes : ' Adjusted accounts were due to recording of general ledger which did not include loans under the government secured loan projects.

* During the year, a total of THB 31 million was written off, and loan principal plus interest of THB 3.119 billion was transferred from the account due to
loan restructurings

¥ During the year, a total of THB 14 million was written off.

¥ During the year, a total of THB 14 million was written off.
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Table 5

Farmers and Farmer Institutions Lending Operations Classified by Regions,
Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

Unit: THB million

Region 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
North 43,171 44,519 30,751 34,450 41,560
Farmers 37,250 38,332 25,242 27,187 35,035
Agricultural cooperatives 5911 6,172 5,502 7,252 6,509
Farmer associations 10 15 7 1l 16
Northeast 47,091 47,053 3,525 37,192 45,121
Farmers 39,606 38,601 24,347 27,625 35,781
Agricultural cooperatives 1478 8,437 8,176 10,166 9,940
Farmer associations 7 15 2 1 -
Northeast 25,507 30,510 19,892 21,461 23,075
Farmers 20,693 25,580 15,900 16,230 18,575
Agricultural cooperatives 4,794 4,909 3,976 5216 4,493
Farmer associations 20 2 16 15 7
South and West 30,498 32,262 24,609 26,919 29,783
Farmers 26,548 27,852 20,924 22,572 26,074
Agricultural cooperatives 3917 4341 3,680 4,340 3,707
Farmer associations 33 69 5 7 2
Total 146,267 154,344 107,777 120,622 140,139
Table 6

Farmers and Farmer Institutions Loan Repayments Classified by Regions,
Fiscal Years 1999 -2003

Unit: THB million

Region 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
North 35,168 37,229 27,087 29,633 36,187
Farmers 28,948 31,127 21,084 22,315 29,653
Agricultural cooperatives 6,209 6,092 5,995 7,309 6,515
Farmer associations 1 10 8 9 19
Northeast 40,910 41,531 29,136 32,562 39,787
Farmers 33,680 33,741 20,832 22915 30,591
Agricultural cooperatives 7,220 7,780 8,295 9,645 9,195
Farmer associations 10 10 9 2 1
Center and East 23,859 25931 18,852 20,190 22,614
Farmers 18,389 21,076 14,351 14,868 17875
Agricultural cooperatives 5,448 4,835 4,480 5,301 4,731
Farmer associations 22 20 2 2 8
South and West 27879 28,928 20,570 24,496 27,991
Farmers 23,758 24,259 16,545 19,866 24,012
Agricultural cooperatives 4,104 4,572 3,975 4,625 3,975
Farmer associations 17 97 50 5 4

Total 127,816 133,619 95,645 106,881 126,579
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Table 7

Lending Operations to Farmers Classified by Production,
Fiscal Years 2001 - 2003

2001 2002 2003

Production
THB million %  THB million %  THB million %

A. Crop
1. Rice 25,668 31.56 25,631 30.32 31,996 31.33
2. Cassava 2,812 3.46 3,239 3.83 4201 411
3. Maize 4,994 6.14 5213 6.17 6,238 6.11
4. Sugarcane 5511 6.78 6,139 7.26 7,205 7.05
5. Pineapple 1,288 1.58 1,433 1.70 1,561 1.53
6. Tobacco 461 0.57 512 0.61 557 0.55
7. Soybean 202 0.25 183 0.22 209 0.20
8. Legumes 149 0.18 149 0.18 155 0.15
9. Kenaf/Jute 28 0.03 27 0.03 29 0.03
10. Cotton 43 0.05 22 0.02 23 0.02
11. Garlic 617 0.76 581 0.69 539 0.53
12. Onion 609 0.75 612 0.72 692 0.68
13. Sericulture 81 0.10 45 0.05 46 0.05
14. Flowers 278 0.34 325 0.38 361 0.35
15. Vegetable and field crops 2,334 2.87 2374 281 2,802 274
16. Para rubber 3,382 4.16 3,033 430 4818 472
17. Oil palm 625 0.77 848 1.00 1,037 1.02
18. Coffee 595 0.73 595 0.70 666 0.65
19. Durian 1211 149 1,318 1.56 1,357 133
20. Orange 743 0.92 867 1.03 1,137 11
21. Rambutan 547 0.67 Ml 0.64 563 0.55
22. Coconut 197 0.24 181 021 195 0.19
23. Perennial and fruit trees 4816 5.92 5,083 3.01 6,112 5.98
24. Integrated farming 160 0.20 161 0.19 174 0.17

Total A. 51,381 70.52 59,712 70.63 72,673 7115
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Table 7 (Cont.)

Lending Operations to Farmers Classified by Production,
Fiscal Years 2001 - 2003

2001 2002 2003
Production
THB million % THB million % THB million %

B. Livestock and poultry

1. Pig farms 2,834 348 3,040 3.59 3,162 3.10
2. Beef cattle 7,892 9.70 9,430 11.15 13454 1317
3. Cattle and buffalo 1,201 148 1,268 1.50 1497 147
4. Poultry and eggs 1,403 1.73 1,400 1.66 1,256 1.23
5. Dairy cows 397 0.49 47 0.56 573 0.56
6. Other livestock 229 0.28 177 021 259 0.25
Total B. 13,956 17.16 15,786 18.67 20,201 19.78
C. Fishery

1. Fish culture 2,505 3.08 2,665 3.15 2975 291
2. Fishing 05 0.08 80 0.10 87 0.09
3. Shrimp culture 4916 0.05 4,626 547 4,291 4.20
4. Others (Shellfish, etc.) 458 0.56 428 0.51 419 041
Total C. 7,944 9.77 7,799 9.23 1,172 7.61
D. Other Production

1. Salt 40 0.05 43 0.05 49 0.05
2. Others 357 0.44 108 0.13 48 0.05
3. Agriculture related 1675 2.06 1,091 1.29 1,397 137
Total D. 2,072 2.55 1,242 147 1,494 1.46
Total (A+B+C+D) 81,323 v 100.00 84,539 . 100.00 102,140 Y 100.00

Footnotes : " Excluded loans for postponement of sale of produce worth THB 5.090 billion

¥ Excluded loans not related to agriculture worth THB 9.075 billion
¥ Excluded loans not related to agriculture worth THB 13325 billion

169



170

ammamuaua%muﬂmu AR WW?MLG%ﬂ@W%LﬂW?ﬂi

(5]'1’5‘1@‘" 8

‘Z v [V ) ¢ [ v v [} é’ v a 913 o
ugam anwol anyazanm lase 30 gannenie (osas) AT ¢ aluenwm
9ANABALLY o 3 A4 ewlAvedrdams
v 1 1 Y
Ao AAA anfniilsziAmsssnila MLR 700 lalifiu 15 @ dene
ﬂmmunnﬂammmwuﬂ
"I,uwumwﬁ “fndaru 3 1
tideundanntfaat
gnAFuANN AA anﬂmuﬂiummmmu"lﬂ MLR+1 8.00
ﬂinmunnmmmumwuﬂ
"luwummi Andofu 2 1
unﬂauﬂamﬂﬂﬂmu
v
anfduA A anﬂmuﬂiwmmi%ﬁ“ﬂu“lﬂ MLR+2 9.00
ﬂiumunﬂﬂmmumwuﬂ
"I,uwummi °lu‘1J1memum
v 1
ity B anﬂmuwuﬂnﬂiautﬂuwuﬂn MLR+3 10.00
Sasiseiniis luthiey
wmummatﬂuaﬂmwﬁmﬂﬁm
e mﬂutﬂuaﬂﬂﬂwmmnﬂ
WN]ULW@ L nimmnyﬂinﬂu mﬁﬂwmu"lﬂmumwumm umﬂau llﬂ'JﬁWﬂ‘L!W‘Ll GO LiflﬂﬂﬂﬂL‘UfJLh‘lﬂﬂi'l VNN ) o
1.1 ﬂiﬂﬁﬂi Vlllulﬂ Lu@ﬂmﬂﬂiu UﬂUﬁiimﬂ@]?ﬁﬂﬂUW‘UﬂﬂiﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂNﬂuﬂUNﬂU (SNITNPE] vlllLiiJﬂﬂﬂﬂLUfJL‘WN (liﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂ ﬂﬂﬂmflﬂﬂ‘lﬂmﬂm) e oo °uj"uﬁﬁﬁmms
mwuﬂwummw‘lwu ﬁmﬂﬁwmﬂ%ﬂwaﬂwmu
12 ﬂiﬂlslﬂi“ulunlﬂ Lllf]ﬂmﬂﬂi” nﬂUﬁﬁimmﬁiaﬂﬂwmmanUﬂﬂmuuﬂvlumlm UINY Liﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂmfﬁumﬂuuuﬂ%ﬁ ulﬂlﬂﬂmmﬂuﬂlw&lﬂﬂiﬂﬂﬁ” (ﬂlﬂﬂ
mnaﬂmanmﬂmmuanm lae o umﬂ‘ﬂﬁmmimﬂuﬂiﬂumiﬂﬂ%uﬁl‘ﬂu ﬁmmm%mﬂwaﬂmmn%uLml 1 %u
2. nimmﬂ“ﬂmﬂﬂu mﬁﬂ%ﬁmu"lﬂmumwumm WmeWﬂWﬁﬂu Nmiwauwu hIGEFOM Liﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂmﬂ‘umﬂuuuw]ﬂi 1Nllﬂﬂmﬂ'mumwuﬂﬂiﬂﬂau 3 ﬂﬂﬂ
mnammanl,mmu‘]suanm uas o uuuﬂﬂﬁmmimﬂuﬂ%nmﬁﬂﬂ‘uuaﬂﬂﬂwu IR ﬂﬂ‘uuimﬂunﬂm%u B
3. aﬂmanmﬂ MLR “lmm 1130, - 31 .. 46 uhdudesas 7.50 waz 1 9. 46 - 31 iL.a. 47 uhiuSesas 7.00



Table 8

Interest Rate Structure for Loans to Farmers

Classification
of clients

Symbol

Record of
loan repayment

Interest rate

structure

Interest rate (%)
at 31 March 2004

Amount
approved by president

Prime

Very Good

Good

General

AAA

AA

A retrospective record of loan
payments in full and in time
with no overdue loan for the
consecutive 3 years

A retrospective record of loan
payments in full and in time
with no overdue loan for the
consecutive 2 years

A record of loan payments

in full and in time with no
overdue debt in the previous
fiscal year

A record of transferring a normal
to an overdue loan or having an
overdue loan in the previous
fiscal year or a new client
registered during the fiscal year

MLR

MLR+1

MLR+2

MLR+3

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

Not exceeding THB
15 million per borrower

Footnes : 1. In case a farmer can not make loan payment on the due date with a reasonable cause and the payment deadline is postponed, the bank’s interest rate shall

be as follows :

L1 In case of severe calamity or catastrophe, no interest shall be added (interest rate of the client’s classification shall be applied), and at the end of the
day specified by the bank to make a new classification, the farmer will stay in his/her original class.
12 In case of non - severe natural calamity or catastrophe, the interest shall be added by another one percentage point for loan principals unpaid on due
date to the interest rate of the client classification, and at the end of the day specified by the bank to make a new classification, the farmer will drop

by one class.

2. In case a farmer cannot make loan payment on the due date without a reasonable cause for postponement, another three percentage points shall be added
to the interest charged by the bank for loan principals unpaid on the due date and at the end of the day specified by the bank to make a new

classification, the farmer will be in B class.
3. During 1 April - 31 July 2003 and 1 August 2003 - 31 March 2004, the MLR interest rates were 7.50 and 7.00 percent respectively.
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Table 9

Interest Rate Structure for Loans to Farmer Institutions

Level Farmer Interest rate Interest rate (%) Amount
Institution structure at 31 March 2004 approved by president

Level 1 Class 1 debtor MLR-1-1 5.00 THB 1 - 15 million
according to type of

Level 2 Class 2 debtor MLR - 1-0.50 5.50 loan and/or 4 - 12 times
amount of own capital

Level 3 Class 3 debtor MLR - 1 6.00 according to type of loan

Level 4 New borrower MLR - 0.50 6.50

Level 5 Farmer institution MLR 7.00

with unusual cause

Footnotes : 1.

In cases where a farmer institution has an overdue loan with a reasonable cause by which the payment deadline should be postponed, the interest rate

shall be MLR + 1

shall be MLR + 3

. In cases where a farmer institution has an overdue loan without a reasonable cause by which the payment deadline should be postponed, the interest rate

. During 1 April - 31 July 2003 and 1 August 2003 - 31 March 2004, the MLR interest rates were 7.50 and 7.00 percent respectively.
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Table 10

Credit Services for Government Secured Loan Projects

Performance from start up to 31 March 2003

Beginning ~ Loan amount No. of farmers Principal Loan  Accumulated Loan  Accumulated Principal
Project year of farget  enrolled in  outstanding  dishursements loan repayment loan  outstanding
operation project brought during  disbursements during  repayment
forward the year the year

(THB million) (THB million) ~ (THB million) (THB million) ~ (THB million) (THB million) (THB million)

1. Agricultural Rehabilitation Plan, year 1992/1993 1992 394830 107,526 138781 3,684.96 132 2368.66 131629
2. Agricultural Rehabilitation Plan, year 1994 1994 1,600.00 42,645 446.80 001 1,346.70 4586 945.75 400.95
3. Agricultural Rehabilitation Plan, year 1995 1995 2,498.00 153 03397 166531 79.68 111102 55429
4. Agricultural Rehabilitation Plan, year 1996 19% 1,080.34 25,144 249.12 65646 4169 449.03 20743
5. Agricultural Restructuring Plan, year 1994 1994 525100 12404 203236 0.3 3,505.04 195.15 1,667.70 1.837.34
6. Agricultural Restructuring Plan, year 1995 1995 127301 53859 296248 014 422549 255.66 15184 2,706.96
7. Agricultural Restructuring Plan, year 1996 199% 292436 21,760 1,566.51 0.98 202697 132.59 592,07 143490
8. Agricultural Restructuring Plan, year 1997 1997 18638 837 11717 (.16 18721 1086 §0.74 10647
9. Substitution of Beef Cow Production for 1993 36.00 400 29.88 RAN/} 0.95 631 1893

Cassava Pilot Project
10, Substitution of Perennial Tree Production for 1993 1500 135 290 450 0.20 180 270
Cassava Pilot Project

1. Chao Phraya Basin Agricultural Restructuring Project 1993 2900 S 942 JAN:S 107 1693 8.35
12, Field Level Water Source Development Project 1987-2001 2027 1,805 031 8.59 0.07 8.35 0.24
13 Loans for Postponement of Sale of Produce Project 1987 - 2001 XXX 2,703,715 10.275.76 23029.03  148979.84 2072512 14220007 6,1719.77
14 Paddy Threshing and Harvesting Machine Project 1998 400.00 4 3N 46.98 295 4671 027
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Table 10 (Cont.)

Credit Services for Government Secured Loan Projects

Performance from start up to 31 March 2003

Beginning ~ Loan amount No. of farmers Principal Loan  Accumulated Loan  Accumulated Principal
Project year of farget  enrolled in  outstanding  dishursements loan repayment loan  outstanding
operation project brought during  disbursements during  repayment
forward the year the year
(THB million) (THB million) ~ (THB million) (THB million) ~ (THB million) (THB million) (THB million)
15, Revolving Fund for Government 1998 600.00 8933 846.70 21035 1,566.19 209.34 658.48 90771
Teacher’s Problem Solving Project
16, Farmer Persuasion for Cassava Root 2000 3,276.00 10,748 65.04 - 467.67 589 408.52 59.15
Production Slowdown Project
17 Informal Loan Problem Solving Project 1994 1,62000 8,084 63933 - 1,333.95 7580 71042 563.53
under BAAC's Regulation No.16 and
Government’s Policy Phase 1
18, Informal Loan Problem under BAAC's 1994 1,000.00 U3 218 - 31.65 128 1075 2090
Regulation No.16 and Government’s Policy Phase 2
19, Informal Loan Problem Solving Project 1985 XXX 863 1512 ° 2703 33 15.14 1189
of the office of Prime Minister, year 1985
20. Informal Loan Problem Solving Project 19% XXX 883 3991 : 94.69 417 58.95 3574
of the Office of the Prime Minister, year 1990
2. Informal Loan Problem Solving Project 1993 XXX 14121 125271 69.49 174811 109.18 535.09 121302
of the office of the Prime Minister, year 1993
22. Revolving Fund for Lending to Farmers 2003 XXX 80 = 1071 1071 0.03 0.03 1068
and Poor People Project, year 2003
23. Fertilizer Providing Assistance for Farmer Project 1992-8 XXX XXX 128 = 313169 0.52 3,12993 176
24, Land Fund Project 2001 XXX 33 1368.11 396 147835 36 109.90 136845
25, Farmers Facing Flowering Sweet Bamboo Problem 1995 XXX 1802 9.08 : 2 113 0841 7195
Total X 375766 3,102,066.00 19817 2338500 176,268.62 19736 156,779.31 19,385.67

Note : Performance Excluded Farmer Institutions
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Table 11

Loans (all categories) to Farmers in Arrears Classified According
to Duration as at the End of the Fiscal Year 2001 - 2003

Number of Amount in Rate of Amount in Rate of Amount in Rate of change
years in arrears change arrears change arrears FY 2001 -
arrears as of 31 FY 2001 - as of 31 FY 2002 - as of 31 FY 2003
March 2001 FY 2002 March 2002 FY 2003 March 2003  (annual compound
(THB million) (%) (THB million) (%) (THB million) average) %
1 8,785 8,366 6,526
-52.59 -54.32
2 3014 4,165 3,822
-38.78 -43.10
3 2,194 1,845 2,370 -48.60
-35.78 -37.99
4 2,167 1,409 1,144 -38.39
-30.78 -3542
5 1419 1,500 910 -35.60
-27.06 -33.53
6 530 1,035 997 3217
-26.98 -31.88
7 230 387 705 -29.51
2478 -31.01
8 97 173 267 -29.02
-29.90 -30.06
9 47 68 121 2147
2774
10 and over 44 2418 69 99 2743
Total 18,527 * 2.64 19,017 * -10.81 16,961 * -4.32
Arrears outstanding
from FY 2001 18,527 -42.51 10,651 -3791 6,613 -40.26
Arrears outstanding
from FY 2002 - - 19,017 -45.12 10,435

Footnotes * Excluded loans out standing of farmers in Debt Suspension and Debt Burden Reduction for Small - Scale Farmers Project amounted to THB 13.392 billion,
THB 12.960 billion and THB 11.857 billion in Fiscal Year 2001, 2002 and 2003 respectively.
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Table 12

BAAC Operating Fund Classified by Source as at the end
of Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

Unit: THB million

Source 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 Average
growth
Amount % Amount %  Amount %  Amount %  Amount % rate %
1. Deposits 180,563  65.26 214,742 0951 262423  76.63 283,685 79.85 321520  83.04 15.52
2. Borrowings 41,783 1510 41,183 1333 35828 1046 27997 788 17870 4,61 -19.13
3. Bank of Thailand 1,000 0.36 - - - - - - - - -100.00
4, BAAC bonds 17,500 633 12,000 3.89 4,000 L18 - - - - -100.00
5. Other liabilities 15279 552 18,537 0.00 15145 442 15910 448 15168 3.92 0.18
6. Shareholders equity 20555 743 22468 727 25,024 731 27691 779 32,644 8.43 12.26
Total 276,680  100.00 308,930  100.00 342,420  100.00 355,283  100.00 387,202  100.00 8.77
Table 13

BAAC Shareholders Equity as at the End
of Fiscal Years 1999 - 2003

Unit: THB million

Item 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 Average
growth
Amount % Amount %  Amount % Amount % Amount % rate %
1. Paid up share capital
1.1 Ordinary shares 2,761 11073 25436 11321 25,692 10267 26,006 9391 28407 87.02 5.70
- held by the Ministry 22,733 11060 25403 11306 25,657 10253 25965 93.77 28355 86.86 5.68
of Finance

- held by cooperatives and 28 (.13 33 0.15 35 014 4 014 52016 16.87
private shareholders

1.2 Preferred shares 7 003 8 0.03 § 003 8§ 003 4 001 -12.56
- held by BAAC employees 7 0.03 8 0.03 8§ 003 8§ 003 4 001 -12.56
and others
2. Retained eamings” 3,635 1768 4,000 1780 4299 1718 4,650 1679 6,236 1910 1445
3. Surplusy 1,070 521 1,035 461 1,033 413 1032 373 - -100.00
4. Deferred exhange 6918 -33.65 8011 -35.65 6,008 2401 -4005 -1446 -2,003 -6.13 -26.65
rate gain (loss)
Total 20,555 10000 22,468 10000 25,024 10000 27,691 10000 32,644  100.00 12.26

Footnotes : " In 2003 Includes annual net profit, reserves, THB 980 million surplus from EU grants and Belgian government and THB 34 million of increased capital
from the Ministry of Finance
“Tn 2003, THB 980 million surplus from EU grants and Belgian government and THB 34 million of increased capital from the Ministry of Finance
was transferred to accumulated profit accounts and THB 17 million surplus from donation was transferred to the account to be acknowledged to in
accordance with international standard of auditing
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Table 14

Consolidated Revenues, Expenses, and Net Profit as a Percentage
of the Average of Total Loans Outstanding,
Fiscal Year 1999 - 2003

Topic Fiscal year ~ Fiscal year  Fiscal year ~ Fiscal year  Fiscal year
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

1. Average of loans outstanding 220.01 24140 264.47 287.27" 309.20 "

2. Interest earned on loans to 1. above (%) 9.67 749 6.03 6.607 488 7
3. Other income earnings to 1. Above (%) 1.25 122 1.38 122 1.34
Total (2 + 3) 1091 871 741 782 1.34
4. Cost of Funds to 1. Above (%) 548 422 3.08 223 178
5. Operating cost to 1. above (%) 531 421 4.12 5.36 4.13
Total ( 4+5) 10.79 849 720 159 591
6. Net Profit (loss) to 1. above (%) 0.13 0.22 021 0.23 0.31

Footnotes : ' include other loans (discounted bills, housing fund accounts and Islamic accounts : sales on credit, installment and hire purchase)

Y, ]
includes income from other loans
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BAAC EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

President

Mr. Pittayapol Nattaradol

Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Ennoo Suesuwan

Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Banlu Charukitsopha

Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Amphon Dulamnuay

Senior Executive Vice President

Mrs. Sasithorn Sudjid

Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Thiraphong Tangthirasunan

Executive Vice President

Mr. Pairoj Chanthai

Executive Vice President

Mr. Luck Wajananawat

Inspector Chief, Executive 12,

Mr. Udom Marphaisalsap

Inspector Chief, Executive 12,

Mr. Bunchoo Wiriyangkul

Inspector Chief, Executive 12,

Mr. Sirichai Woungsukkasem

Inspector Chief, Executive 12,

Mr. Adul Kanchanawat

Instructor 12, Chamnien Saranaga Institute of Agricultural and

Rural Development Support Group

Mrs. Pimpaka Withurat

POLICY AND PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Bunchuay Jiadamrongchai

Vice President

Mr. Prayong Tenbee

Director of Programme and Budget Division

Mr. Somsak Kangthirawat

Director of Technical Service Division

Mr. Nipath Kuasakul

Director of Monitoring and Evaluation Division

Mr. Wittaya Jiaraphan

Director of Public Relations Division

Mr. Surat Chunnapat

Director of Secretariat Division

Mr. Sookson Susansanee

AUDIT AND INSPECTION DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Sommanus Suwanmana

Vice President

Mrs. Nittaya Inkaew

Audit and Inspection Division 1

Mr. Nopadol Srisun

Audit and Inspection Division 2

Mr. Withaya Jenchotesuwan

Audit and Inspection Division 3

Miss Sommanas Sattayawichakul

Audit and Inspection Division 4

Mr. Pairoj Suppatranon

Director of Information Technology Audit Division

Mrs. Waranee Silanuwat

Director of System Evaluation and Audit Planning Division

Mr. Arnut Aramkul
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GENERAL ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Prakob Wohansunthon

Vice President

Mrs. Poonsook Musiklad

Vice President

Mr. Pairoj Sangkhasap

Director of General Affairs Division

Mr. Preecha Suisuwan

Director of General Services Division

Mr. Chongyos Thapsart

Director of Premises Management Division

Mr. Saneh Chaokiat

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Jaturong Thongyisoon

Vice President

Mr. Somchai Aumphan

Director of Human Resource Planning Division

Mr. Banjong Chaleiwkriengkrai

Director of Welfare and Labour Relations Division

Mr., Suwit Triratsirikul

Director of Personnel Division

Mr. Kongka Hualpraphai

LEARNING PROMOTION DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Supachai Sathakarn

Vice President

Mr. Artorn Petcharatana

Instructor 12, Learning Support Group

Mrs. Kwanjai Sisang

Instructor 12, Learning Support Group

Mr. Chaiyuth Chalothon

Instructor 12, Learning Support Group

Mr. Pramote Techatawach

Instructor 12, Learning Support Group

Mrs. Wantana Korwattanaskul

Director of Learning Promotion for Business Objectives Division

Mr. Ayut Kumhan

Director of Learning Promotion For Career Path Division

Mrs. Apinya Poonyarit

187



whainAlulaé s uinf

dennemsthewnalulag 13 wna

Y v A
gyylng unvua

Y o ! )
seangnnemsthemalulad 15 wine

A Adamuv o ¢
W . U5zl 3§ Adeiug

Y o ! )
seagnnemsthemalulag 15 e

W, WY adredtu

Q’Lﬂ'f;ﬂmty 12 Agu vy yuauwianssuszuY URCRTEOIGE
Annemsnaaszuuaeaiiges weidy wgadianndy
AnnemsneaiannszuILARNIAGS weviyle fisausila
AEeMINes 13 win wedumn To o
finnomsnouasoty e 13 ny i Aianiv
Aimnemsnediansiinazianmszuuay e swed Haniug

WAENMISsSUIAS

Henemsthemssnms

nadnis lanlsz ng

seafgnemsthemssnms

naua dalseilsal

Annemsnesmssnms eIty sAnainan
AEnnemsanesganssumsiiy 1 0y 159
A1nemsnes L Suiiueex IIRY RO
dennems niaunemusnmd am e swad faud (Gaeams)

WAsIUSHISNISIDU

dennemstheuimsmaiiu

nglyoms winasa

soafsnnemstheimsnsiy

wnggay Tsow na

°

818N INDTININIIY

NEUERTINIED

Y
i
v
Ag1nemIneaimsiiuny

W ondim unsiout




INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Boonthai Kaewkhuntee

Vice President

Miss Prasertsree Sirichapann

Vice President

Miss Nongyaow Vanichapinant

Specialist 12, System Innovation Support Group

Mr. Vinai Hiransi

Director of Computer System Division

Mr. Wichai Pluckwattanachai

Director of Application Software Division

Mrs. Kwanjai Sriratanawilai

Director of Information System Division

Mrs. Chantana Osot

Director of Network Division

Mr. Sangad Siripimolwatin

Director of System Analysis and Development Division

Mr. Surapong Nillaphan

BANKING DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mrs. Jirapan Traiprasit

Vice President

Mrs. Jintana Isarapratiprat

Director of Banking Division

Mr. Ouychai Akaravanitlert

Director of Cash Operation Division

Mrs. Sanguan Roongroj

Director of Savings Promotion Division

Mr. Pisit Rattanachatchai

Director of Office of Islamic Bank Fund

Mr. Surapong Sirilim (Acting)

TREASURY DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Chaiyaporn Wangcharoenrung

Vice President

Mr. Udom Rojanaskul

Director of Financial Business Division

Mrs. Sumalee Boondarig

Director of Fund Management Division

Miss Anita Sunthonkhan
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ACCOUNTING DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mrs. Sringam Natao

Vice President

Mr. Panya Prakongwong

Director of Finance Accounting Division

Mrs. Kalya Atawin

Director of Management Accounting Division

Mr. Udom Singkhom

Director of Special and Asset Accounting Division

Mr. Surapong Jitphasertporn

LOAN QUALITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Wiboon Khamphan

Vice President

Mr. Kamolpant Asaves

Vice President

Mr. Sumon Wudthiphan

Director of Debt Moratorium Project Management Office

Mr. Chukiat Paoin

Director of Legal Affairs Division

Mrs. Popporn Pangarad

Director of Loan Quality Development Division

Mr. Nukul Pharachat

GOVERNMENT SECURED LOAN DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Pracha Promchai

Vice President

Mr. Chalerm Prajumtan

Director of Government Secured Loan Division

Mr. Prakit Chawengnirun

Director of Office of Land Fund

Mrs. Supaporn Thapanasiri

Director of Office of National Agricultural Credit Administration Board

Mrs. Apiradee Yimlamai

LOAN DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Sompian Sripanya

Vice President

Mr. Arun Lertwilai

Executive 12, Social Support Project

Mrs. Tida Kairusmee

Executive 12

Mr. Chavalit Lorsup

Director of Loan Division 1

Mr. Chamnan Sirikulthorn

Director of Loan Division 2

Mr. Paiboon Thourob

Director of Loan Division 3

Mr. Piya Santi

Director of Loan Division 4

Mr. Pramot Prasittipayong
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MARKETING PROMOTION DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Miss Jinda Karrnkeerati

Vice President

Mr. Sakul Eiesomchid

Vice President

Mr. Vinai Kruetreepradit

Specialist 12

Mr. Jarintorn Savetayaram

Specialist 12

Mrs. Chitprapai Mesuey

Executive 12

Mr. Choketawee Apipattaragul

Director of Farmer Institution Promotion Division

Mr. Athasit Surakul

Director of Marketing Support Division

Mr. Wanchai Siriwatanatrakul

BRANCH ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT

Senior Vice President

Mr. Prasert Inkaeo

Vice President

Mr. Uthai Umin

Vice President

Mr. Pramote Nontakote

Vice President

Mr. Sangob Jumnongjinarak

Vice President

Mr. Isorn Ekpisalkit

Executive 12

Mr. Prapaet Sodtipintha

Director of Branch Administration Division 1

Mr. Thanabodee Phookajorn

Director of Branch Administration Division 2

Mr. Songserm Saksit

Director of Branch Administration Division 3

Mrs. Angsana Unothai

Director of Branch Administration Division 4

Mr. Ponthep Thanmatit

Director of Branch General Administration Division

Mr. Chatchai Kongpun
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Kamphaeng Phet Provincial Office
21 Thanon Ratchadamnoen,

Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Kamphaeng Phet (62000)

Tel. 05571 2755, 0 5572 0313

Director : Mr. Winai Phoungpuppha

Chiang Rai Provincial Office
153 Thanon Thanalai,

Tambon Wiang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chiang Rai (57000)

Tel. 0 5374 4347

Director : Mr. Chamlong Musikatham

Chiang Mai Provincial Office
171-173 Thanon Phra Pok Klao,
Tambol Si Phum, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chiang Mai (50200)
Tel. 0 5341 6990, 0 5341 6998,
05321 2630

Director : Mr. Aphirom Sukprasert

Tak Provincial Office

5 Thanon Phaholyothin,

Tambon Nong Loung, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Tak (63000)

Tel. 0 5554 1162-3

Director : Mr. Adisak Chongkuatrakul

Nakhon Sawan Provincial Office
258/6 Thanon Sawan Withi,

Tambon Pak Nam Pho,

Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Nakhon Sawan (60000)

Tel. 0 5622 8218, 0 5631 3248-9
Director : Mr. Siri Theeranaew

Nan Provincial Office

51 Thanon Pha Kong,

Tambon Nai Wiang, Amphoe Muang
Changwat Nan (55000)

Tel. 05475 1599, 0 1882 2011
Director : Mr. Chaiyasit Tantanarat

Phayao Provincial Office
687/6-9 Thanon Phaholyothin,
Tambon Wiang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phayao (56000)

Tel. 0 5448 3943, 0 5448 2282
Director : Mr. Prasong Ontrakul

Phichit Provincial Office

1/30 Thanon Si Mala,

Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phichit (66000)

Tel. 0 5665 0941, 0 1881 4514
Director Mr. Pongtep Ratanatadakul

Phitsanulok Provincial Office
2/6 Thanon Prasong Prasat,

Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phitsanulok (65000)

Tel. 0 5521 9793, 0 1886 9925
Director : Mr. Lek Uttaraphong

10. Phetchabun Provincial Office
87 Thanon Samakkichai,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muan.g,
Changwat Phetchabun (67000)
Tel. 0 5671 1801, 0 5674 4046-7
Director : Mr. Supol Poonpipat

11. Phare Provincial Office
31/6 Thanon Yantarakit Kosol,
Tambon Nai Wiang, Amphoe Muang,
22 Second Storey, Thanon Tebsiri,
Changwat Phrae (54000)
Tel. 0 5462 6798, 0 5462 6799
Director : Mr. Channorong Pongthanyadilok

12, Lampang Provincial Office
359/9 Thanon Chatchai,
Tambon Suan Dok, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Lampang (52100)
Tel. 0 5421 8255,0 5422 8350, 0 5432 3337
Director : Mr. Somyos Thayati

13. Lamphun Provincial Office
19 Moh 1 Thanon Wang Khwa,
Tambon Nai Muang,

Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Lamphun (51000)
Tel. 0 5351 1530, 0 5353 0587
Director : Mr. Manop Chaiyathip

14, Sukhothai Provincial Office
96/5 Thanon Singhawat,
Tambon Thani, Amphoe Muang
Changwat Sukhothai (64000)
Tel. 0 5561 0901
Director : Mr. Sawang Ritirong

13. Uttaradit Provincial Office
22 Second Floor, Thanon Barom At,
Tambon Tha It, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Uttaradit (53000)
Tel. 0 5544 0268, 0 5544 0853
Director : Mr. Wichit Phaobngern

16. Uthai Thani Provincial Office
9 Second Floor, Thano Tebsiri
Tambon Uthai Mai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Uthai Thani (61000)

Tel. 0 5651 2089, 0 5652 4565
Director : Mr. Thammanoon Tetkham

17.Mae Hong Son Provincial Office
106/15 Thanon Khunlumprapas
Tambon Jongkham, Amphoe Muang
Changwat Mae Hong Son (58000)
Tel. 0 5362 0331
Director : Mr. Witoon Watchapan
(Acting Director)
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18. Kalasin Provincial Office
45 Thanon Thetsaban 23,
Tambon Kalasin, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Kalasin (46000)
Tel. 0 4381 5198, 0 4381 5307,
0 4381 5098
Director : Mr. Santi Shinalai

19. Khon Kaen Provincial Office
99 Second Floor, Thanon Ruen Rom,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Khon Kaen (40000)

Tel. 04332 1836-7
Director : Mr. Somchai Saengsawang

20. Chaiyaphum Provincial Offices
49/1 Thanon Bannakan,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chaiyaphum (36000)
Tel. 0 4483 5431, 0 4483 6923, 0 1978 3139
Director : Mr. Supat Iewchay

21. Nakhon Phanom Provincial Office
152 Thanon Nittayo,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nakon Phanom (48000)
Tel. 04251 1182
Director : Mr. Dej Bunchoo

22, Nakhon Ratchasima Provincial Office
35 Thanon Manat,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nakhon Ratchasima (30000)
Tel. 0 4434 1536-7, 0 4425 5332
(04426 7987
Director : Mr. Chansak Concrete

23.Buri Ram Provincial Office
17/14 Second Floor,Thanon Thani,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Buri Ram (31000)
Tel. 0 4461 1580, 0 4461 5060
Director : Mr. Somchai Sathonsaowapak

24.Maha Sarakham Provincial Office
608 Second Floor,
Thanon Nakhon Sawan
Tambon Talat, Amphoe Maung
Changwat Maha Sarakham (44000)
Tel. 0 4372 5720, 0 4372 5886
Director Mr. Prayot Hmuhmunlee

25. Mukdahan Provincial Office
57 Thanon Chayangkun,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Mukdahan (49000)
Tel. 04263 1633, 0 4263 3380
Director : Mr. Wirot Thongohn

26. Yasothon Provincial Office
393 Thanon Cheng Sanit,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Yasothon (35000)
Tel. 04571 2984, 0 4571 2086
Director : Mr. Pakorn Ieamtrakul
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27.Roi Et Provincial Office
187 Second Floor,
Thanon Thewaphiban,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Roi Et (45000)
Tel. 04352 0421
Director : Mr. Nikom Preechamras

28.Loei Provincial Office
13 Thanon Chumsai,
Tambon Kut Pong, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Loei (42000)
Tel. 0 4283 0375, 0 4283 0292
Director : Mr. Prathak Lertlam

29.Si Sa Ket Provincial Office
173 Thanon Thepa,
Tambon Muang Nua, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Si Sa Ket (33000)
Tel. 04562 2301, 0 4561 2479
Director : Mr. Tarnis Sutasuwan

30. Sakon Nakhon Provincial Office
1755/3 Thanon Rat Phattana,
Tambon Thatchoengchum,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Sakon Nakhon (47000)
Tel. 0 4273 2368, 0 1661 4851
Director : Mr. Yingyot Siriwongpanit
(Acting Dierector)

31 Surin Provincial Office
38 Thanon Thetsaban,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Surin (32000)
Tel. 0 4453 8591
Director : Mr. Pornchai Limprapas

32.Nong Khai Provincial Office
1191/1 Thanon Chen Chop Thit,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nong Khai (43000)
Tel. 0 4246 5580, 0 4246 5336
Director : Mrs.Siripen Kosarak

33.Nong Bua Lam Phu Provincial Office
196 Moh 10 Thanon Udon-Loei,
Tambon Lam Phu,
Amphoe Nong Bua Lam Phu,
Changwat Nong Bua Lam Phu (39000)
Tel. 04231 2024 - 5
Director : Mr. Chobtham Poemchatturat

34, Amnat Charoen Provincial Office
888 Thanon Chayangkul,
Tambon Bung, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Amnat Charoen (37000)
Tel. 04551 1479, 0 4551 1879
Director : Mr. Prakit Menakhet

35.Udon Thani Provincial Office
92/1 Thanon Udon Dutsdi,
Tambon Mak Khaeng, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Udon Thani (41000)
Tel. 0 4234 3656-7
Director : Mr. Morakot Pittarat

36. Ubol Ratchathani Provincial Office
420 Thanon Chayangkun,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Ubol Ratchathani (34000)
Tel. 04528 0151, 0 4531 3361
Director : Mr. Suthep Chaluaisri

CENTRAL AND EASTERN REGIONS

37.Bangkok Metropolis Provincial Office
109 Thanon Kamphaeng Phet,
Kwaeng Lat Yao, Khet Jatujak,
Bangkok (10900)
Tel. 02271 1320
Director : Mr. Sivawong Dontricharoen

38. Chanthaburi Provincial Office
8 Thanon Saritdet,
Tambon Wat Mai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chanthaburi (22000)
Tel. 03932 5778, 0 3932 7092,
03932 7090
Director : Mr. Pradit Kanchanasing

39. Chachoengsao Provincial Office
128 Second Floor, Credit in Kind
Building, Thanon Maruphong,
Tambon Na Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chachoengsao (24000)

Tel. 0 3851 4770, 0 3881 7817
Director : Mr. Kasem Extaweewatanadej

40. Chon Buri Provincial Office
695/2 Second Floor, Thanon Sukprayun
Tambon Makham Yong,

Amphoe Muang

Changwat Chon Buri (20000)

Tel. (038) 780784

Director : Miss Watchara Sirijirakan

41. Chai Nat Provincial Office
58/8 Thanon Wong To,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chai Nat (17000)
Tel. 0 5642 1328, 0 5641 2610
Director : Mr. Rakvej Prommachan

42. Trat Provincial Office
13/1 Second Floor, Thanon Sisuwanpis,
Tambon Wangkrajae,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Trat (23000)
Tel. 0 3953 2466, 0 3933 1390
Director : Mr. Noppadol Kulamart

43.Nakhon Nayok Provincial Office
181 Second Floor, Moh 7,
Thanon Suwannason,
Tambon Ban Yai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nakhon Nayok (26000)
Tel. 03732 0112
Director : Mr. Banjong Kachonchaiyakul

44. Nonthaburi Provincial Office
11/71-76 Second Floor,
Thanon Pibulsongkram,
Tambon Suanyai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nonthaburi (11000)
Tel. 02526 3117, 0 2967 4776
Director : Mr. Sawet Dulyapat

45, Phathum Thani Provincial Office
62/4 Thanon Pattana Samphan,
Tambon Bang Prok, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phathum Thani (12000)
Tel. 02581 1449, 0 1816 1607
Director : Mr. Wongsak Angkunsuttiphan

46. Prachin Buri Provincial Office
314, Second Floor, Thanon Ratdamri,
Tambon Na Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Prachin Buri (25000)

Tel. 03721 3757
Director : Mr. Kittisak Tepakorn

47.Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya
Provincial Office
18/21 Thanon Naresuan,
Tambon Ho Ratanachai,
Changwat Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya
(13000) Tel. 0 3525 2243, 0 3525 2248,
03523 2758 - 60, 0 3525 2742
Director : Mr. Vinai Haesakul

48.Rayong Provincial Office
6/51 Tambon Tha Pradu,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Rayong (21000)
Tel. 03886 1881, 0 1945 3197
Director : Mr. Narong Sombatcharoennon

49. Lop Buri Provincial Office
9/1 Thanon Ratchadamnoen
Tambon Thahin, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Lop Buri (15000)

Tel. 03661 8571-2
Director : Mr. Arnatpong Sakcharoen

50. Samutprakan Provincial Office
458/29 Thanon Sukhumvit,
Tambon Paknam,
Amphoe Muang Samutprakan,
Changwat Samutprakan (12080)
Tel. 02389 3752, 0 2389 5851
Director : Mr. Pienlert Wongpiromsarn

51.Sa Kaeo Provincial Office
275 Moh 15 Thanon Suwannason,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Sa Kaeo (27000)
Tel. 0 3724 2673-4
Director : Mr. Metee Patanasarin

52.Saraburi Provincial Office
73 Thanon Phaholyothin,
Tambon Pak Phrieo, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Saraburi (18000)
Tel. 0 3622 0186, 0 3622 1176
Director : Mr. Chaiya Thongshat
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53.Sing Buri Provincial Office
48 Moh 6 Thanon Sing Buri - Bang
Rachan, Tambon Ton Pho,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Sing Buri (16000)
Tel. 03651 1410, 0 3651 2559
Director : Mr. Chaiwat Pokpong

54. Ang Thong Provincial Office
Amphoe Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya,
119 Thanon Thetsaban 10,

Tambon Talat Luang,

Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Ang Thong (14000)
Tel. 03562 6303, 0 3561 1699
Director : Mr. Muratat lemsaard

WESTERN AND SOUTHERN REGIONS

55.Krabi Provincial Office
520 Thanon Uttarakit,
Tambon Krabi Yai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Krabi (81000)
Tel. 07563 1210
Director : Mr. Kasem Manaso

56. Kanchanaburi Provincial Office
391 Tanon Saengchutotai,
Tambon Pak Prake, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Kanchanaburi (71000)
Tel. 0 3462 3588-9, 0 3462 3254
Director : Mr. Khanti Othong

57. Chumphon Provincial Office
175 Thanon Saladaeng,
Tambon Thatapao, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Chumphon (86000)
Tel. 0 7750 3033
Director : Mr. Jarung Kukiatkul

58. Trang Provincial Office
39/15 Thanon Ratsada,
Tambon Thap Thiang,
Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Trang (92000)
Tel. 07522 5232, 0 7522 4535
Director : Mr. Penchart Muensi

59. Nakhon Pathom Provincial Office
413 Thanon Thesa,
Tambon Phra Prathon, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nakhon Pathom (73000)
Tel. 03421 1081, 0 3425 4217
Director : Mr. Narong Orrachon

60. Nakhon Si Thammarat
Provincial Office
545 Thanon Ratchadamnoen,
Tambon Nai Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Nakhon Si Thammarat (80000)
Tel. 0 7536 0076, 0 7531 1269
Director : Mr. Sopon Kongchungwat

61, Narathiwat Provincial Office
21, 21/1-2 Thanon Suriyapradit,
Amphoe Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Narathiwat (96000)

Tel. 0 7352 2046, 0 7351 1680
Director : Mr. Ruab Promchua

62. Songkhla Provincial Office
48 Thanon Phetkasem,
Tambon Haad Yai,
Amphoe Haad Yai,
Changwat Songkhla (90110)
Tel. 0 7423 7062,
07423 7283
Director Mr. Sutep Suntornnont

63. Prachuap Khiri Khan
Provincial Office
6 Thanon Salachip,
Tambon Prachuap Khiri Khan,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phrachuap Khiri Khan
(77000)
Tel. 03260 1202, 0 3261 1837,
03261 1075
Director : Mr. Suwat Uyanontarak

64. Pattani Provincial Office
74 Thanon Yarang,
Tambon Anohru, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Pattani (94000)
Tel. 07333 3370, 0 7331 1454
Director : Mr. Jirapat Kitisan

65. Phangnga Provincial Office
312/1 Thanon Phetkasem,
Tambon Thay Chang,

Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Phangnga (82000)
Tel. 0 7641 1873, 0 7644 0627
Director : Mr. Siripong Kahawong

66. Phatthalung Provincial Office
315 Thanon Ramesuen,
Tambon Khuha Sawan,
Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Phatthalung (93000)
Tel. 0 7462 6318-9
Director : Mr. Wisit Akkosuwan

67. Phetchaburi Provincial Office
59 Second Floor, Thanon Ratchawithi
Tambon Khlong Krasaeng,

Changwat Phetchaburi (76000)
Tel. 0 3241 1205, 0 3242 7597
Director : Mr. Bunthai Satwinij

68. Yala Provincial Office
188-090 Thanon Sirorot,
Tambon Sateng, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Yala (95000)
Tel. 07321 1729, 0 7324 4103,
07324 4532
Director : Mr. Pichit Seneeratanaprayoon
(Acting Director)
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69. Ratchaburi Provincial Office
241/21 Thanon Ratsadonyindi,
Tambon Na Muang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Ratchaburi (70000)

Tel. 03231 5352, 0 3231 5351
Director : Mr. Chom Panchan

70. Suphan Buri Provincial Office
258 Third Floor, Thanon Phra Phanwasa,
Tambon Tha Phi Liang, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Suphan Buri (72000)

Tel. 0 3550 0507-8
Director : Mr. Pongsilp Kongmalai

71. Satun Provincial Office
117 Thanon Smantapradit,
Tambon Piman, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Satun (91000)
Tel. 0 7473 2239, 0 7472 3226
Director : Mr. Thanpong Wisuttitham
(Acting Director)

72.Samut Sakhon Provincial Office
929/43 Thanon Ekkachai,
Tambon Mahachai, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Samut Sakhon (74000)
Tel. 0 3482 0942
Director : Mr. Prawit Phengrungruangwong

73.Surat Thani Provincial Office
258 Second Floor, Thanon Talat Mai,
Tambon Talat, Amphoe Muang,
Changwat Surat Thani (84000)
Tel. 0 7728 6519, 0 7722 2440
Director : Mr. Weerapol Kaewmanee
(Acting Director)

74, Ranong Provincial Office
145/64 Moh 4 Tambon Bang Bon,
Amphoe Muang,

Changwat Ranong (85000)

Tel. 0 7782 4641 - 2

Director : Mr. Surapong Suwanmena
(Acting Director)
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